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Definition of Terms

“Assisted Living” means a level of care that combines housing, supportive services,
personalized assistance and healthcare designed to meet the individual’s needs on a daily
basis.

“Confidential Financial Statement” means a financial disclosure by the resident for the
purpose of qualifying for admission to The Village at Brookwood.

“Continuing Care Retirement Community” (CCRC) also known as Life Plan Community
means the provision of residential housing together with nursing services, medical services,
or other health related services, under an agreement effective for the life of the individual.

“Co-Resident Fee” means the additional entrance fee and the additional monthly fee
associated with two persons occupying the same residence.

“Direct Admission to the Health Care” means an agreement between a resident and The
Village at Brookwood to enter Health Care directly for residency. Health related services
are provided at the full per-diem rate and specified amenities are billable services as used.

“Entrance Fee” means a one-time payment at move-in that assures a resident a residence.

“Fee-for-Service contract” means a contract that provides housing, residential services, and
priority access to health-related services in exchange for an entrance fee and a monthly fee.
Health related services are provided at the full per-diem rate and specified amenities are
billable services as used.

“Gated Community” means fully fenced campus with strictly controlled entrances.

“Health Care Center” means the building where Assisted Living and Nursing Care are
provided.

“Life Care Benefit” means the rate paid by a resident who has a “Life Care Contract” while
residing in the Health Care Center. The rate at the time of transfer will apply to Assisted
Living, Assisted Living Memory Care and Skilled Nursing accommodations.

“Life Care Contract” means a contract that provides housing, residential services, and
priority access to health-related services in exchange for an entrance fee and a monthly fee.
Unlimited access to long-term nursing care is available at little to no additional cost (Life
Care Benefit), apart from periodic inflationary increases.

“Life Plan Community” also known as a CCRC means the provision of residential housing

together with nursing services, medical services, or other health related services, under an
agreement effective for the life of the individual.
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“Non-refundable fee” means the portion of the fees paid to The Village at Brookwood that
will not be refunded if the resident terminates the contract.

“Nursing Care” means the Skilled Nursing level of care as defined by the Nursing Home
Rules and Regulations.

“Occupancy” means the time after which the resident pays their entrance fees, begins
paying monthly fees, takes possession of the keys and moves into his/her residence at The

Village at Brookwood.

“Provider” means the corporation, Alamance Extended Care, Inc., d/b/a The Village at
Brookwood.

“Residence” means an Apartment, Garden Home or Assisted Living residence.

“Residence and Services Agreement” means the contract for continuing care between The
Village at Brookwood and the resident.

“Residency” means approval by the Provider to move into the CCRC, based on age, health
and financial qualifications of the prospective resident.

“Resident” means a purchaser of a Life Care or Fee for Service Residence and Services
Agreement and residing on The Village at Brookwood campus.

“Residential Living” means the garden homes and apartment residences.
“Skilled Nursing” means the level of care that requires the oversight of a Registered Nurse.
“The Village” means The Village at Brookwood.

“Wellness Center” means the facility that houses all exercise equipment, aerobics/exercise
room and swimming pool.
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ORGANIZATION

Alamance Extended Care, Inc. d/b/a The Village at Brookwood is a North Carolina not-for-
profit corporation which was founded in 1986. The Village has received a determination letter
from the Internal Revenue Service stating that the corporation is an organization exempt from
federal income tax under Section 501(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the "Code"), as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.

Well Spring Services, Inc., (the "Parent") a North Carolina not-for-profit organization located in
Greensboro, is a not-for-profit corporation chartered by the State of North Carolina in 1986 and
is the sole member of the Village, Well Spring Retirement Community, Inc., Well Spring
Solutions and Well Spring Management & Development. The Parent is not liable for any
activities of the Village.

In July 2022, Well Spring Services became the sole member of the Village through a member
substitution agreement, “the Member Substitution Agreement” with ARMC and The Moses H.
Cone Memorial Hospital (“Cone Health”). The Member Substitution Agreement was entered
into January 26, 2022 and the member substitution was finalized on July 1, 2022.

In July 2020, AEC closed its Edgewood Place Public Skilled Nursing Facility and sold 54 of the
81 bed licenses, keeping the remaining 27 beds licenses. As of the date of this Projection,
Management has not determined the future use of the Edgewood Place Public Skilled Nursing
Facility property nor the remaining 27 nursing bed licenses, and as such, Management has
projected no activity during the Projection Period.

The Board of Directors for Alamance Extended Care, Inc. now includes the pre-substitution
members selected, nominated, and approved by the Board of Trustees of ARMC HealthCare,
Inc., in addition to the Board Members of Well Spring Services. The business and affairs of the
Village are managed by its Board of Directors.
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FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

The Village at Brookwood campus is approximately 47 acres located generally between
Rockwood Avenue to the west, Hermitage Road to the east, Woodland Avenue and Arbor
Drive to the north, and Edgewood Avenue to the south.

Construction of The Village at Brookwood began in November 2001, with occupancy of the
retirement community on July 21, 2003.

The Community consists of 110 apartments in a five-story building; 45 one-story garden
homes; a community center; and a health care center with 48 rooms of licensed Assisted
Living, Memory Care, and Skilled Nursing care. In May 2009, The Village opened a Wellness
Center with exercise rooms, swimming pool, Jacuzzi and locker rooms. The Community was
originally designed to accommodate approximately 340 Residents.

The common areas are the center of activities for The Village and include a formal dining
room, a café, private dining room, a living room and social lounge, an arts and crafts studio, a
paint studio, an auditorium, a library, a bank, a beauty and barber shop, carpentry shop, a
billiards room and a gift shop. Residents have the choice of using the community center
amenities for everyday needs or travelling outside The Village at Brookwood to the greater
Burlington community.

The Health Care Center consists of an outpatient clinic, 24 Assisted Living rooms which are
licensed as Adult Care (Home for the Aged), with 12 of these rooms dedicated to dementia-
memory care, and 24 Skilled Nursing rooms, licensed as Nursing Care.

The Board of Directors and Officers

Jerry Bailey, Director — Mr. Bailey is the Area Manager for Pinnacle Bank. Mr. Bailey
resides at 3122 Brycewood Court, Burlington, NC 27215.

Kathryn Billings, Director and Chairman of the Board - Mrs. Billings is a retired Town
Manager for the City of Jamestown. Her address is 309 Winrow Drive, Jamestown, North
Carolina 27282.

Jeffrey Blaser, Director — Mr. Blaser is a Certified Financial Planner and is the registered
principal at RetireCare Solution/Raymond James. Mr. Blaser’s address is 3065 S. Church
Street, Burlington, NC 27215.

Ken Boggs, Director and Past Chairman of the Board - Mr. Boggs is a retired CFO of

Moses Cone Health. Mr. Boggs resides at 2902 Hamden Drive, Greensboro, North Carolina
27405.
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Anthony Boyd, Director and Chairperson of the Finance Committee - Mr. Boyd is a
Business Development Officer with First Bank located at 101 North Spring Street in
Greensboro. He resides at 3814 Middlebury Way, Greensboro, North Carolina 27410.

Chris Brown, Director - Mr. Brown is V.P. of Cone Health Medical Group located at 300
Wendover Avenue East in Greensboro. He resides at 1810 Carmel Road in Greensboro, North
Carolina 27408

Dan Camia, Director and Chair of the Well-Spring Life Plan Community Residents’
Association - Mr. Camia is a Retired Army Colonel and retired COO of Southern Importers,
Inc. He is a Well*Spring Resident. Mr. Camia resides at 4104 Angelica Lane, Greensboro,
North Carolina 27410.

Barry Canner, Director and TVAB resident — Mr. Canner is a Retired Municipal Planner
and Inn Keeper. Mr. Canner is a Village at Brookwood Resident. Mr. Canner resides at 207
Eastwood Court, Burlington, NC 27215.

Bob Chandler, Director — Mr. Chandler is the Vice President of Chandler Concrete Co., Inc.
Mr. Chandler resides at 3240 Coventry Place, Burlington, NC 27215.

Tim Clontz, Director - Mr. Clontz is Executive Director and CEO of the Community Care
Center. Mr. Clontz resides at 7407 Summer Wind Court in Summerfield, North Carolina
27358.

Sally Cone, Director - Mrs. Cone is a retired attorney. Mrs. Cone resides at 112 Fisher Park
Circle, Greensboro, North Carolina 27401.

Susan Cox, Director - Mrs. Cox is Senior VP of Clinical Services for Hospice of the
Piedmont. Mrs. Cox resides at 3724 Echo Forest Trail in High Point, North Carolina 272655.

Wendy Gatlin, Director - Mrs. Gatlin is a Senior Vice President at US Trust, Bank of America
Private Wealth Management located at 800 Green Valley Road, Suite 502 in Greensboro,
North Carolina. Mrs. Gatlin resides at 2998 Grasmere Drive Greensboro, NC 27410.

Rusty Holt, Director — Mr. Holt is VP and Properties Manager of Holt Property Group LLC.
Mr. Holt resides at 724 Tarleton Avenue, Burlington, NC 27215.

Daryl Ingold, Director — Mr. Ingold is a retired President of Burlington Motors, Inc. Mr.
Ingold’s address is 4115 Argyle Trace, Burlington, NC 27215.

Jennifer Koenig, Director and Chair of Audit & Philanthropy Committees — Mrs. Koenig

is an attorney and Partner with Schell Bray located at 230 N. Elm in Greensboro. Mrs. Koenig
currently resides at 1801 W. Market Street, Greensboro, North Carolina 27403.
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Bonnie McAlister, Director and Well*Spring resident — Mrs. McAlister is a retired
professor and Well Spring resident. Mrs. McAlister resides at 3035 Verbena Lane Greensboro,
North Carolina 27410.

Susan McDonald, Director - Mrs. McDonald is a retired V.P. of Human Resources for VF
Corporation. Mrs. McDonald resides at 603 Sunset Drive in Greensboro, North Carolina
27408.

Robert L. Powell, Director - Mr. Powell is a retired Associate Professor at North Carolina
A&T University in the Civil, Architectural and Environmental Engineering Department in
Greensboro. He resides at 2128 Wright Avenue, Greensboro, North Carolina 27403.

Susan Shumaker, Director - Ms. Shumaker is the President of the Cone Health Foundation.
She resides at 6798 Meadow View Drive, Summerfield, North Carolina, 27358.

Carole Simms, Director - Mrs. Simms is an Attorney at Fox Rothchild. Mrs. Simms resides
at 900 Hobbs Road #428 Greensboro, North Carolina 27410.

Marty Stadler, Director — Mr. Stadler oversees Realtor Relations and Market Development
for Sawyer Exterminating. Mr. Stadler’s address is 3305 Coventry Place, Burlington, NC
27215.

Tom Steele, Director — Mr. Steele is Attorney at Law with Pittman & Steele Attorneys and
Counselors at Law. Mr. Steele resides at 3024 Amherst Avenue, Burlington, NC 27215.

Jennifer Young, Director and President of TVAB’s Residents’ Association — Ms. Young
is aretired Human Resources Executive and Village at Brookwood resident. Ms. Young resides

at 157 Lakewood Court, Burlington, North Carolina 27215.

Ben Zuraw, Director - Mr. Zuraw is a retired civic educator and law firm partner. Mr. Zuraw
resides at 313 Sunset Drive in Greensboro, North Carolina 27408.
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Management Staff

Stephen P. Fleming, NHA, MBA — President and Chief Executive Officer of The Well*Spring
Group. Mr. Fleming joined WelleSpring Retirement as Executive Director in July 2000 having
previously served as Chief Operating Officer of a multi-facility corporation from 1997 to 2000.
Mr. Fleming was Executive Director of Kendal at Hanover, a 425-resident continuing care
retirement community located in Hanover, New Hampshire from 1995 to 1997 and served as
Administrator for Friends Homes, Inc. located in Greensboro, North Carolina from 1986-1995.
Mr. Fleming obtained a Master of Business in Administration degree from Appalachian State
University in 1990 and a Bachelor of Science degree in Public Health, Health Policy and
Administration from The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in 1986. He is licensed
by the State of North Carolina as a Nursing Home Administrator, is a past member and past
Chair of the North Carolina Board of Examiners for Nursing Home Administrators. Mr.
Fleming currently serves on of the LeadingAge National Board of Directors of which he was
chair from 2017-2019. He is a former member of The Board of Directors of the LeadingAge
NC and served as its Chair from 2008 — 2010. In addition, he serves as Chairman of PACE of
the Triad Board of Directors.

K. Alan Tutterow, NHA, CPA, CASP — Secretary & Treasurer, Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Tutterow received his accounting degree at the University of
North Carolina at Chapel Hill in 1984 and is a certified public accountant. Prior to joining
WelleSpring in 1993, he was controller for First American Savings Bank and First American
Mortgage Corporation. Mr. Tutterow also worked for KPMG Peat Marwick in the areas of tax
and audit from 1984 — 1986. He is licensed by the State of North Carolina as a Nursing Home
Administrator and is a Certified Aging Services Professional (CASP). He is a past member of
the Board of Directors and Treasurer of Hospice and Palliative Care of Greensboro. Mr.
Tutterow serves as a financial surveyor of CARF-CCAC. Additionally, he serves on the Board
of Directors for PACE of the Triad. Mr. Tutterow is a member of Phi Beta Kappa, Beta Alpha
Psi and Beta Gamma Sigma.

April Mayberry, NHA - Executive Director & Director of Healthcare. Ms. Mayberry joined
Well-Spring Management and Development in June 2019 and held the position of Health Care
Administrator until August of 2022, when she assumed her current role as Executive Director
of The Village at Brookwood. April earned bachelor’s degree in Recreational Therapy from
Western Carolina University and has been serving older adults for over 20 years. Her journey
in healthcare includes Recreation Therapy Director, Behavioral Health Director, and Associate
Administrator before becoming a licensed Nursing Home Administrator in 2011. She is also
a 2022 fellow of the Leading Age North Carolina Leadership Academy.
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Professional Staff and Consultants

The Village at Brookwood has professional, experienced staff to conduct the day-to-day
management of The Village. The professional team responsible for the management of The
Village at Brookwood includes:

Ashley Countiss, Director of Resident Services

Ashley holds a Bachelor of Science from Elon University. She is an active member of the
Burlington/Alamance community. Ashley began her employment with The Village at
Brookwood in 2021.

Lynette Hinely, Business Office Manager
Prior to joining The Village in 2014, Lynette spent 24 years with Cone Health in patient
financial services. Lynette was promoted to Business Office Manager in 2022.

Cindy Kroksh, Director of Clinical Services

Graduate of Watts Hospital School of Nursing. BS from Mars Hill College. Employed in
Long Term Care since 1981 and have held the position of Director of Nursing since 1985. She
has worked with The Village at Brookwood since 2017.

Arthur Gardiner, Interim Director of Dining Services

Professional Chef with 15+ years’ experience in a variety of different high-volume dining
venues. Has worked in dining service in various fast food establishments, Assisted Living and
CCRC’s as a Chef and in Management positions. Arthur began his employment with The
Village in November 2015.

Betsy Huneycutt, Director of Sales & Marketing

Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of North Carolina at Greensboro. Has worked in
sales and marketing and community relations since 1993. Also active in the greater Burlington
community. Betsy joined The Village at Brookwood in 2016.

Cary Hinely, Director of Facilities Services

Graduate of Southern Alamance High School. Part of Alamance Regional Medical Center’s
plant operations since 1997. Cary joined the facility services leadership team when The
Village at Brookwood was being built in 2003.
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Neither the professional staff, the Board of Directors, nor the consulting professionals have a
significant financial interest in The Village at Brookwood as defined by North Carolina G.S.
58-64-20(a)(3)(b):

“The name and address of any professional service firm, association, trust, partnership, or
corporation in which this person has, or which has in this person, a ten percent (10%) or
greater interest and which it is presently intended shall currently or in the future provide
goods, leases, or services to the facility, or to residents of the facility, of an aggregate value of
five hundred dollars ($500.00) or more within any year, including a description of the goods,
leases, or services and the probable or anticipated cost thereof to the facility, provider, or
residents or a statement that this cost cannot presently be estimated; and...”

No member of the Board of Directors or professional staff has been convicted of a felony or
pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge or has been held liable or enjoined in a civil action
by final judgment.

No member of the Board of Directors or professional staff is subject to a currently effective
injunctive or restrictive court order, or within the past five years had any state or federal license
or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action brought by a governmental agency or
department.

III. POLICIES

A. Residency — Health and Financial Criteria

Generally, all Residents of Residential Living at The Village at Brookwood are required to
live independently at the time of residency and/or settlement and to have the financial
resources to pay the Entrance and Monthly Service Fees. Residents are also encouraged to
subscribe to Medicare Parts A and B and any other hospital or medical insurance benefit
program which supplements Medicare or other comparable insurance accepted by
Provider. The Resident shall provide Provider with evidence of such coverage or of an
acceptable substitute insurance plan, and the Resident shall pay all premiums.

The process for residency and the financial and medical requirements are specifically
outlined in the forms for residency given to every person interested in joining The Village.

The Resident may become a part of the Friends Advantage Program (FAP) by payment of
a $1,200 application fee. Of that fee, $1,000 will be credited toward the entry fee; $200
will be retained for administrative costs. Members of the Friends Advantage Program will
receive advance notice of openings and will have priority in residence choices over all
other prospective residents.
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When a desired residence is available, the resident shall enter into the Reservation
Agreement and place a 10% reservation fee on the residence that has been chosen. This
will reserve the residence during the application approval process.

The Resident shall submit for approval by the Provider, an Application for Residency,
which includes a confidential personal and health history and a financial disclosure, all on
forms furnished by The Village. The application forms will be submitted to The Village
within fourteen (14) days after the execution of the Reservation Agreement.

Upon receipt of the completed application forms, the Provider will review the forms
submitted by the Resident for initial acceptance to The Village. Based on entrance criteria
and policies established by the Board of Directors of the Provider, the Provider will
approve or deny the application for initial acceptance within fourteen (14) days of receipt
of the completed application forms. The Resident will be promptly notified of the decision
of the Provider.

Provider will notify the Resident forty-five (45) days in advance of the date on which the
Residence is available for occupancy. The Balance of the Entrance Fee and the first
month’s Monthly Fee are payable by the date of occupancy.

Prior to admission to The Village, the Provider requires the Resident to receive a health
assessment conducted by our healthcare team. The Resident shall also submit a report of
a physical examination of the Resident made by a physician selected by the Resident within
Sixty (60) Days prior to occupancy. The report shall include a statement by the physician
that the Resident is in good health and is capable of independent living (able to provide
self-care in activities of daily living). The Resident shall be responsible for the cost of such
physical examinations. If the health of the Resident as disclosed by such physical
examination differs materially from that disclosed in the Resident's Application for
Admission and Personal Health History, Provider shall have the right to decline admission
of the Resident to the Residence and may offer occupancy in the Health Care Center as
described below.

The Resident must have assets and income which will be sufficient to pay the financial
obligations of the Resident under the Residence and Services Agreement and to meet their
ordinary living expenses. Provider, at its discretion, may require the Resident(s) to furnish
additional, current financial information.

The Resident affirms that the representations made in the Application for Residency, which
includes a confidential personal and health history and a financial disclosure, are true and
correct and may be relied upon by the Provider as a basis for entering into the Residence
and Services Agreement.
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If it is determined by the Provider that the Resident is unable to live independently in the
residence, such resident may be offered direct admission to the Health Care Center. Such
Resident shall pay the current Direct Admission Entrance Fee and shall pay monthly fees
equal to the current private pay rate (per diem market rate) in the Health Care Center (for
the required level of care, Assisted Living, Skilled Care or Memory Care). Residents
directly admitted to the Health Care Center shall complete a separate Direct Admission
Agreement and applications as required by the Provider and North Carolina licensure
statutes. The Co-Resident or spouse of a Resident who qualifies for direct admission shall
continue to be governed by the terms of the Residence and Services Agreement as a single
occupant of the Residence.

If the Resident experiences a subsequent change in health status that would allow the
Resident to again qualify for admission to an independent residence, the Resident shall be
allowed to apply for admission into any vacant independent residence that the Resident
qualifies for. If the resident has a spouse or significant other, the resident will then pay the
second person fee for the residence occupied. If the resident is single and there are no
residences available that the resident qualifies for, the resident will be put on a wait list for
admission to such residence according to the Priority Number assigned to the Resident
upon entering the Residence and Services Agreement.

B. Cancellation/Termination

1. Cancellation of Contract Prior to Occupancy: The 10% deposit under the Residence
and Services Agreement, Section VI., makes the following provisions regarding
cancellation:

a. Termination by Resident Prior to Occupancy. The Residence and Services
Agreement may be terminated by the Resident for any reason prior to
occupancy by giving written notice to Provider. In the event of such
termination, the Resident shall receive a refund of the 10% Deposit paid by the
Resident, less any expenses incurred by The Village and less a nonrefundable
fee equal to 2% of the total amount of the selected Entrance Fee option.

If a resident dies before occupying the Residence, or if, on account of illness,
injury, or incapacity, a resident would be precluded from occupying the
Residence under the terms of the Residence and Services Agreement, the
Residence and Services Agreement is automatically canceled.  The
nonrefundable fee (equal to 2% of the total amount of the selected Entrance Fee
option) will not be charged, however, if such termination is because of death of
a Resident, or because the Resident's physical, mental or financial condition
makes the Resident ineligible for entrance to The Village.

Any such refund shall be paid by The Village within sixty (60) days following

receipt of notification of such termination. Provider requires that such
notification be in writing.

The Village at Brookwood Page 13 March 1, 2022 revised January 31,2023



Disclosure Statement

b. Termination by The Village. The Village at Brookwood may terminate the
Residence and Services Agreement prior to occupancy if there has been a
material misrepresentation or omission made by the Resident in the Resident’s
information provided prior to Residency, within the Personal Health History, or
the Confidential Financial Statement; or if the Resident’s financial status
changes such that Resident no longer meets The Village’s financial
requirements for residency. In the event of termination for any such causes, the
refund of the Entrance Fee paid by the Resident shall be determined in the
manner described in Section III.C. below (Entrance Fee Plans).

2. Cancellation of Contract Pursuant to Occupancy and Termination Other Than
Death: The Residence and Service Agreement, in, Section VI., makes provisions for
cancellations and terminations after the Resident occupies a residence, as follows:

a. Voluntary Termination after Occupancy. At any time after occupancy, the
Resident may terminate the Residence and Services Agreement by giving
Provider thirty (30) days written notice of such termination. Such notice
effectively releases the Residence to The Village. Any refunds of the Entrance
Fee due to the Resident shall be calculated based upon the Entrance Fee option
chosen by the Resident and as described in Section III.C. Any refund due the
Resident under this paragraph will be made at such time as such Resident's
Residence shall have been reserved by a prospective resident and such
prospective resident shall have paid to The Village the full Entrance Fee, or
within one (1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs. All
refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original
condition and by any outstanding charges due from Resident.

b. Termination upon Death. In the event of death of the Resident at any time
after occupancy, the Residence and Services Agreement shall terminate and the
refund of the Entrance Fee paid by the Resident shall be calculated based upon
the Entrance Fee option chosen by the Resident and as described in Section
II1.C. Any refund due to the Resident’s estate will be made at such time as such
Resident's Residence shall have been reserved by a prospective resident and
such prospective resident shall have paid to The Village the full Entrance Fee,
or within one (1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs. All
refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original
condition and by any outstanding charges due from Resident.
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C. Termination by The Village. The Village may terminate this Agreement at any time if there
has been a material misrepresentation or omission made by the Resident in the Resident’s
Application for Admission, Personal Health History, or Confidential Financial Statement; if the
Resident fails to make payment to Provider of any fees and charges due The Village within
sixty (60) days of the date when due; or if the Resident does not abide by the rules and
regulations adopted by Provider or breaches any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
Any refunds of the Entrance Fee due to the Resident shall be calculated based upon the Entrance
Fee option chosen by the Resident and as described in Section II.A. Any refund due the Resident
under this paragraph will be made at such time as such Resident's Residence shall have been
reserved by a prospective resident and such prospective resident shall have paid to The Village
the full Entrance Fee, or within one (1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs.
All refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original condition and
by any outstanding charges due from Resident.

3. Rescission Period. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement
may be rescinded by the Resident giving written notice of such rescission to The
Village within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this Agreement
or the receipt of the Disclosure Statement that meets the requirements of Section 58-
64-25, et.seq. of the North Carolina General Statutes. In the event of such rescission,
the Resident shall receive a refund of the Entrance Fee paid by the Resident, less 2%.
The Resident shall not be required to move into The Village before the expiration of
such thirty (30) day period. Any such refund shall be paid by The Village within sixty
(60) days following receipt of written notice of rescission pursuant to this paragraph.

C. Entrance Fee Plans

Two Entrance Fee Plans are available to the Resident according to the terms listed below.
The Entrance Fee Refund Plan is chosen by the Resident and may be changed up to the
date of payment of the final balance.

1. Standard Life Care Entrance Fee (less an initial 6% nonrefundable fee) accrues to
The Village at a rate of 2% per month of occupancy or portion thereof for 47 months.
The Resident will be due a refund of the Entrance Fee less: 2% thereof for each month
of occupancy, plus any costs owed to The Village by the Resident, plus the amount
necessary to restore the Residence to an acceptable condition except for reasonable
wear and tear to the Residence. Refunds will be payable to the Resident at such time as
such Resident's Residence shall have been reserved by a prospective Resident and such
prospective Resident shall have paid to The Village the full Entrance Fee, or within one
(1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs.
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2. Standard Fee for Service. The Entrance Fee (less an initial 6% nonrefundable fee)
accrues to The Village at a rate of 2% per month of occupancy or portion thereof for
47 months. The Resident will be due a refund of the Entrance Fee less: 2% thereof for
each month of occupancy, plus any costs owed to The Village by the Resident, plus the
amount necessary to restore the Residence to an acceptable condition except for
reasonable wear and tear to the Residence. Refunds will be payable to the Resident at
such time as such Resident's Residence shall have been reserved by a prospective
Resident and such prospective Resident shall have paid to The Village the full Entrance
Fee, or within one (1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs. The
Residence and Services Agreement for this type of contract outlines the services that
are included in the fees (Section V. of the Disclosure Statement applies to this type of
contract).  All Healthcare Services are provided at the prevailing per diem rate.
Medicare and approved insurances may be used to pay for these services, however,
when Medicare and insurances do not provide coverage the resident will be charged
the per diem rate.

D. Moves and Transfers

The Residence and Services Agreement outlines the policies for transfers in Section V,
“Transfers or Changes in Levels of Care,” and should be consulted for a complete
description of the policy concerning moves and transfers. The Resident may transfer from
one Independent Living Residence to another or from an Independent Living Residence to
the Health Care Center for Assisted Living, Memory Care or Nursing Services. Section V.
of the Residence and Services Agreement makes the following provisions:

YVoluntary Transfer between Independent Residences. The Resident may transfer from
one independent Residence to another. The Resident shall comply with The Village’s
current Resident Transfer Advantage Program for selection of such Residence. There may
be a refurbishment fee (for the residence being vacated) charged for such a transfer.

1. Transfer of Resident to a Larger Residence. If the Resident elects to transfer to
a larger Residence, an additional Entrance Fee (according to the Entrance Fee
Refund Option selected with the Date of Occupancy) equal to the difference
between the Entrance Fee for the smaller Residence and the Entrance Fee for the
larger Residence will be due to The Village. The Resident will also pay the Monthly
Service Fee associated with the larger Residence.

2. Transfer of Resident to a Smaller Residence. The Resident may elect to transfer
to a smaller Residence and pay the current monthly service fee for that Residence.
The transfer to a smaller Residence shall not result in any entrance fee refund.
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3. Transfer to the Health Care Center. The Resident agrees that Provider shall have
authority to determine that the Resident be transferred from one level of care to
another level of care within The Village. Such determination shall be based on the
professional opinion of Medical Director and shall be made after reasonable efforts
to consult with the Resident or the Resident’s chosen and legal representative.

4. Transfer to Hospital or Other Facility. If it is determined by Provider that the
Resident needs care beyond that which can be provided by The Village, the
Resident may be transferred to a hospital or institution equipped to give such care;
such care will be at the expense of the Resident. Such transfer of the Resident will
be made only after consultation to the extent possible with the Resident, or a
representative of the Resident's family.

5. Surrender of Residence. Ifa determination is made by Provider that any transfer
as described above is likely to be permanent in nature, the Resident agrees to
surrender the Residence upon such transfer. The Provider shall continue charging
the monthly fees until such time that the unit is vacated. If Provider subsequently
determines that the Resident can resume occupancy in a Residence or
accommodation comparable to that occupied by the Resident prior to such transfer,
the Resident shall have priority to such residence as soon as it becomes available.

E. Addition of a Co-Resident or Marriage

When a single Resident occupies a Residence in which The Village policy permits double
occupancy, the Resident can allow another person to share occupancy of the Residence.
The Village requires the new Resident to qualify for acceptance under the current
Residence and Services Agreement type and refund option as the primary Resident.

F. Financial Assistance

Section VIII. of the Residence and Services Agreement makes the following provision for
financial assistance:

Provider declares that it is the intent of The Village to permit a Resident to continue
to reside at The Village if the Resident is no longer capable of paying the prevailing
fees and charges of The Village as a result of financial reversals occurring after
occupancy, provided such reversals, in Provider’s judgment, are not the result of
willful or unreasonable dissipation of the Resident's assets. In the event of such
circumstances, Provider will give careful consideration to subsidizing the fees and
charges payable by the Resident so long as such subsidy can be made without
impairing the ability of Provider to operate on a sound financial basis. Any
determination by Provider with regard to the granting of financial assistance shall
be within the sole discretion of Provider.
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IV. SERVICES - Life Care:

A. Standard Services Available

The Village at Brookwood is a full-service continuing care retirement community.
Residents will pay a one-time Entrance Fee and a Monthly Service Fee. The fees are
designed to cover virtually all living expenses incurred by Residents of The Village. The
Monthly Service Fee covers the following basic services:

one meal, per person, per day (at the choice of Resident during the month)
weekly housekeeping

maintenance of the residence

maintenance of grounds and landscaping

regularly scheduled local transportation including local medical appointments
planned social and recreational activities

all utilities (electric, gas, water and sewer)

cable television (basic)

high speed internet services (WIFI)

24-hour emergency call service and response

24-hour security services in a Gated Community

personal emergency pendants

electronic check-in

trash removal

parking

assistance with filing insurance claims

assistance with transfer to hospitals or other special care facilities

life care health care services

B. Services for an Extra Charge

Services that will require additional payment include:

additional meals

packaging and meal delivery to residence

charges for special activities or trips

personal parties or group events in the Community Center

special, personal or group trip transportation

beauty salon and barber shop services

guest accommodations

telephone including long distance

expanded cable television

charges for selected clinic health care services and wellness program activities
charges for temporary health care services (more than 14 days a year in a healthcare
accommodation) not covered by Medicare or other Insurance.
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C. Absences

Residents away from The Village at Brookwood for fourteen (14) consecutive days or
more, and who make arrangements in advance with The Village (excluding
hospitalizations), will be credited with a current published dining services credit
determined by The Village.

. Health Care Services Available

Section I.G.13 of the Residence and Services Agreement outlines the services available in
The Village at Brookwood Health Care Center. The payment for such services will be
found in Section II. of the Residence and Services Agreement.

The Health Care Center includes licensed Assisted Living, Assisted Living Memory Care,
and Skilled Nursing accommodations. A primary care clinic is located on site for use by
Residents during scheduled hours.

The Life Care Benefit is the rate paid for residency in the Health Care Center. The rate at
the time of transfer will apply to Assisted Living, Assisted Living Memory Care and
Skilled Nursing accommodations.

The clinic will provide services such as certain examinations, consultations, checks,
treatments and tests, as authorized by the staff and the Medical Director, and the cost of
certain services may be the responsibility of the Resident as described in Section 1.G.13(b)
of the Residence and Services Agreements.

SERVICES — Fee for Service: Standard

. Standard Services Available

The Village at Brookwood is a full-service Continuing Care Retirement Community.
Residents will pay a one-time Entrance Fee and a Monthly Service Fee. The Monthly
Service Fee covers the following basic services:

e 15 meals per person, per month

¢ housekeeping every other week

e maintenance of the residence

e maintenance of grounds and landscaping

regularly scheduled local transportation

e planned social and recreational activities

e all utilities (electric, gas, water and sewer)

e cable television (basic)

e high speed internet service (WIFI)

e 24-hour emergency call service and response

e 24-hour security services in a Gated Community

e personal emergency pendants
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electronic check-in

trash removal

parking

assistance with filing insurance claims

assistance with transfer to hospitals or other special care facilities
health care services at the per diem rate

B. Services for an Extra Charge

Services that will require additional payment include:

additional meals

packaging and meal delivery to residence

additional housekeeping services

charges for special activities or trips

personal parties or group events in the Community Center
special, personal or group trip transportation

beauty salon and barber shop services

guest accommodations

telephone including long distance

expanded cable television

Disclosure Statement

charges for selected clinic health care services and wellness program activities
charges for temporary health care services not covered by Medicare or Long Term Care

Insurance

C. Health Care Services Available

Section I.G.13 of the Residence and Services Agreement (Fee for Service) outlines the
services available in The Village at Brookwood Health Care Center, and payment for such
services is set forth in Section II. F.1-2.

The Health Care Center includes licensed Assisted Living, Memory Care, and Skilled
Nursing accommodations. A health clinic is located on-site for use by Residents during
scheduled hours. All charges for health care related services will be at the per diem rate.

The clinic will provide services such as certain examinations, consultations, checks,
treatments and tests, as authorized by the staff and the Medical Director, and the cost of
certain services may be the responsibility of the Resident as described in Section 1.G.13(b)
of the Residence and Services Agreement.
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VI. FEE
A. Residency Fees

Persons applying for residency will choose a type of residence and make a 10% deposit of
the Entrance Fee (the amount of which is determined by both the residence type and the
Entrance Fee Refund Option). Applications for residency will be provided and completed
to determine eligibility. Once approved for residency, a Resident will be guaranteed
admission to The Village regardless of change in their health status. If a Resident requires
nursing services prior to being able to live independently in a Residence, as determined by
The Village, they will be subject to the terms outlined in Section III.D of the Residence
and Services Agreement, “Direct Admission to Health Care Center.” The monthly fee is
the prevailing Fee for Service per diem rate.

All funds are held in escrow and are refundable under the terms outlined in the Residence
and Services Agreement.

B. Entrance Fee and Monthly Service Fee

The Village requires that two fees be paid for residency: an Entrance Fee and a Monthly
Service Fee. These fees are reviewed annually to ensure the financial viability of the
organization.

C. Health Care Center Fees — Life Care: Standard, 50% and 90% Refund

Health Care Center revenues are generated from services to Residents transferring from
residential living areas, or Residents admitted directly into a nursing bed due to health
condition changes since approved for residency in Independent Living.

Residents transferring from residential living areas to the Health Care Center on a
permanent or temporary basis will be charged the Life Care Benefit rate at the time of
transfer.

Fourteen (14) days of qualified respite care are available to Life Care Residents on an
annual basis. This benefit applies to skilled nursing only.

D. Health Care Center Fees — Fee for Service
Charges for Health Care Services will be billed at the per diem rate. In addition to the
Health Care fee and ancillary charges as described in Section II.F.1 of the Residence and

Services Agreement, the resident will be charged the rate for the healthcare residence they
occupy.
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E. Fee Change Policies

The Residence and Services Agreement, Section II.D., makes the following provisions
regarding the periodic adjustment of fees:

“The Monthly Fee provides for the facilities, programs, and services described in
this Agreement and is intended to meet the cost of the expenses associated with the
operation and management of The Village. The Village shall have the authority and
discretion to adjust the Monthly Fee during the term of this Agreement to reflect
increases and changes in costs of providing the facilities, programs, and services
described herein consistent with operating on a sound financial basis and
maintaining the quality of services provided to Residents. At least a thirty (30) day
notice will be given to the Resident before any adjustment in fees or charges.”

F. Changes in Fees for the Previous Five Years

LIFE CARE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Apt. Sq.
Residences Fee
Azalea 826 $2,519 $2,607 $2,705 $2,786 $2,925
Birch 1113 $2,739 $2,835 $2,941 $3,029 $3,181
Camellia 1206 $2,995 $3,100 $3,216 $3,312 $3,478
Dogwood 1352 $3,250 $3,364 $3,490 $3,595 $3,774
Elm 1596 $3,524 $3,647 $3,784 $3,898 $4,092
Garden
Home
Residences
Holly 1692 $3,847 $3,982 $4,131 $4,255 $4,468
Magnolia/
Maple 1892 $4,026 $4,167 $4,323 $4,453 $4,675
Oak 1965 $4,142 $4,287 $4,448 $4,581 $4.811
Co-
Resident $1,225 $1,268 $1,315 $1,354 $1,422
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FEE FOR SERVICE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Apt.
Residences Sq. Feet
Azalea 826 $2,115 $2,189 $2,271 $2,339 $2,456
Birch 1113 $2,335 $2,417 $2,507 $2,582 $2,711
Camellia 1206 $2,589 $2,680 $2,780 $2,863 $3,007
Dogwood 1352 $2,869 $2,969 $3,081 $3,173 $3,332
Elm 1596  $3,145 $3,255 $3,377 $3,478 $3,652

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Garden
Home
Residences Sq. Feet
Holly 1692 §$3,172 $3,283 $3,406 $3,508 $3,684
Magnolia/
Maple 1892 §$3,376 $3,494 $3,625 $3,734 $3,920
Oak 1965  $3,493 $3,615 $3,751 $3,864 $4,057
Co-
Resident $708 $733 $760 $783 $822

G. Miscellaneous Ancillary Charges
Additional charges may apply depending on the service received or the Residence and

Services Agreement that was selected. Each September The Village distributes a
Miscellaneous Rate Adjustment Memo to all residents for the following year.

VII. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. Debt Overview & Member Substitution Agreement

In conjunction with the Member Substitution Agreement effective July 1, 2022, the Village
joined an obligated group with Well Spring Retirement Community, Inc. and borrowed
bank debt as follows:

e $25,000,000 in long term debt, interest only for 1 year followed by a 29-year
amortization. The debt is variable based on SOFR and has a 15-year maturity.
o $15,000,000 of the debt is fixed at 3.78% with an Interest Rate Swap agreement.
o $10,000,000 of the debt is variable rate based on SOFR.

e $5,000,000 in working capital term loan (the “Working Capital Term Note”), interest
only for 1 year followed by a 29-year amortization. The debt is variable based on
SOFR and has a 15-year maturity. This debt can be drawn down at the Village’s option
for three years. Interest is only payable on the principal that has been drawn. The
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Working Capital Term Note is anticipated to be used to fund the construction of the
Project and is anticipated to be repaid from initial entrance fees received from the
Project’s independent living units.

B. Change in Fiscal Year
In order to match the fiscal year of the related organizations and the other member of the
obligated group, The Village will be changing its fiscal year to end on December 31, 2022
and subsequent December 31sts.

C. Residents with Continuing Care Contracts
As of September 30, 2021, there were a total of 235 residents receiving continuing care
services. There were 194 residents in Independent Living, 20 in Assisted Living and 21 in
Skilled Nursing.

C. Current Financial Statements
The Village at Brookwood began operations on July 21, 2003. Audited financial statements
for the last two full fiscal years ending September 2021 and September 2020 for Cone
Health are included as Attachment A.

D. Five Year Forecasted Statement

See Attachment B for financial projection statements prepared for the fiscal years 2023-
2027.

E. Material Differences between Forecasted Financial Data and Actual Results

Narrative describing material differences between forecasted financial data as shown in
previous Disclosure Statement and Audited Actual Results. (Pages 27 — 29)
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As of 9/30/2021

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents

Patient Accounts Receivable
Allowance for Uncollectibles
Net Accounts Receivable

Supplies Inventory
Other Receivables

Intercompany Receivables (Payables)
Prepaid Expenses
Other Current assets

Total Current Assets

Assets Limited to Use

Investments-board designated
Other trustee held funds

Debt Service Reserve
Statutory Operating Reserve

Total

PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT:
Land & Land Improvements
Buildings & Fixed Equipment
Movable Equipment
Construction in Progress/Equipment
in Progress

Property, Plant & Equipment

Accumuated Depreciation
Total

Investments
Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

**EXPLANATIONS:

**Explanations

Disclosure Statement

1 Cashis transferred periodically to Conehealth Treasury Management. Transfers out were less

than anticipated in Forecast.

2 Accounts receivable are less than forecast due to closing of Edgewood Place.

3 Did not see increase in Inventory as forecasted due to lower census.

4 Cash was paid at year end to close out intercompany receivables

5 New assets/projects were higher than forecast

6 The Village at Brookwood had no investments in 2021

The Village at Brookwood

Page 25

ASSETS Explanation: Variance of 10% or greater than $150,000
Amounts shown in Thousands
Audited Forecast Variance % change
8,819 6,993 1,826 20.71%
194
(1)
193 464 (271) -140.41%
23 36 (13) -56.52%
0 0 0
0 0
20 330 (310)
43 366 (310) -720.93%
9,055 7,823 1,232 13.61%
Audited Forecast Variance % change
0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0
3,015 3,010 5 0.17%
3,015 3,010 5
9,421 9,421
65,417 65,417
2,054 2,054
1,518 1,518
78,410 50,749 27,661
(26,093) (26,093)
52,317 50,749 1,568 3.00%
0 2,211 (2,211) 100.00%
0 0
64,387 63,793 594 0.92%
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As of 9/30/2021 ASSETS  Explanation: Variance of 10% or greater than $150,000
Amounts shown in Thousands
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS: Audited Forecast Variance % change Explanations

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 1,095 198 897 81.92% 7
Accrued Expenses 1,818 3,232 (1,414) -77.78% 8
Deferred Revenue 1,940 2,841 (901) -46.44% 9
Due to Others 2,975 0 2,975 100.00% 10
COVID Grant Payable 267 0 267 100.00% 11
Total Current Liabilities 8,095 6,271 1,824 22.53%
Audited Forecast Variance % change Explanations

LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Deferred Revenue from Entrance

Fees 8,388 3,976 4,412 52.60% 12
VALUATION WRITE DOWN DEF INC-
AEC (3,758) 0 (3,758) 100.00% 13
Refundable Fees 9,764 10,999 (1,235) -12.65% 14
Other non-current liabilities 70 316 (246) -351.43% 15
Total LT Liabilities 14,464 15,291 (827) -5.72%
TOTAL LIABILITIES 22,559 21,562 997 4.42%
NET ASSETS:
UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS 41,545 42,014 (469) -1.13% 16
TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED FUNDS 283 217 66 23.32% 17
NET ASSETS 41,828 42,231 (403) -0.96%
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 64,387 63,793 594 0.92%
EXPLANATIONS:

7 Accounts Payable year end accruals were higher than forecasted as paybles were not paid out before 9/30/2021

8 Accrued expenses were less than forecasted for 2021 and due to others is lower than forecast. Timing of TDA annuity paid to
employee retirement is the other difference.

9 Higher deferred revenue in LT and less in ST at year-end due to higher than forecasted new resident occupancy

10 Due to others includes due to Cone Health and sales tax payable - not recognized in forecast due to the balance was
intentionally paid off

11 No COVID Grant funds were forecasted for 2021
12 Higher deferred revenue in LT and less in ST at year-end due to higher than forecasted new resident occupancy
13 Valuation write down was required by auditors and not included in forecast

14 Refundable fees lower due to old residents have met contractual obligations fully amortized and are no longer owed
refunds

15 Other non-current liabilities is the Friends Advantage Program deposits
16 The net assets fell due to the sale/disposals of remaining Edgewood Place assets

17 Resident donations to the Employee Holiday fund were higher than forecasted
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As of 9/30/2021 ASSETS Explanation: Variance of 10% or greater than $150,000
Amounts shown in Thousands
Audited Forecast Variance % change Explanations

Monthly Service Fees:

Residential living 6,257

Health care 3,871 10,145 (17) -0.17%

Amortization of entrance fees 1,940 2,430 (490) -25.26% 18
Investment income 41 (41) 0.00%

Contributions and Gifts 646 786 (140) -21.67% 19
Other revenues 1,125 461 664 59.02% 20
Total Revenues, Gains and Other Support 13,839 13,863 (24)

Expenses:

Health care 3,549 2,894 655 18.46% 21
Resident services 717 548 169 23.57% 22
Dietary 2,231 1,490 741 33.21% 23
Plant operations 1,983 1,632 351 17.70% 24
Laundry 31 22 9 29.03% 25
Housekeeping 564 361 203 35.99% 26
General and administrative 3,284 5,092 (1,808) -55.05% 27
Interest 0 0

Amortization 0 0

Depreciation 2,926 2,797 129 4.41%

Total Expenses 15,285 14,836 449 2.94%

Operating Income (loss) (1,446) (973) (473)

Non-Operating Income

Other non-operating income 42 42 100.00% 28
Investment Income 28 28 100.00% 29
Total Non-Operating Income 70 - 70

Excess of Revenue, Gains and Other
Support Over Expenses (1,376) (973) (403)

EXPLANATIONS:
18 Resident independent move-ins to Independent Living were lower than forecast

19 COVID funds received in 2021 were lower than forecast

20 Other revenue includes termination income, dining, and other ancillary income
21 Healthcare wages, OT, & special salaries were higher than forecast

22 Resident services activities resumed after COVID

23 Food costs & wages were higher than forecast

24 Repairs, upgrades for new move-ins higher than forecast

25 Cone switched to another laundry services resulting in higher costs

26 Salaries and cleaning supplies higher than forecast

27 COVID expenses were lower than forecast

28 No other non-operating forecasted

29 No other investment forecasted
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VIII. RESERVES, ESCROW AND TRUSTS

A. Trustee-Held Funds
There are no Trustee-held funds.

B. Operating Reserves
As required by North Carolina G.S. 58-64-33:
The Village maintains operating reserves equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the total
operating costs projected for the 12-month period following the period covered by the most
recent annual statement filed with the North Carolina Department of Insurance. The
required forecasted statements shall serve as the basis for computing the operating reserve.
In addition to total operating expenses, total operating costs will include debt service but
will exclude depreciation, amortized expenses, and extraordinary items approved by the
Commissioner of Insurance.

C. Board Designated Funds
The Board has established a resident assistance fund to be used at the discretion of the
Executive Director and the Board of Directors to provide financial assistance to Residents
who are unable to meet their financial responsibilities.

D. Investment Accounts

The Village does not maintain investment accounts.
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XI.
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FACILITY DEVELOPMENT OR EXPANSION

The initial construction of The Village at Brookwood consisted of 155 residential living
residences (110 apartments and 45 garden homes) and 48 health care residences. The Wellness
Center that includes exercise rooms, pool, Jacuzzi and locker rooms opened in May 2009. The
site has been master planned to allow the addition of garden home residences, apartment
residences and additional healthcare residences. Construction of two maple garden homes was
completed January 2019.

As part of the master planning discussed above The Village plans to construct and operate an
additional 15 garden homes on the campus. The Village plans on drawing from a working
capital term loan to fund the construction until initial entrance fees are received. Construction
is projected to commence in April 2023 and construction would approximate 15 months to
complete. Further details on the project can be found in the Five Year Forecasted Statements
in Attachment B.

RESIDENCE AND SERVICES AGREEMENTS

The Residence and Services Agreements (Standard Life Care and Standard Fee for Service)
are attached (Attachments D and E). All persons interested in residency at The Village at
Brookwood should carefully review the selected Agreement.

The Village at Brookwood continually monitors the trends and new developments related to
Residence and Services Agreements in the market. As new options become available and
reviewed by management and approved by the Board of Directors, they will be submitted to
the Department of Insurance for approval.

MISCELLANEOUS

A. Marketing Incentives

Throughout the marketing of The Village at Brookwood, various incentives have been
employed at times. Some of the initial Residents (referred to as “Founders’ Club”) were
provided with financial (in the form of credits) and other incentives at the time of move-in
to the Community. Other Residents were encouraged to reserve their residence with a Ten
Percent (10%) Deposit even if they were uncertain as to their being ready at the time of
opening (the “Ready List”); they were assured that they could leave their deposit with the
Community and obtain a priority for future move-in when they decide to move in. There
are several residence and services agreements that are no longer offered.

The Village at Brookwood reserves the right to offer at any time the same or similar
incentives or any other incentives it may decide.
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B. Wait List

The Wait List is called the Friends Advantage Program (FAP). Prospective residents will
sign an agreement and make a $1,200 deposit ($200 of which is non-refundable) that will
initiate the assignment of a reservation priority number for the purpose of holding a place
in line for future availability of any residence that is not then-currently available. The
Village will contact the prospective resident by order of reservation priority number and
according to the choice of residence preferred when such a residence becomes available.
Once notified of availability and the prospective resident has accepted the residence, then
the Reservation Agreement must be completed, and a 10% entry fee deposit must be made.

C. Edgewood Place Divestiture

Alamance Extended Care (AEC) is an organization that includes Edgewood Place Skilled
Nursing Facility and The Village at Brookwood Continuing Care Retirement Community.
In early 2020, AEC announced its intent to sell the licenses for the 81 Edgewood Place
Nursing beds housed on the AEC campus. Of the 81 beds, 54 were sold to two (2) local
institutions that aim to keep these beds in Alamance County.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Trustees of
The Moses H. Cone Memorlal Hospital:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Moses H. Cone Memeorial
Hospital and affiliates (dba Cone Health) (the “Mealth System”}), which comprise the consolidated
balance sheets as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America;
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance ahout whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Health System’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System’s internal control.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting poficies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained Is sufficlent and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, the consclidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Report on Consolidating Supplemental Schedules

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole. The consolidating supplemental schedules listed in the table of contents are
presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the consolidated financial
statements. These consolidating supplemental schedules are the responsibility of the Health System’s
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. Such consolidating supplemental schedules have
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits of the consolidated financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such consolidating supplemental
schedules directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated
financial statements or to the consolidated financlal statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, such consolidating supplemental schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.
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THE MOSES H. CONE VIEMORIAL HOSPITAL AND AFFILIATES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
(In thousands of dollars)

2021 2020
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalants $ 221,765 S 328,671
Short-term investments 147,096 26,688
Patlent accounts receivable 236,777 175,625
Inventorles 48,392 39,414
Assets limited as to use—required for current liabilities 5,802 6,674
Other current assets 104,684 89,317
Total current assets 764,516 666,389
LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS 941,289 959,659
ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE—Net of portion required for current liabilities 205,754 233,432
INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES 52,592 51,799
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT—Net 1,239,302 1,180,858
RIGHT OF USE ASSETS—Operating l[eases—net 75,181 70,582
RIGHT OF USE ASSETS—Finance leases—net 9,881 9,523
GOODWILL 9,832 9,832
OTHER ASSETS 108,230 97,986
TOTAL $3,4056,577 $3,280,060
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable 5 74,272 $ 63,376
Accrued expenses 255,662 284,847
Current portion of contract liabilities 123,590 149,407
Current portion of operating lease cbligations 13,952 14,210
Current partion of finance lease obligations 4,138 5,904
Current porticn of long-term debt 173,916 182 110
Total currant liahilities 645,531 689,854
LONG-TERM DEBT—Net of current portion 422,655 445,762
OPERATING LEASE OBLIGATIONS—Net of current portion 64,693 59,406
FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS—Net of current portion 5,382 3,841
LONG-TERM CONTRACT LIABILITIES —Net of current portion 14,394 15,047
OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 144,637 128,524
Total liabilities 1,297,292 1,352,434
NET ASSETS:
Without donor restrictions:
Maoses H. Cone Memorial Hospital and Affiliates 2,083,873 1,906,647
Noncentrolling interests 5,925 2,634
Total net assets without donor restrictions 2,089,798 1,912,281
With denor restrictions 19,487 15,345
Total net assets 2,109,285 1,927,626
TOTAL 53,406,577 $3,280,060

See notes to consolidated financtal statements.



THE MOSES H. CONE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AND AFFILIATES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020

{In thousands of dollars)

NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE
OTHER REVENUE

PREMIUM REVENUE
NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS

Total operating revenue

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and wages
Fringe benefits
Supplies
Other direct expenses
Interest expense

Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE}:
Investment income

Other nonoperating (expense) income--net

Total nonoperating income

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES FROM
CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS

{EXCESS) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES

ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES ATTRIBUTABLE

TO MOSES H. CONE MEMORIAL HOSPITALAND AFFILIATES

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2021 2020
$2,204,566 52,011,613
129,232 130,196
174,875 149,491
2,450 2,294
2,511,123 2,293,554
958,064 853,118
280,231 257,017
488,157 441,759
599,948 517,313
16,010 15,849
122,771 145,802
2,466,231 2,230,858
44,892 62,736
155,117 71,143
(22,027) 15,731
133,090 26,874
177,982 145,610
(8,831) {10,385)
S 169,151 S 139,225
{Continued)



THE MOSES H. CONE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AND AFFILIATES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
{In thousands of doilars)

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS:
Excess of revenues over expenses from consolidated

operations
Adoption of new accounting pronouncement

unrealized gain on investments
Change in net unrealized gains and losses on investments
Change in the fair value of the floating-to-fixed swap agreements

Distributions to non-controlling interest
Other changes in net assets

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions

NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS:

Contributions
Net assets released from restrictions
Other changes in net assets

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS
NET ASSETS—Beginning of year

NET ASSETS—End of year

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2021 2020

$ 177,982 $ 149,610
66,118

{15,770) {44,976)
16,368 (12,289)
{5,660) (5,583)
4,597 7,404
177,517 160,284
5,201 3,945
(2,450) - (2,294)
1,391 (1,270)
4,142 381
181,659 160,665
1,927,626 1,766,961
$2,109,285 $1,927,626




THE MOSES H. CONE MEMOR!AL HOSPITAL AND AFFILIATES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020
{In thousands of dollars}

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Increase in netassets
Ad)ustments to reconcile increase {decrease) In netassets te netcash provided by operating actlvitles:
Change In netunrealized gains and losses on investments
Adoption of new ascounting proncuncement unrealized gatn on Investments
Change in falrvalue of the floating-to-flxed swap agreements
Netrealized (galn) loss on sale of investments and unrealized {gain) loss on equity securities
Deprectation and amortization
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Assetlmpairment
loss on disposal of propertyand equipment
Earnings of unconsclidated affiliates
Purchase of unconsolldated entities
Distributions from unconselidated affiliates
Distributions to noncantrolling Tnterests
CMS advanced (recoupment) paymant
FICA deferral
Changes in:
Patient accounts receivable
Other currentassets
Inventories
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Lease llability due to cash payments
Other operating assets
Other operating llabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM |NVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Additions to propertyand equipment
Disposal of finance right-of-use assets
Purchases of investments
Praceeds from sale of Investments
Restriction of funds in Care-N-Care Inc,
Galn on sale of uncensolidated entities

Net cash used in Investing actlvities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from debt issuances and refundable entrance fees
Repayments of debt and entrance fees refunded
Distributions to noncontrelling interests

Repayments of finance leases
Net cash used in financing activities
NET {DECREASE} INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Baginning of year

End of year

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:
Cash pald during the year for Interest—net of amounts capltalized

Right-of-use assetadditions—operating
Right-of-use assetadditions —~finance
Debt to equlty converslen

Proparty and equipment purchases in accounts payable

See notes to consclidated financial statements,

2021 2020

$ 181,659 $ 160,665
15,770 44,976
(66,118)

(16,368) 12,289
{133,069) (49,107)
122,771 145,802
13,370 14,792
4,555

2,978 1,595
{2,484) [12,054)
(330)

1,691 7,822
5,560 5,583
|25,456) 140,365
8,871 20,791
164,153) 57,742
115,367) (16,771)
{8,578} {2,633)
{17,626) 309
{13,488) {11,728)
{12,163 {13,118)
18,238 3,176
55,856 448,505
{170,618} {142,198)
36

(1,795,209} {797,196)
1,835,739 803,338
89 {17,042)
15,007

{130,559} {137,965)
3,280 185,242
{32,418} {199,329)
{5,660 {5,583)
{7,365) {5,943}
{42,163} {25,613)
{106,908} 285,027
328,671 43,644

§ 221,755 $ 328,671
§ 15482 $ 17,507
§ 17,969 $ 85,373
$ 7,521 $ 24,708
$ $ 10,719
s 5122 & 9,282




THE MOSES H. CONE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AND AFFILIATES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021 AND 2020

1. DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING
POLICIES '

Organization and Business—The Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital {the “Parent Corporation”), a
nonstock, not-for-profit, parent holding company and its affiliates: The Moses H. Cone Memorial
Hospital Operating Corporation {the “Operating Corporation”); ARMC Health Care {ARMC); The Moses
Cone Medical Services, Inc. (“Medical Services”); The Moses Cone Physician Services, Inc. (“Physician
Services”); The Moses Cone Affiliated Physicians, Inc. {MCAP); The Wesley Long Community Health
Services Inc. (WLCHS); Triad Healthcare Network, LLC {THN); The Cone Health Foundation (the
“Foundation”); and The Alamance Community and Health Foundation {d/b/a “Impact Alamance”) were
established to provide health care services and community health programs to the residents of Guilford
and Alamance Counties in North Carolina, and the surrounding regional area. The organization operates
as anh integrated network of health services called Cone Health (the “Health System”). The Health
System seeks to provide affordable and superior health care to patients through continued expansion
of acute care and nonhospital programs.

On Qctober 1, 2012, the Health System entered into a management services agreement {the
“Agreement”) with Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hospital Authority, which does business as Atrium Health
{(Atrium) {formerly Carolinas HealthCare System). Under the Agreement, the top five executives on the
leadership team became employees of Atrium, but continued to manage the Health System as a local
team in Greensboro, North Carolina. The Health System reimbursed Atrium for the salary and benefits
costs of these executives. The terms of the Agreement also called for the Health System to pay Atrium
an annual management fee based on a percentage of net revenue. The Health System continued to be
governed by its local and independent board of trustees,

Effective October 1, 2019, the Health System and Atrium sighed a resolution agreement with the intent
to change the relationship between the parties {the “Resolution Agreement”). The Agreement was
amended and restated to a new relationship arising from a services agreement (the “Service
Agreement”). As a condition to the effectiveness of this Resolution Agreement, the Service Agreement
terminates and supersedes the Agreement as set forth in the Services Agreement. The top executives
previously employed by Atrium are now employees of the Health System effective January 1, 2020, The
annual management fee will be a flat annual fee,

In May of 2016, the Cperating Corporation entered into a management services agreement with
Randolph Hospital, inc. (“Randolph”), a North Carolina not-for-profit corporation located in Asheboro,

- North Carolina. Operating Corporation provides management assistance and support for an annual
management fee based on a percentage of Randolph’s annual net revenue. Randolph continues to be
governed by its local and independent Board of Trustees. In October 2020, American Healthcare
Systems’ bid to acquire substantially all of Randolph’s operating assets had received bankruptcy court
approval, which closed on July 1, 2021, After the close, the Health System moved its cancer services
from Randolph. Medical oncalogy (chemotherapy, infusion services and injections} is provided at a new
temporary location in Asheboro that opened on October 4, 2021, Radiation therapy remains at



Randolph and will eventually be moved to a new facility in Asheboro housing Cone Health Cancer
Center at Asheboro.

On August 12, 2020, the Heaith System announced that it had sighed a member substitution letter of
intent to merge with Norfolk, Virginia based Sentara Healthcare. The merger was intended to create a
combined organization with a value-based approach focused on keeping people healthy and well, while
providing high-quality, accessible and affordable health care.

On June 2, 2021, the Health System announced that Cone Health and Sentara Healthcare had mutually
decided not to move forward with an affiliation initially proposed in August 2020.

The Parent Corporation—The Parent Corporation was founded through a trust established by

Mrs. Bertha Lindau Cone as a memorial to her late husbhand, Mr. Moses H. Cone, Following the death of
Mrs. Bertha Lindau Cone, the cornerstone of The Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital was laid on May 2,
1951, and the facility opened with 53 beds on February 25, 1953, in Greensboro, North Carolina. In
1985, the Parent Corporation reorganized and created the Operating Corporation to operate its health
care facilities and provide health care services to the community. The Parent Corporation retained the
real estate and other noncurrent assets, while the current assets and liabilities were transferred to the
Operating Corporation. The real property is leased to the Operating Corporation pursuant to a lease of
10 years. The lease was renewed effective October 1, 2017, for a one-year term with an automatic
renewal clause.

The assets of the Parent Corporation primarily include an investment portfolio and the hospitals’ land,
buildings, and fixed equipment. Additionally, the Parent Corporation holds the long-term debt and
reports the related activity associated with financing certain hospital expansion projects. The majority
of cash and investments held by the Parent Corporation have been invested in securities for the
purpose of funding future capital requirements. Certain assets have been classified as noncurrent in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets due to these designations,

The Operating Corporation—Acute care hospital services are provided to the community by The Moses
H. Cone Memorial Hospital, Wesley Long Hospital, The Cone Behavioral Health Hospital, and Annie
Penn Hospital. In February 2020, The Women’s Hospital of Greensboro closed and moved into the new
Cone Health Women’s & Children’s Center on the campus of The Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital.
The former Women’s Hospital of Greensboro campus was repurposed in April 2020 through March
2021 to care for severely ill novel coronavirus (COVID-19) patients. In September 2021, the building was
sold.

In addition to services at the hospitals, the Operating Corporation includes long-term care

services through Penn Nursing Center, oncology services at Cone Health Cancer Center, various
outpatient services at MedCenter operations in Kernersvilie, High Point, Greensboro, Mebane,
Burlington and Reidsville, outpatient rehabilitation services, retail pharmacy services, wellness services,
and varlous physician office practices. Annie Penn Hospital receives support from a foundation, the
Annie Penn Memorial Hospital Foundation.

ARMC—ARMC was founded primarily to coordinate and support the delivery of health services in
Alamance County, North Carolina, and the surrounding area. The not-for-profit affiliates of the
corparation include Alamance Regional Medical Center, Inc., a not-for-profit acute care hospital; ARMC
Physicians Care, Inc., an 8-practice physician group entity; Alamance Extended Care, Inc. (AEC), a ,
continuing care retirement community which includes accommodations and services at various levels of
care—independent living, assisted living, and skilled nursing care; and ARMC Foundation, Inc., 2



charitable foundation. The Parent Corporation became the sole member of the ARMC entities effective
May 1, 2013. On July 14, 2020, AEC sold 32 skilled care licenses to an unrelated party and on July 27,
2020 AEC sold 22 skilled care licenses to an unrelated party. There are 27 skilled bed licenses remaining
with AEC. Income from the sale of the licenses of approximately $1.1 million was recognized in other
nonoperating (expense) income - net on the consolidated statements of operations for the year ending

September 30, 2020.

Medical Services, Physician Services, and MCAP—These entities provide both administrative and
clinical services to support Cone Health physician-related strategic initiatives. Services provided by
these entities includes numerous specialty, primary care, anclllary and hospitalist services.

THN--THN is a clinically integrated network of community physicians and the Health System organized
to improve health care in Guilford County, Alamance County, and the surrounding region through care
management, evidence-based medical practices, and integrated information and data systems. THN is a
designated accountable care organization.

The Foundation and Impact Alamance—The Foundation operates as a charltable foundation created to
support and promote community health programs in concert with the Health System, The Foundation
was capitalized with $50 million received in October 1997 from the Health System and $60 million
received from the Health System in April 1999. In connection with the acquisition of ARMC, the Health
System established Impact Alamance with a contribution of $54 million to support and promote
community health programs in Alamance County in concert with other Health System activities. The
grant activities of the Foundation and Impact Alamance are not considered core to the provision of
health care services and therefore are included in nonoperating expense—net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

WLCHS—WLCHS is a holding company for the Health System’s taxable subsidiaries, including:

Care N’ Care Insurance Company of North Carolina, inc. (CNCNC)—CNCNC was established in 2015 as
an 80% owned entity licensed to provide health insurance in North Carolina, with the remaining 20%
held by an unaffiliated entity. CNCNC, in partnership with THN providing patient care management
functians, provides insurance coverage through a Medicare Advantage plan called “Health Team
Advantage”. On August 31, 2017, the Health System purchased the remaining 20% ownership in CNCNC
from the noncontrolling interest holder for $17.6 million.

Wellsmith LLC—Welismith LLC was organized In December 2015 as a 50% owned entity for the purpose
of developing and licensing of proprietary technology for a web-based chronic disease management
portal and consumer application. Wellsmith LLC is reported an a consolidated basis due to the Health
System’s majority control of the Wellsmith LLC board of directors. As of March 12, 2020, $10.7 million
of debt was converted to equity, increasing WLCHS' ownership percentage to 76.96%. In October 2020,
the Health System decided to end the relationship with Wellsmith and the company is in the process of

being dissolved.

Insurance Casualty and Risk Enterprise, LTD—0On August 14, 2017, the Health System created
Insurance Casualty and Risk Enterprise, LTD, (“iCare”}, a limited liability tax-exempt entity incorporated
in the Cayman Islands, for the purpose of providing risk financing and claims management services to
the Health System for medical malpractice and general liability claims up to the self-insured limit of

$4 million per claim. The coverage was effective beginning October 1, 2017. iCare is domiciled in the
Cayman Islands and regulated by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority.



Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries for which
the Health System has a controliing financial interest, All intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Basis of Presentation—The consolidated financial statements of the Health System have been prepared
on the accrual basis in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and with
the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB} Accounting Standards Codification
(ASC) 958, Not-for-Profit Entitles.

Based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions, the Health System classifies
resources into two categories: without donor restrictions and with donor restrictions,

Net assets without danor restrictions are free of donor-imposed restrictions. All revenues, gains, and
losses that are not restricted by donors are included in this classification. All expenses are reported as
decreases in net assets without donor restrictions. Net assets with donor restrictions are subject to
donor-imposed restrictions that will be met either by actions of the Health System or the passage of
time. These net assets include donor restricted endowments and unconditional pledges. Generally,
donor-imposed restrictions of these assets permit the Health System to use all or part of the income
earned on related investments only for certain general or specific purposes.

Expirations of donor restrictions on net assets {i.e., the donor stipulated purpose has been fulfilled
and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed) are reported as net assets released from restrictions in
the consolidated statements of changes in net assets.

Contributions which impose restrictions that are met in the same fiscal year they are received are
reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions.

Excess of revenues over expenses from consolidated operations reflect all transactions that change net
assets without donor restrictions, except for contributions for capital improvements, investment return
in excess of or less than amounts designated for current operations, nonperiodic changes in defined
henefit plans, changes In the fair value of derivative financial instruments, losses on the extinguishment
of debt, and certain nonrecurring items.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with

GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and labilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and certain
investments in highly fiquid debt instruments with original maturities at the time of purchase of
three months or less.

short-Term Investments—Short-term investments include certain investments in mutual fund
securities that are expected to be used in current operations.

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out methad) or net realizable
value. Inventories include medical and surgical supplies and pharmaceuticals.

Long-Term Investments—Investments in equity securities with readily detarminable fair values,
investments in cammon/commingled/collective trusts, and all investments in debt securities are
measured at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Interests in alternative investments, whose operating and financial policies the Health System’s
management has virtually no influence over, are measured at market value in the accompanying
consclidated balance sheets. Investment income (including realized gains and losses on investments,
interest, and dividends) is included In excess of revenues over expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Changes in unrealized gains and losses on equity investments
are included as investment income in the accompanying consclidated statements of operations.

The Health System periodically evaluates investments that have declined below original cost to
determine if the decline is other than temporary. If the investment decline in value below cost is
determined to be ather than temporary, the foss is recorded as a realized loss.

Assets Limited as to Use—Assets [imited as to use include cash and investments held by the trustee
under bond indenture agreements and certain long-term investments. The long-term investments
include investments held by CNCNC required by regulators and investments designated to support and
promote community health programs for the Foundation, Annie Penn Foundation, Impact Alamance,
and ARMC Foundation. Assets limited as to use that are required for settlement of current liabHities are
reported in current assets.

Other Current Assets—Other current assets consist primarily of third-party receivables, prepaid
expenses, and sales tax receivables.

Contract liabilities—Contract liahilities includes Medicare advance payments under the Coranavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) and reservation deposits and nonrefundable portion
of entrances fees paid by residents of AEC. The entrance fees vary according to the type and size of the
residence and contract type. When the residents take occupancy, the nonrefundable portions are
recognized as revenue based on amortization over the life expectancy of each resident in the
independent living units.

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are recorded at cost or, if donated, at fair market
value at the date of receipt. Depreciation is recorded over the estimated useful life of each class of
depreciable assets and is computed using the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes.

In accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, the Health System reviews its long-lived
assets and certaln identiflable intangibles for evidence of impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. See Asset
Impairment below for information related to adjustments to carrying value of intangible assets in fiscal
year 2020.

In 2018, the Health System began construction on the Cone Health Women’s and Children’s Center at
Moses Cone Hospital, a new facility for women’s and children’s services on the Campus of Moses Cone
Hospital. Upon completion of the facility in February 2020, the Health System moved clinical operations
of the Women’s Hospital to the new facility. As a result of the transfer of operations out of the
Women’s Hospital, the Health System determined the useful life of the Women's Hospital assets would
end at the end of fiscal year 2020. The Health System recorded accelerated depreciation expense
associated with the new useful life of the assets of $2.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2020.

In July 2020, AEC sold a portion of their bed licenses to operate skilled nursing home beds. There is no
plan to continue fo operate the skilled nursing home known as Edgewood Place, which is a division of
AEC. Therefore, depreciation was accelerated so that all remaining equipment and real property were
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fully depreciated. The depreciation on the equipment was $0.4 million and the real property was
$5.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2020.

Right of Use Assets—Right of use assets represent the Health System’s right to use the underlying
assets for the |ease term,

Goodwill—Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the assigned value of the net assets
of acquired entities. Goodwill is assessed annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
clrcumstances indicate that assets might be impalired, by applying a fair value-based test. The Health
System performed its annual goodwill impairment test as of September 30, 2021 and concluded there
was no impairment of goodwill. During 2020, $0.3 million of goadwill was written off related to the
sale of Advanced Home Care.

Noncontrolling Interests—Noncontrolling interests represent the minority stockholders’ proportionate
share of the net assets of certain consolidated subsidiaries. Revenues in excess of expenses are
allocated to the noncontroliing interests in proportion to their ownership percentage and are reflected
as (excess) of revenue over expenses attributable to noncontrolling interests in the consolidated
statements of operations. '

Impacts of COVID-19 Pandemic on Operations—In March 2020, the World Health Organization
declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic which continues to spread throughout the United
States and the world. As a result of this pandemic and in an effort to preserve resources for patients
infected with COVID-19, the Health System ceased elective surgeries from mid-March to May 2020,
resulting In significant unexpected revenue declines during that period.

The CARES Act provided funding to the Department of Health and Hurman Services (PHHS) Public Health
and Social Services Emergency Fund (Relief Fund), which provided funds to qualifying healthcare
providers treating COVID-19 patients to replace lost revenues or reimburse for COVID-19 related costs.
The Health System received approximately $28.1 million and recorded approximately $34.2 million of
revenue from the Relief Fund within Other Revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations in fiscal year 2021. The Health System received approximately $58.3 million and recorded
approximately $52.2 million of revenue from the Relief Fund within Other Revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations in fiscal year 2020, The unrecognized funds are
recorded in current portion of contract liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Qualifying Relief Fund payments are subject to repayment if not supported by equivalent lost revenue
and COVID-19 related costs and there are certain terms and conditions that must be met in order to
gualify for the grant funds. The Health System expects to be qualified to retain substantially all
payments received. Additionally, in 2020, DHHS Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services {CMS)
provided approximately $140.4 million of Medicare advance payments to the Health System, which are
recorded in cash and current portion of contract liability in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets as of September 30, 2020; these advances are to be recouped by partial withholding on
remittances beginning within one year of receipt. During 2021, 525,6 million of Medicare advance
payments have been recouped and approximately $114.9 million are recorded in cash and short term
investments and current portion of contract liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
as of September 30, 2021.

The Federal Emergency Management Agency {FEMA) provided funding through the State of North
Carolina to reimburse certain non-profit entities for actions due to the COVID-19 pandemic to save lives
or protect pubtic health and safety. The Health System recorded approximately $9.6 million in other
revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended September 30,
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2020 relating to FEMA funding. Revenue recognized during the year ended September 30, 2020 that
FEMA determined did not meet the reimbursement criteria was reversed during the year ended
September 30, 2021, and accordingly the Health System recorded this reversal of approximately ($6.3)
million net in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year

ended September 30, 2021.

Beginning in fiscal year 2021, the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS} began reimbursing
providers the administrative costs of administering COVID-19 vaccinations and testing. The Health
System recorded approximately $12.6 million for vaccinations and $4.8 million for testing in Other
Revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended September 30,

2021.

The coronavirus pandemic continues to evolve, therefore the future impact to financial and operating
results cannot be reasonably estimaied at this time. However, should the pandemic intensify, the
Health System may experience supply chain disruptions, including delays and price increases in
equipment, pharmaceuticals, and medical supplies due to the pandemic. Staffing, equipment and
pharmaceuticals and medical supplies shortages may impact our ability to admit and treat patients. The
Health System has incurred, and may continue to incur, increased expenses arising from the COVID-19
pandemic, including additional supply chain and other expenditures.

Net Patient Service Revenue—Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable
amounts from patients, third-party payors, and athers for services rendered, including estimated
retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party payors. Retroactive
adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and
adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined.

Charity Care—The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under its charity
care policy without charge or at amounts less than its established rates. Because the Health System
does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they are not reported as
net patient service revenue.

Other Revenue—Other revenue consists of cafeteria revenus, childcare center revenue, contract
pharmacy revenue, lease income and other non-patient-related revenues. Additionally, revenues on
restricted grant funds are recognized only to the extent of expenditures that satisfy the restricted
purpose of these grants. For the year ended September 30, 2021, grant revenue of $48.9 million, which
includes $45.3 million COVID-19 funds described above, is included in other revenue in the
accompanying statements of operations. For the year ended September 30, 2020, grant revenue of
$65.6 million, which includes $61.8 million COVID-19 funds described above, is included in other
trevenue in the accompanying statements of operations.

Premium Revenue—CNCNC generates premium revenue from members enrolied in its Medicare
Advantage Plan and the related revenue is recognized in the month in which members receive health

care services.

Claims Expense—Claims expense related to insurance coverage offered by CNCNC is recognized in the
period in which services are provided and includes an actuarially determined estimate of the cost of
services which have been incurred but not yet reported (IBNR). Claims expense totaled $161.9 million
and $128.1 miliion for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is included in
other direct expenses in the accompanying consolidated statermnents of operations.
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The liability for unpaid health claims and IBNR was $18.1 million and $16.0 million as of September 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively, and associated medical claims payable was $0.8 million and $0.5 million as
of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. These balances are included in accrued expenses in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Such estimates are based on the most current historical
claims experience of previous payments, changes in number of members, and estimates of health care
trend {cost, utilization, and intensity of services) changes. Revisions in the estimate of IBNR claims are
reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations in the year the changes occur.

Grant Expense—The Foundation and Impact Alamance record grants as expense In the period in which
the grants are authorized. Grant expense incurred by the Foundation and Impact Alamance of
approximately $6.2 million and $1.8 million in fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively, is included in
other nonoperating income—net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations,

Estimated Malpractice Costs—The provislon for estimated medical malpractice claims includes
estimates of the ultimate costs for both reported claims and claims incurred, but not reported. These
costs are included in accrued expenses and other noncurrent liabilities on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

Excess of Revenues over Expenses—Changes in net assets without donor restrictions, which are
excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, include inherent contributions, unrealized gains and
losses on investments and hedging derivative instruments, permanent transfers of assets to and from
affiliates for other than goods and services, pension-related changes other than net periodic pension
cost, and contributions of long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by
donor restriction were to be used for the purpose of acquiring such assets).

Income Taxes—All Health System entities, with the exception of WLCHS, its subsidiaries and iCARE,
have been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as tax exempt under Internal Revenue

Code 501(c)(3). As of September 30, 2021, and 2020, the Health System had no uncertain tax positions
under FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, requiring adjustments to its consolidated financial statements. The
Health System does not expect that unrecognized tax benefits will materially increase within the next
12 months. Interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, if any, would be reported in the
consolidated financial statements as income tax expense. Fiscal years 2018 through 2020 are subject to
examination by the federal and state taxing authorities. There are no income tax examinations
currently in process.

Fair Value Measurements—The Health System uses the framework established by the FASB for
measuring fair value and disclosures about fair value measurements. The Health System uses fair value
measurements in areas that include, but are not limited to, the valuation and impairment of short-term
and long-term investments and financial instruments, including derivatives.

US GAAP defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer
a liabllity {an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Additionally, the inputs
used to measure fair value are prioritized based on a three-level hierarchy. This hierarchy requires
entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The
three levels of inputs usad to measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1—Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets that
are available as of the measurement date
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Level 2--Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant
inputs are abservable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value
measurement

US GAAP permits, as a practical expedient, a reporting entity to measure the fair value of certain
investments without readily determinable fair values by using the reported net asset value {NAV) per
share of the investment without further adjustment if the investment is in an entity that meets the
description of an investment company whose underlying investments are measured at fair value as set

forth in the ASC.

Transfers between Levels—The availability of market observable data is manitered to assess the
appropriate classification of financial instruments within the fair value hierarchy. Changes in economic
conditions or valuation methodologies may require the transfer of financial instruments from one fair
value hierarchy level to another. The Health System evaluates the significance of transfers based on the
nature of the financial instrument and the size of the transfer.

Debt Issuance Costs—Debt issuance costs consist of underwriting costs, legal expenses, insurance, and
other direct costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt. Such costs are reported
within long-term debt in the consolidated balance sheets and amortized over the term of the bonds.

Valuation methods for the primary fair value measurements disclosed below are as follows:

Cash Equivalents, Patient and Other Recelvables, and Accounts Payable—The carrying amount
approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.

Investmenis—The Health System’s investments in equity securities and debt and equity mutual funds
are stated at fair value based on unadjusted quoied prices for identical assets In active markets that are
available as of the measurement date. Investments in common/commingled/collective trusts, and
alternative investments, which are recorded at fair value in the consclidated balance sheets, are
generally measured using the NAV per share reported by the respective fund managers or the general

partners.

The estimated fair values of certain alternative investments, such as private equity interests, are based
on valuations performed prior to the consolidated balance sheet date by the external investment
managers and adjusted for cash receipts, cash disbursements, and securities distributions through
September 30. Because alternative investments are not readily marketable, their estimated fair value is
subject to uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have been used had a ready
market for such investments existed. Such differences could be material.

The Health System’s management, with the assistance of a third-party investment consultant, where
appropriate, evaluates the NAV information and valuations provided by external fund managers or
general partners for appropriateness through review of the most recently available annual audited
financial statements and unaudited interim reporting for the respective funds, review of the
methodologies used to determine fair value, and comparisons of fund performance to market

benchmarks.

Interest Rate Swaps--The Health System is a party to three interest rate swap agreements. Swaps with
negative values of $24.1 million and $45.5 million as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, are
recorded in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets. Thare were no swaps with positive
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values as of September 30, 2021 and 2020. Interest rates swaps designated as cash flow hedges were
assessed for effectiveness at inception of the contracts and on an ongoing basis thereafter. Unreatized
gains and losses related to the effective portion of the swaps are recognized in other changes in net
assets without restriction and gains or losses related to ineffective portions are recognized in the excess
of revenue over expenses from consolidated operations. The unrealized gains and losses of interest
rate swaps not designated as cash flow hedges are recognized within investment income on
consolidated statements of operations.

The swaps are measured at fair value using pricing models, with all significant inputs derived from, or
corroborated by, observable market data, such as interest rates, futures pricing, and volatility metrics,
and accordingly are included in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

In October 2005, the Health System entered into a floating-to-fixed swap agreement with a notional
amount of $85.2 million for 30 years to hedge the floating-rate 2001 Series bonds. Under this
agreement, the Health System receives a floating interest rate based on the three-month London
InterBank Offered Rate (LIBOR) index and pays a fixed interest rate of 3.437%. The Series 2001 swap
was considered effective on September 30, 2021 and 2020, and $6.8 million unrealized gain and
$4.0 million unrealized loss, respectively, was reported in other changes in net assets without
restriction. This resulted in a corresponding cumulative liability of $17.3 million and $24.1 million,
respectively, included in accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In August 2013, the Health System entered into a floating-to-fixed swap agreement with a notlonal
amount of $48 million for 22 years to hedge the floating-rate 2011B Series bonds. Under this
agreement, the Health System receives a floating interest rate based on the one-month LIBOR index
and pays a fixed interest rate of 2,097%. The Series 2011B swap was considered effective on
September 30, 2021 and 2020, and $2.0 million unrealized gain and $1.6 million unrealized loss,
respectively, was reported in other changes in net assets without restriction, resulting in a
corresponding cumulative lizbility of $3.0 million and 5.0 million, respectively. Should the fair value of
the Series 2011B interest rate swap exceed negative $50 millian, the Health System would be required
to post collateral against the swap for amounts in excess of the $50 million threshold.

On October 6, 2016, the Health system entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notionai
amount of $100 million, a forward starting date of October 1, 2018, and a maturity date of October 1,
2048, to hedge the expected issuance of variable-rate debt in fiscal 2018 to fund construction projects.
The Health System pays a fixed rate of 1,336% and receives a variable rate of 70% of the ane-month
LIBOR index rate. The fair value of the swap of $3.7 million and $16.3 million as of September 30, 2021
and 2020, respectively, is included in other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. In
December 2017, the Health System issued $60 million of variable rate debt. At that time, the Health
System de-desighated $40 million of the interest rate swap. On September 30, 2021 and 2020, the
remaining $60 million of the Series 2018A swap still designated as a cash flow hedge was considered
effective. On September 30, 2021, the Health System reported realized gain of 53.8 million in
investment income and $16.4 million in other changes in net assets without restriction. At

September 30, 2020, the Health System reported realized loss of $5.0 million in investment income and
$(12.3) million in other changes in net assets without restriction.

Asset Impairment—During 2018, Wellsmith LLC began developing an updated version of the company’s
proprietary technology for a web-based chronic disease management portal and consumer application.
During 2020, management determined that the existing technology will not be marketed for sale or
licensing. Accordingly, Wellsmith LLC's product does not provide future cash flows; and therefore, an
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impairment charge to the software asset of $4.6 million was recorded and reported within other
nonoperating expense-net in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
September 30, 2020. No impairments were recorded during the year ended September 30, 2021,

Subsequent Events—The Health System evaluated events and transactions for potential recognition or
disclosure through January 24, 2022, the date the consolidated financial statements were issued. On
November 23, 2021, the Health System received approximately $10.6 million from the American
Rescue Plan. On December 16, 2021, the Health System received 3.3 million from the CARES Act.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging
Activities (“ASU 2017-12"), which is intended to better align risk management activities and financial
reporting for hedging relationships. The new standard eliminates the requirement to separately
measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a
hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item. It also
eases certain documentation and assessment requirements. ASU 2017-12 is effective for fiscal years
bheginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after

December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard had no material impact
on the Hospital System’s consolidated financlal statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirement for Fair Value Measurement (“ASU 2018-13"), This
update focuses on improving the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to the financial statements by
facilitating clear communication of the information required by U.S. GAAP that is most important to
users of each entity’s financial statements. Specifically certain disclosure requirements are removed
(the amount of, and reasons for, transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy; the
policy for timing of transfers between levels; the valuation processes for Level 3 fair value
measurements) while it modifies and adds certain other disclosures (the changes in unrealized gains
and losses for the peried included in other comprehensive income for recurring Level 3 fair value
measurements held at the end of the repaorting period, and the range and weighted average of
significant unohservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements), The amendments
regarding changes in unrealized gains and losses, the range and weighted average of significant
unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements, and the narrative description of
measurement uncertainty should be applied prospectively for only the most recent period in the initial
fiscal year of adoption. All other amendments should be applied retrospectively to all periods
presented upon their effective date. ASU 2018-13 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of this standard had no material
impact on the Hospital System’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—internal-Use
Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud
Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract {ASU 2018-15), The amendment addresses
customer’s accounting for implemented costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a
service contract and alms to reduce complexity in the accounting for costs of implementing a cloud
computing service arrangement. The amendments require a customer in a hosting arrangement that is
a service contract to determine which implementation costs to capitalize as an asset related to service
contract and which costs to expense. Additionally, it requires the customer to expense the capitalized
frnplementation costs over the term of the hosting arrangement. ASU 2018-15 is effective for fiscal
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years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Heaith
System adopted ASU 2018-15 using a prospective approach and the adoption of this standard had no
material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-16, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, Overnight index Swap Rate as o Benchmark Interest Rate for
Hedge Accounting Purposes {“ASU 2018-16"), which provides guidance on risks associated with financial
assets or liabilities permitted to be hedged. ASU 2018-16 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted but FASB requires this standard to be adopted
concurrently with ASU 2017-12, The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Health System’s
consolidated financial statements,

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying
the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606 {"ASU 2018-18"), which provides guidance on whether
certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be accounted for with
revenue under Topic 606. The provisions of this update are to be applied retrospectively to the date of
the initial application of Topic 606. The provisions of ASU 2018-18 are effective for reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of this
standard had no impact on the Health System’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2021, the FASB issues ASU 2021-03, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Accounting
Alternative for Evaluation Triggering Events (“ASU 2021-03"), which provides an accounting alternative
to perform the goodwill impairment triggering event evaluation. ASU 2021-03 is effective on a
prospective basis for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. ASU 2021-03 should not be
retroactively adopted for interim financlal statements already issued in the year of adoption. The
adoption of this standard had no impact on the Health Systerm’s consolidated financial statements

In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Toplc 848), which clarifies that
certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract modifications and hedge
accounting apply to derivatives that are affected by the discounting transition, The amendments in ASU
2021-01 were effective immediately for all entities. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the
Health System’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326):
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13"). ASU 2016-13 provides
guidance regarding the treatment of expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader
range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those
fiscal years. The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Health System’s consolidated financial
statements.

Not Yet Adopted— In January 2017, the FASB Issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other
{Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment (“ASU 2017-04"). ASU 2017-04 simplified the
subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. ASU
2017-04 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for
interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on dates after Januaryl, 2017. The Health
System is currently evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on its consolidated
financial statements.
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In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-17, Consolidation (Topic 810): Targeted Improvements
to Related Party Guidance for Variable Interest Entities (“ASU 2018-17"), which allows a reporting entity
to not apply VIE guidance to legal entities under common control if both the parent and the legal entity
being evaluated for consclidation are not public business entities. The provisions of this update are to
be applied retrospectively with a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings. ASU 2018-17 Is
effective for fiscal years heginning after December 15, 2021, Early adoption is permitted. The Health
System is currently evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14, Compensation—Retirerent Benefits—Defined Benefit
Plans (Subtopic 715-20]): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined
Benefit Plans {“ASU 2018-14"}, which is intended to identify and modify the disclosure requirements for
employers that sponsor defined benefit pension or other postretirement plans. The provisions of this
update are to be applied using a modified retrospective approach. ASU 2018-14 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Health System is currently
evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments: Credit Losses (Topic 326),
Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842), which addresses feedback regarding
implementation chatlenges when adopting a major update. The FASB developed a philosophy to extend
and simplify how effective dates are staggered between larger public companies and all other entities.
ASU 2019-10 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. The Health System is
currently evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on its consolidated financlal

statements,

In November 20189, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments: Credit Losses {"ASU 2019-11"), which clarifies or addresses specific issues about certain
aspects in ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13") issued by FASSB in June 2016. ASU 2016-13 provides
guidance regarding the treatment of expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader
range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those
fiscal years. The Health System is currently evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on
its consolidated financial statements.

fn September 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-07, Not-for-Profit Entities {Topic 958): Presentation and
Disclosures by Not-for-Profit Entities for Contributed Nonfinancial Assets {"ASU 2020-07"), which
increases transparency of contributed nonfinancial assets for not-for-profit entities through
enhancements to presentation and disclosures. The amendments in ASU 2020-07 are effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2021 and should be applied on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is
permitted, The Health System is currently evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on
its conselidated financial statements.

In July 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-05, Lessors — Certain Leases with Variable Lease Payments
{Topic 842) (“ASU 2021-05"}, which amends the lessor lease classification in Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC"} 842 for leases that include variable lease payments that are not based on an index
or rate. Under the amended guidance, lessors will classify a lease with variable payments that do not
depend on an index or rate as an operating lease if the lease would have been classified as a sales-type
lease or a direct financing lease under the previous ASU 842 classification criteria, and sales-type or
direct financing lease classification would result in a Day 1 loss. ASU 2021-05 is effective for annual
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periods beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods therein, with early adoption
permitted. The Health System is currently evaluating the provisions of this update and theirimpact on
its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805) — Accounting for
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2021-08"), which requires
that an entity recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business
combination in accordance with Topic 606 and account for the related revenue contracts in accordance
with Topic 606 as if it had originated the contacts. The amendments in ASU 2021-08 are effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The
Health System is currently evaluating the provisions of this update and their impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-09, Leases — Discount Rate for Lessees That Are Not
Public Business Entities (Topic 842) (“ASU 2021-09"), which allows lessees to make the risk-free rate
election by class of underlying asset, rather than at the entity-wide level. The amendments in ASU
2021-09 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, The Health System is currently evaluating the
provisions of this update and their impact on its consolidated financial statements.

OPERATING REVENUE

Net patient service revenue is reported at the amount reflecting the consideration to which the Health
System expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payors (including health insurers and government programs), and others and
includes variable consideration for retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with
third-party payors. Generally, the Health System bilis patients and third-party payors several days after
the services are performed or the patient is discharged from the facility. Revenue is recognized as
performance obligations are satisfied.

Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the Health
System. For most services, revenue is recognized over time as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits of the services when provided. Performance obligations for outpatient
services and physician office visits are generally satisfied over a period of less than one day. Revenue
for performance obligations satisfied over more than one day, such as inpatient hospital services, is
recognized based on charges incurred in relation to total expected (or actual) charges. The Health
Systemn believes this method provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of services to the patient.
Revenue for performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, such as retail pharmacy prescriptions,
is recognized when the goods are provided to the customer.

The Health System determines the transaction price based on its standard charges for goods and
services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party payors, discounts
provided to uninsured patients in accordance with the Health System’s policy, and implicit price
concessions provided to uninsured patients and insured patients with copayment obligations. The
Health System determines its estimates of contractual adjustments, discounts, and implicit price
concessions based on contractual agreements, its discount policies, and historical experience. In
determining these estimates, the Health System uses a portfolio approach as a practical expedient by
accounting for patient contracts with common characteristics as collective groups rather than
individually. The financial statement effects of using this practical expedient are not materially different
from an individual contract approach.
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Through its Triad Healthcare Network (THN) accountahble care organization (ACO), the Health System
enters into risk-based agreements with third-party payors for the care of various populations of
patients, These arrangements represent potentlal variable consideration for the underlying contracts
with patients and are considered in determining the transaction price for those contracts. Asa
participant in Medicare’s Next Generation ACO Madel, THN receives a benchmark spending target for
Medicare patients in its network. If actual Medicare spending for these patients is less than the
benchmark, THN shares in the savings with the federal government. Conversely, if spending is above
the henchmark, THN must reimburse the federal government for the excess. THN also participates in
similar risk agreements with insurers operating Medicare Advantage and Commercial insurance plans,
Benchmark spending under these agreements varies with the premiums received as adjusted by patient
risk factors and network quality measures.

The Health System has agreements with government and third-party payors that provide for payments
to the Health System at amounts different from its established rates. A summary of the payment
arrangements with major third-party payors is as follows:

Medicare—Inpatient acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid primarily
at prospectively determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors and cover both operating and capital
costs. Outpatient services are generally reimbursed at prospectively determined rates. The Health
System is reimbursed for cost-reimbursable items at a tentative rate, with final settlement determined
after submission of annual cost reports by the Health System and audits thereof by the Medicare
Administrative Contractor. The Health System's classification of patients under the Medicare program
and the appropriateness of their admission are subject to review by an independent quality review
organization.

The Health System’s Medicare cost reports have been audited by the Medicare Administrative
Contractor through September 30, 2016,

Medicaid—inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively
determined rates per discharge. Outpatient services were reimbursed based on 70% of actual costs
incurred through June 30, 2021. The Health System’s Medicaid cost reports have been settled through
September 30, 2017.

Effective July 1, 2021, North Carolina changed its Medicald program and moved most Medicaid
beneficiaries to managed care plans. These managed care plans, known as Prepaid Health Plans,
receive premium payments from the State based on enrolled beneficiaries and contract with hospitals
and other providers of patient services. Rates paid to providers are subject to state-mandated floors
that approximate the totals paid under the preceding Medicaid program,. This includes the
supplemental payments previously made through the Medicaid Reimbursement Initiative and GAP
Assessment Plan described below, which are not available under a managed care program and
therefore ended as of July 1, 2021,

Net revenue from the Medicare and Medicaid programs accounted for 13.8% and 11.9%, respectively,
of the Health System’s net patient service revenue for the year ended September 30, 2021, and 15.5%
and 11.1%, respectively, of the Health System’s net patient service revenue for the year ended
September 30, 2020. Recorded estimates are subject to change as a result of complex laws and
regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs, which are subject to interpretation. In
addition, Medicare Advantage plans accounted for 23.5% of net revenue for the year ended
September 30, 2021, and 21.0% of net revenue for the year ended September 30, 2020. Medicare
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beneficiaries may elect coverage through these plans that are based on Medicare benefit and payment
terms but marketed and administered by commercial insurers.

The Health System has participated in the North Carolina Medicaid Reimbursement Initiative {the “MRI
Plan”) since 1996. In connection therewith, the Health System received and recognized as patient
service revenue $25.3 million and $11.0 million from the MRI Plan during the years ended

September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively,

Beginning in 2012, the Health System began participating in the North Carolina Gap Assessment Plan
(the “GAP Plan”). The GAP Plan is designed to fund hospitals for a portion of unreimbursed costs of
treating Medicaid and uninsured patients. Under the GAP Plan, hospitals periodically pay an
assessment to the state of North Carolina {the “State”) and periodically receive Medicaid payments
from the State. The total assessment payments made by the Health System were $24.1 million and
$33.8 million for the years ended 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are reported as other direct
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The total GAP Plan receipts for
the Health System were $66.6 million and $93.4 million for the years ended 2021 and 2020,
respectively, and are reported in patient service revenue (net of contractual adjustments) in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations,

Under the Medicare and Medicaid programs, the Health System is entitled to reimbursements for
certain patient charges at rates determined by federal and state governments, Differences between
established billing rates and reimbursements from these programs are recorded as contractual
adjustments to arrive at net patient service revenue, Final determination of amounts due from
Medicare and Medicaid programs is subject to review by these programs. Changes resulting from final
determination are reflected as changes in estimates, generally in the year of determination. In the
opinion of management, adequate provision has been made for any adjustments that may result from
such reviews. Net patient service revenue increased approximately $6.0 million and $6.7 million for the
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, due to prior-year retroactive adjustments that
differed from amounts previously estimated.

The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and local
governments. These laws and regutations include, but are not necessarily fimited to, matters, such as
licensure, accreditation, and gavernment health care participation requirements, reimbursement for
patient services, and Medicare and Medicaid fraud and abuse. Recently, government activity has
increased with respect to investigations and/or allegations concerning possible violations of fraud and
abuse statutes and/or regulations by health care providers. Violations of these laws and regulations
could result in expulsion from government health care programs together with the imposition of
significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments for patient services previously billed.
Management believes that the Health System is in compliance with fraud and abuse, as well as other
applicable government laws and regulations. Compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject
to future government review and interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown or unasserted
at this time.

Commercial and Other Third-Party Payors—The Health System has entered into contracts with
third-party payors providing coverage for individuals in its service area. Payment arrangements within
these contracts include per case or per diem rates or amounts based on a percentage of Medicare
payment or the Health System’s charges. Payment rates vary based on coverage criteria established by
the third-party payors and the products and copayment terms applicable to specific insured groups or
individuals.
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Charity Care—The Health System provides charity care to patients who are financially unable to pay for
the health care services received and who are unable to access federal or state entitlement programs.
The Health System does not pursue collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care and
does not report such amounts as revenue. Uninsured patients whose total annual household income is
at or below 200% of the federal poverty level may be eligible for charity care. Uninsured patients whose
income exceeds 200% of the federal poverty level also may be eligible for charity care if incurred
charges are beyond the patient’s ability to pay. The federal poverty level is established by the federal
government and is based on income and family size. The Health System provided charity care at an
estimated cost of approximately $91.9 million and $105.7 million for the years ended September 30,
2021 and 2020, respectively. The estimated costs of providing charity services are calculated based on
the ratio of cost to charges from the Health System’s consolidated financial statements applied to each
period’s gross uncompensated charges for charity care patients.

The composition of net patient service revenue by primary payor class for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020
Medicare and Medicare Advantage S 850,930 S 759,765
Medicaid 255,782 215,233
Third-party payors 1,065,165 999,513
Self-pay 32,689 37,102
Net patient service revenue 52,204,566 52,011,613

The composition of net patient service revenue by primary service category for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020
Inpatient hospital services $ 909,744 S 801,312
Outpatient hospital services 819,956 759,586
Professional services 323,053 284,730
Long term care 18,465 28,855
Retail pharmacy 75,750 67,992
THN risk share ravenue 57,598 69,128
Net patient service revenue $2,204,566 $2,011,613

Other revenues for which performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time primarily include the
provision of goods to customers such as pharmacy prescriptions, cafeteria and nursing home resident
meals, and other goods. Services provided over time include medical services provided under contract
to other entities, administrative and care management services provided by Triad Healthcare Network,
management, and other services. Revenues from grants and rentals are not within the scope of

ASC 606. Grant revenues are generally considered conditional promises to give and are recognized as
conditions on which they depend are substantially met. Rental revenues, representing the Health
System’s lease of properties to third parties, are recognized over the lease term.
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3.

Amounts related to services provided to patienis which do not meet the conditions of unconditional
rights to payment at the end of the reporting period are contract assets. As of September 30, 2021, and
2020, the Health System did not have any contract assets.

LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

At September 30, 2021, financial assets available for general expenditures within one year of the
balance sheet date, are as follows {in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents S 221,765 $ 328,671
Short-term investments 147,096 26,688
Patient receivables, net 236,777 175,625
Investments available to be liquidated 726,718 737,736
Financial assets available within one year $ 1,332,356 S 1,268,720

To help manage unanticipated ligquidity needs, the Health Plan has committed lines of credit with a total
borrowing capacity of $50 million at September 30, 2021 which it could draw upon.

The asset allocation of the Health Plan’s investment portfolio is broadly diversified and is designed to
maximize the probability of achieving the Health Plan’s long-term investment objectives at an
appropriate level of risk, while maintaining a level of liquidity to meet the needs of ongoing portfolio
management. The nature of certain investments restricts the liquidity and availability of these
investments to be available for the general expenditures of the Health Plan within one year of the
combined balance sheet date, These investments have been excluded from the amounts above.

INVESTMENTS AND ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE

The Health System’s investments, including assets limited as to use, consist of cash and cash
equivalents, marketable equity and fixed-income securities, hedge funds, and private investment funds.

Due to the adoption of ASU 2016-01 with further clarifications made with the issuance of ASU 2018-03
and 2018-04, as of September 30, 2020, the Health System’s equity securities are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized through net income. As such, the adoption of these new
standards as of October 1, 2019 resulted in certain investments that were previously recorded at cost
being recorded at fair value. This resulted in a cumulative-effect adjustment of $66 miltion recorded to
net asset without donor restriction on the accompanying conselidated balance sheets.

224 -



At September 30, 2021, the composition of the Health System’s investments and assets limited as to

use, is as follows (in thousands of dollars}):

Fair Value Measurement Using

Quoted Prices  Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for ~ Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total {Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Fixed-income securities and
funds S 709,912 $ 324,853 S 385,059 S -
Equity securities and funds 262,467 262,467
Subtotal 972,379 $ 587,320 $ 385,059 $ -
Investments measured at
net asset value 423,765
Total investments and assets
limited as to use S 1,396,144

At September 30, 2020, the composition of the Health System’s investments and assets limited as to

use, Is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Fair Value Measurement Using

Quoted Prices  Significant
in Active Other Significant
Markets for  Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
Total {Level 1) {Level 2) {Level 3)
Fixed-income securities and
funds S 801,169 $694,472 $1086,697 s -
Equity securities and funds 80,019 80,019
Subtotal 881,188 $ 774,491 $ 106,697 -
Investments measured at
het asset value 420,202
Total investments and assets
limited as to use $1,301,390
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The investments and assets limited as to use are included in the captions in the consolidated balance
sheets as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020

Short-term investments S 147,096 S 26,688
Long-term investments 941,289 959,659
Assets limited as to use: .

Foundation and Impact Alamance 140,842 164,783

AEC 3,014 2,711

Under bond indenture agreements held by trustee 5,475 19,584

CNCNC 39,136 39,226

ICARE 17,262 9,245

Other 5,827 4,557

Total assets limited as to use ' 211,556 240,106

Less assets limited as to use that are

required for current liabilities {5,802) (6,674}
Assets limited as to use—net of portion

required for current liabilities 205,754 233,432
Deferred compensation {within other assets) 96,203 74,937
Total investments and assets limited as to use S 1,396,144 S 1,301,390

Investment securities are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to
the level of risk associated with certain investment securities and the level of uncertainty related to
changes in the value of investment securities, it Is at least reasonably possible that changes in risks in
the near term could materially affect the Health System’s investment balances reported in the
consolidated balance sheets.

-26-



A summary of the investments measured at NAV as of September 30, 2021, is as follows (in thousands

of dollars):

Unfunded

Fair Value Commitment

Investments in commaon,
comingled, and
collective trusts:
Equity securities and

funds $ 50,074

Monthly, Qtrly, Annual Qtr Anniversary

g .
5 50074 5§ -
Alternative investment

funds:
Private equity $211,337 5 66,132
Private debt 36,385 23,559
Private debt 11,751 7,005
Hedge funds 71,971
Hedge funds 17,121
Real estate 8,337 7,003
Real estate 44,860

$ 401,762 $ 103,699

Redemption
Frequency

Semi-monthly, and monthly

N/A-Aliguid
N/Aa-Iliquid
Monthly and Quarterly

Monthly, and Quarterly
N/A-Iliquid
Quarterly

Redemption
Notice Period

5 day to 30 days

N/A liquid
N/A-lliguid
45-90 days
20-95 days
3-90 days
N/ guid
90 days

A summary of the investments measured at NAV as of September 30, 2020, is as foltows (in thousands

of dollars):

Monthly, Qtrly, Annual Qir Anniversary

Unfunded
Fair Value Commitment
Investments in commaon,
comingled, and
coliective trusts:
Equity securities and
funds S 44,620 5 -
S 44,620 [ -
Alternative investment
funds :
Private equity $150,698 $ 86,371
Private debt 32,838 23,008
Private debt 12,681 7,005
Hedge funds 60,555
Hedge funds 50,561
Real estate 4,751 9,729
Real estate 63,498
$ 375,582 5125,113
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Redemption
Frequency

Semi-monthly, and monthly

N/A-Illiguid
N/A-Iliguid
Manthly and Quarterly

Monthly, and Quarterly
N/A-Iiquid
Quarterly

Redemption
Notice Period

5 day to 30 days

N/A-llTquid
N/A-Hlliguid
45-90 days
20-95 days
3-90 days
N/A-I1quid
90 days



Alternative investments include limited partnerships, limited liability corporations, and offshore
investment funds. Included in investments of the limited partnerships are certain types of financial
instruments, including, among others, futures and forward contracts, options, and securities sold not
yet purchased, intended to hedge against changes in the market value of investments. These
instruments may contain elements of both credit and market risks. Such risks include, but are not
limited to, limited liquidity, dependence upon key individuals, emphasis on speculative investments
{both derivatives and nonmarketable investments}, and nondisclosure of portfolio composition.
Because alternative investments are not readily marketable, their estimated value is subject to
uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the value that would have been used had a ready market
for such investments existed, Such differences could be material.

Estimated fair values of private equity investments are based on a series of inputs that provide support
1o the valuations provided by the private equity managers, including analysis of the investment
statements and supporting documents performed by management and its investment adviser, as well
as audited consolidated financial statements provided by external independent auditors. Portfolio
updates are provided by the managers at least quarterly and are updated more frequently for major
events or new capital investment in the portfolio.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment of Investments—The Health System evaluates the near-term
prospects for improvement of unrealized investment losses in relation to the severity and duration of
the loss for each individual investment by analyzing the earning trends and economic conditions and
other sources of information. Based on this evaluation, the Health System recorded realized losses of
42.98 million on investments that were other-than-temporarily impaired at September 30, 2021. The
total amount of unrealized losses remaining at September 30, 2021, was $6.3 million, of which

$0.2 million relates to investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more
than 12 months. The Health System recorded realized losses of $4.3 million on investments that were
other-than-temporarily impaired at September 30, 2020. The total amount of unrealized losses
remaining at September 30, 2020, was $9.5 million, of which $2.3 million relates to investments that
have been in a continuous unrealized loss position for more than 12 months.

At September 30, 2021, the fair value and gross unrealized losses of avallable-for-sale securities were as
follows {in thousands of dollars):

September 30, 2021
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
US equity
securities and funds S 98,669 $(3,662) $ - S - $§ 98,669 5{3662)
International equity
securities and funds 28,071 (1,038) - - 28,071 {1,038)
Total 126,740 $(4,700) S - 5 - $126,740  §(4,700)
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At September 30, 2020, the fair value and gross unrealized losses of available-for-sale securities were as
follows (in thousands of dollars):

September 30, 2020

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value lLosses Value Losses Value Losses
International equity
securities and funds $ - $ - 510814  S{1,346) $10,814  5(1,346)
Total S____“ $___ 510,814  §{1,346) $ 10,814 S {1,346)

Investment income and gains and losses for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, consist of
the following (in thousands of dollars}):

2021 2020
Dividend and interest income S 22,048 S 21,521
Unrealized gain {loss)—equity securities 78,510 § 515
Realized gain {loss)--net 54,559 49,107
Total § 155,117  $ 71,143

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliated Entities—The Health System’s investment in unconsolidated
affiliated entities reflects the Health System’s ownership interests in various health care-related entities
accounted for primarily through the equity method.
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A summary of investments, ownership percentages, investment amounts, and the Health System’s
share of net income for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows (in thousands of
dollars):

Health System’s Share
Parcent Ownership Investment Balance of Net Income
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Investment name:
Diagnostic Radiology
and Imaging, LLC 50,00% 5000% § 735 § 724 § 1,196 S 1,112
AuthoraCara Collective
(previously Hospice at
Greenshoro} 50.00 50.00 32,929 27,935 4,994 10,696
Advanced Homecare, [nc. 34,73 34.73 8,988 7,917 1,071 92
Health Care Casualty
Insurance limited 25,00 25,00 2,459 {128) 2,587 {(607)
Health Care Casualty Risk
Retention Group, Inc. 25,00 25.00 630 (219) 50
Randolph Cancer Center, LLC 40,00 40.00 {(371) 6,102 {6,473) 221
QOther 7,852 8,615 (672) 470
Total $52,592  $51,799 S 2484 512,034

Financial information related to investments in unconsolidated affiliated entities at September 30, 2021
and 2020, is summarized as follows {in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020
Assets $ 162,439 S 183,875
Liabilities 45,071 58,811
Equity 117,378 125,064
Total revenue 115,146 259,309
Total expenses 121,872 184,026
Net income (6,725) 75,284
Health System’s share of net income 2,484 12,034
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5.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

A summary of property and equipment at September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows {in thousands of

dollars):

Land and land improvements

Buildings and leasehold improvements
Equipment

Software

Less accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress

Total

Depreciable
Lives 2021 2020

10-15years S 112,687 $ 105,410
5-40years 1,629,626 1,563,844
3-15vyears 482,379 503,835
3-8years 83,172 86,067
2,307,864 2,259,156
{1,191,686) {1,146,400)
1,116,178 1,112,756
123,124 68,102

51,239,302

$ 1,180,858

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, amounted

to $122.8 million and $145.8 million, respectively.

The Health System had unexpended project contractual commitments at September 30, 2021 and
2020, of $55.2 million and $90.7 million, respectively.

ACCRUED EXPENSES

A summary of accrued expenses at September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows {in thousands of

dollars):

Accrued salaries and wages

Accrued benefits

Interest rate swaps

Self-insurance and medical insurance liabilities
Other current liabilities

Total
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2021 2020
$ 115881 S 126,724
66,056 60,094
24,058 45,484
28,184 27,114
21,483 25,431
$ 255,662 S 284,847




7.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A summary of contract liabilities at September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows (in thousands of
dollars):

2021 2020
CMS Liability $ 116,884 S 141,442
AEC refundable depasits 540 641
AEC nonrefundable deposits 2,908 2,200
Other 3,258 5,124
Total current contract liabilities $ 123,590 S 149,407
AEC refundable deposits 5 9,764 S 10,643
AEC nonrefundable deposits 4,630 4,404
Total long term contract liabilities 5 14,394 § 15,047

Contract liabilities includes Medicare advance payments under the CARES Act of $116.9 million and
$141.4 million as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The funds provided under this program
represent advances on payments for future goods or services to be provided to Medicare patients. The
liability will be reduced over time as revenue Is recognized for claims submitted for services provided
after the recoupment period begins. On October 1, 2020, the Continuing Appropriations Act, 2021 and
Other Extensions Act (the “Act”) was passed, which revised the Medicare advance payment repayment
terms and interest rate for amounts received between the passage of the CARES Act and the end of the
COVID-19 public health emergency. The Act delayed the beginning of the recoupment of the advance
payments to twelve months after the receipt of Medicare advance payment funds and extends the full
repayment term to twenty-nine months. In addition, the Act caps recoupments at 25% for the first
eleven months of repayment and 50% for the following six months. The interest rate is capped at 4%
for amounts that remain outstanding at the end of the revised recoupment period. During fiscal year
2021, $25.5 million of the 2020 balance was recognized as net patient service revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operation. During fiscal year 2020, $3.3 million of the 2019
balance was recognized as net patient service revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of

operation.

The current and long-term AEC refundable and nonrefundable deposits represent entrances fee
deposits paid by residents of AEC that vary according to the type and size of the residence and contract
type. When the residents take occupancy, the deposits become nonrefundable and are amortized into
other revenue based on the life expectancy of each resident in the independent living units. During
fiscal year 2021, $2,414 of the 2020 balance was recognized into income in other revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations. During fiscal year 2020, $2,459 of the 2019
balance was recognized into income in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of

pperations.
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LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt at September 30, 2021 and 2020, consists of the following (in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020

Series 2001A and 20018, payable In annual installments increasing in fiscal year 2024 through

fiscal year 2035, interest payable monthiy at varlable rates (0.05% and 0.11% at

September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively) S 85200 $ 85,200
Serles 2004A, payable in annual installments in flscal year 2016 through fiscal year 2035, Interast

payable monthly at variable rates {0.05% and 0.13% at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively) 42,885 44,080
Serles 2011A, payable in annual installments in fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2024,

interest payable semlannually at fixed rates of 3.2% to 5.0% 21,650
Serles 2011B, payable in annual installments in fiscal year 2015 through fiscal year 2036, interast

payable monthly at variable rates (0.40% and 0.47% at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively) 38,635 40,860
Serles 2013A, payable in annual Installments in fiscal year 2024 through fiscal 2045,

interast payable monthly a fixed rate of 3.08% 88,775 88,775
Serles 2013B, payable In annual installments in fiscal year 2014 through fiscal 2023,

interest payable monthly at a fixed rate of 2.24% 4,945 7,080
Series 2013C, payable in annual installments In fiscal year 2014 through fiscal 2023,

Interest payable monthly at a fixed rate of 2.26% 3,246 4,645
Series 2017, payable in annual instaliments in fiscal year 2026 through fiscal 2046, 50,000 56,000

interest payable semiannually at a fixed rate of 4.33%
Sertes 2017A, payable in annual installments in fiscal year 2021 through fiscal 2046,

Interest payahle semiannually at a fixed rate of 2.79% 99,180 100,000
Saries 20178, payabie in annual installments In fiscal year 2033 through flscal year 2045,

interest payable monthly at variable rates (0.83% and 0.48% at September 30, 2021 and 2020,

respectively) 60,000 60,000
Note payable to a commercial bank with Interest due monthly and a final payment due

September 25, 2023 at a variabie rate (1.05% at Septemker 30, 2021) 92,750 92,750
Ncte payable to a commercial bank in annual installments beginning In fiscal year 2013,

with the remaining balance due in fiscal year 2023 at a fixed rate of 2.73% 14,620 15,480
Mote payable to a commercial bank with principal and interest due monthly

ahd a final payment due March 2, 2026 at a fixed rate of 2.49% 17,940 18,860
Note payable, payable In annual installments 2015 through 2022, Interest payable maonthly at

fixed interest 3.5% 521, g75

598,697 630,395

Less scheduled payments due within ohe year ’ 10,986 15,390
Less additional portlon of Series 2001A and 2001B, 2004A, and 20118 cfassified as current 162,930 166,720
Lass unamortized debt issuance costs 2,126 2,523
Total leng-term debt $ 422,655 $ 445,762

The Obligated Group for the debt consists of the Parent Corporation; the Operating Corporation; the
Foundation; Impact Alamance; Alamance Regional Medical Center, Inc.; and ARMC Health Care
(excluding AEC). The weighted-average interest rate on the Health System’s Master Indenture Trust
debt was approximately 2.58% and 2.56% in fiscal years 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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The Health System has set aside approximately $5.5 million and $19.6 million at September 30, 2021
and 2020, respectively, in a debt service interest fund designated to meet scheduled interest payments
as well as $8.0 million of trustee-held 20178 bond fund. These amounts are included in assets limited as
to use in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2021 and 2020.

Certain puttable variable-rate debt instruments are included in the current portion of long-term debt
because of subjective acceleration clauses or due-on-demand provisions in the respective liquidity
facilities from the supporting financial institutions. The future annual scheduled principal payment
requirements of long-term debt at September 30, 2021, are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Years Ending

September 30

2022 S 10,986
2023 115,715
2024 10,120
2025 15,910
2026 29,400
Thereafter : 416,566
Total 5 598,697

On August 1, 2011, the Health System issued the second amended and restated master trust indenture
(the “Indenture”)}. The Indenture provides that the members of the obligated group are jointly and
severally liable for all obligations issued and outstanding under the Indenture. The Indenture also
provides that all obligations issued and outstanding under the Indenture shall be uncollateralized
obligations of the Obligated Group, Certain assets of the Health System, including patient accounts
receivable, may collateralize future obligations issued under the Indenture.

There are several restrictive covenants contained in the Indenture, including, but not limited to,
financial reporting, debt coverage requirements, and the maintenance of insurance coverage. The
Health System is also restricted from pledging, mortgaging, or assigning interest in its property.
Approximately 78% of the Health System’s revenues and 89% of the Health System’s assets are part of
the Obligated Group under the revenue bonds as of and for the year ended September 30, 2021.

The Series 2017A and 20178 Hospital Revenue Bonds were issued on December 22, 2017, in the
aggregate amount of $160 million to provide funding for qualifying Health System’s projects. The

$100 million carries a ten-year fixed rate of 2.79% and $60 million carries a variable rate of 85% of 1-
month LIBOR plus 0.34%. The bonds are payable in annual installments in fiscal year 2021 through fiscal
year 2046 for 2017A and fiscal year 2033 through fiscal year 2042 for 20178.

The Series 2017 Hospital Revenue Bonds were issued on December 26, 2016, with 550 million of
proceeds to provide funding for the Health Syster’s pension plan. The bonds are payable in annual
installments in fiscal year 2026 through fiscal year 2046 at fixed rates of 4.33%.

On February 29, 2016, the Health System purchased the remaining interest in a medical services
building and entered into a $23 million term loan with a commercial bank to fund the acquisition. The
term loan carries a fixed interest rate of 2.49% and partially amortizes over 10 years with a fina!
payment March 2, 2026.
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The Health System entered into a revolving credit agreement with a financial institution on May 31,
2019, in the amount of $50 million, maturing October 1, 2022. There were no borrowings against the
agreement at September 30, 2021. The credit agreement bears interest at an annual rate of BSBY, plus
0.55%. Under terms of the credit agreement, the Health System is required to maintain a specific debt
service coverage ratio, a specific day’s cash on hand, and minimum debt rating, as those terts are
definad.

The Series 2013A, 2013B, and 2013C Revenue Bonds were issued on November 20, 2013, in the
aggregate amount of $130.2 million that, along with debt service reserve funds, were used to
reimburse construction costs and fund a construction fund in the amount of approximately

559.8 million for construction at ARMC, fund an escrow in the amount of $29.9 million to retire the AEC
Series 2007 bonds, reimburse borrowings under a bank line of credit, and pay issuance costs, On
January 1, 2014, the above escrow, along with accrued interest, was used to retire the AEC Series 2007

bonds.

The Series 2011C and 2011D Hospital Revenue Bonds were issued on September 21, 2011, with

$50 million each of new proceeds to provide funding for qualifying Health System’s projects. The bonds
are variable-rate bonds issued by a bank with variable-rate commitments through the termination date
of September 29, 2020. On that date the bonds were retired and replaced with a bank note at a
variable rate through the termination date of September 29, 2023.

The Series 20118 Hospital Revenue Bonds were issued on August 3, 2011, to refund the 2008 Series
bonds. The Health System provides self-liquidity In support of the bonds. Bonds that have not been
remarketed for a period of 30 days are payable after an additional 180 days. The Series 2011B bonds
are classified as current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets; however, they are reflected in the
table of scheduled payments above based on their stated maturities.

The Series 2011A Hospital Revenue Bonds were issued to fully refund the 1993 bonds and are payable
in annual instaliments in fiscal year 2014 through fiscal year 2024 at fixed rates of between 3.2% and
5.0%. On April 7, 2021, the bonds were paid off.

The Series 2004A Hospital Revenue Bonds are puttable variable-rate bonds supported by self-liquidity
of the Health System. Additionally, the Health System has entered into a revolving credit agreement
through October 1, 2016 with a bank to provide loans to cover 2004A bonds that are not remarketed.
The revolving loans convert to a term loan if not repaid within 366 days and the term loan is amortized
in six equal semiannual installments. This revolving credit agreement has been extended until

Octaber 1, 2022, with the same terms and conditions. The Series 2004A bonds are classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets; however, they are reflected in the table of scheduled
payments above based on their stated maturities.

The Series 2001A and 2001B Hospital Revenue Bonds are puttable variable-rate bonds under which the
Health System has entered into two separate standby bond purchase agreements (the “Liquidity
Facilities”) with a bank to provide credit and tiquidity support for the bonds. The Liquidity Facilities
were amended during fiscal year 2014 and expire on December 20, 2023. In the event that the bonds
are tendered for purchase and cannot be remarketed, the Liguidity Facilities provide the funds to
purchase the unremarketed bonds. These agreements will expire if the bonds are converted, or
required to be converted, to a fixed interest rate. Principal payments by the Health System under
agreement begln 455 days after the day on which the bonds failed to be remarketed and continue in

six semlannual Installments. The Series 2001A and Series 20018 bonds are classified as current liabilities
in the consolidated balance sheets because of subjective acceleration provisions in the amended

-35-



Liquidity Facilities. However, they are reflected in the table of scheduled payments above based on
their stated maturities.

On November 30, 2012, the Health System purchased a medical services building and enteredinto a
$21.5 million term loan with a commercial bank to partially fund the purchase. The loan carries a fixed
interest rate of 2.73% and amortizes over 10 years, with a final payment due in fiscal year 2023,

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Heath System leases certain equipment and facilities under both operating and finance leases
expiring on various dates through 2036. The nature of these leases generally include the following
categories: real estate, medical equipment {which includes equipment supporting patient services),
vehicles, and office and facility equipment. The Health System classifies leases with a term over one
year as elther a finance or operating leases. The Health System has elected the allowed exception for
reporting short-term leases and will not recognize an ROU asset or lease liability for leases with an
initial term of twelve months or less.

For finance leases, a ROU asset and lease liability are recognized at the lease commencement date,
with the exception of leases with Initial terms of twelve months or less. The ROU asset balance is
initially measured as the present value of future minimum lease payments adjusted for any initial direct
costs incurred and lease incentives received. For operating leases, the liability is initially measured as
the present value of the unpaid lease payments. For finance leases, the lease liability is initially
measured as the present value of unpaid lease payments, and is subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method. Certain estimates and judgements are required in the
determination of the lease liabilities. A lessee is required to discount unpaid fixed lease payments using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily deiermined, the Health System
has elected to use the risk-free interest rate for the applicable period. Lease terms include the non-
cancellable period of the lease including any additional periods covered by an extension of the lease or
an early termination that are reasonably certain to be exercised. Lease paymenits included in the
measurement of the lease liability include fixed payments owed over the lease term, termination
penalties if termination options are expected to be exercised, the price to purchase the underlying
asset if the Health System is reasonably certain to exercise the purchase option and residual value
guarantees, if applicable.
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The following table presents the components of the Health System’s right-of-use assets and liabilities
related to leases and their classification as of September 30, 2021 and 2620 (in thousands of dollars).

Component of Lease Balances 2021 2020
Assets:
Cperating lease assets S 75,181 $ 70,582
Finance lease assets 9,881 9,523
Total lease assets S 85,062 S 80,105
Liabilities:
Operating lease liabllities:
Current S 13,952 S 14,210
Long-term 64,693 59,406
Total operating lease liabilities 78,645 73,616

Finance lease liabilities:

Current 4,139 5,904
Long-term 5,382 3,841
Total finance lease liabilities 9,521 9,745
Total lease liabilities S 88,166 S 83,361

Real estate leases may include one or more options to renew. The exercise of lease renewal options is
at the Health System’s sole discretion. In general, renewal options are not cansidered to be reasonably
fikely to be exercised, therefore, renewal options are generally not recognized as part of the right-of-
use assets and lease liahilities.
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The following table presents the components of the Health System’s lease costs for the period ended

September 30, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands of dollars).

Lease cost {in thousands of dollars):

Finance lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use assets

Intereston lease liabilities
Operating iease cost

Total lease cost

The following table presents supplemental cash flow Information for the
year ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 {in thousands of doilars}):
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of leaseilahilities:

Operating cash flows from finance leases
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

Other information:

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities
Right of use assets obtained in exchanga for new operating lease liabilities
Weighted average remaining lease term—finance leasas (in years)
Weighted average remaining lease term—operating leases (in years)
Weighted average discount rate—finance leases
Weighted avarage discount rate—operating feases

2021 2020
7,102 $ 5,813
242 437
17,617 17,579
24961 $ 23,829
282§ 437
17,617 17,485
6,743 5,679
7,521 1,311
17,969 85,373
297 228
7.72 6.96

291 % 3.93 %

244 % 2.65 %

Euture maturities of lease liabilities at September 30, 2021 are presented in the following table (in

thousands of dollars):

Years Ending
September 30

2022
2023
2024
2025

2026
Thereafter

Total fease payments

Less—imputed Interest

Total lease ohligations

Less—current obligations

Long-term lease obligations
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Operating Finance Total
lLeases Leases Leases
S 15,838 $ 3,853 S 19,691
12,360 2,890 15,250
10,340 1,476 11,816
8,581 1,237 9,818
7,584 499 8,083
35,332 114 35,446
90,035 10,069 100,104
(11,390) (548) {11,938)
78,645 9,521 88,166
(13,952) (4,139) {18,091)
S 64,693 $ 5,382 5 70,075




10. COMMITMENTS UNDER MRS. BERTHA LINDAU CONE GIFT

11,

Under the terms of a gift by Mrs. Bertha Lindau Cone, the Parent Corporation is required to meet
certain conditions. The more significant conditions of the gift are that the existing hospital and land will
he forever used and maintained for hospital purposes and that the name of The Moses H. Cone
Memorial Hospital will never be changed.

A substantlal portion of the Parent Corporation’s investment in its hospital building has been funded by
this gift and Is subject to the above conditions. Failure to comply with the conditions of the gift could
result in the forfeiture to unrelated parties of all property purchased from the original gift and earnings
on the gift.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLANS

The Health System has the right under the terms of the Employees’ Retirement Plan of the Moses H.
Cone Memorial Hospital (the “Plan”), a pension plan, in certain circumstances, to discontinue its
contributions at any time and to terminate the Plan, subject to the provisions set forth in ERISA. On
February 6, 2018, the Board of Trustees of the Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital Board of Trustees
approved a resolution to terminate the Plan, effective April 16, 2018. All required regulatory approvals
were obtained in November 2018. Letters were mailed to plan participants in February 2019, Lump sum
distributions were completed in May 2019, An additional $15 million employer contribution was made
on June 5, 2019 to fund the Plan in liquidation. On June 6, 2019 transfer of assets for the purchase of
annuities from Principal Financial Services, Inc. {“Principal”} was completed. Principal began making
payments to the participants beginning on August 1, 2019. As of September 30, 2019, all payments to -
the participants have been completed.

Certain benefits under the Plan are insured by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC) if the
Plan terminates. Generally, the PBGC guarantees most vested normal-age retirement benefits, early
retirement benefits, and certain disability and survivor's pensions. However, the PBGC does not
guarantee all types of benefits under the Plan and the amount of benefit protection is subject to certain
limitations. Vested benefits under the Plan are guaranteed at the level in effect on the date of the
Plan’s termination, subject to a statutoty ceiling on the amount of an individual’s monthly benefit.

Defined benefit pension plan benefits are based on years of service and employees’ compensation
during their years of employment. The Health System’s pension funding policy is based upon actuarially
calculated amounts to fund normal pension cost.

The Health System froze the Plan as of December 31, 2011, at which time benefit accruals under the
Plan ceased. Effective October 1, 2003, the Plan was amended to close the Plan to new participants
after October 1, 2003, and to offer current participants the right to continue to participate in the Plan
or to freeze their accrued benefits and participate in a defined contribution plan sponsored by the
Health System, Approximately 93% of participants at October 1, 2003 elected to continue participation

in the Plan,

The asset and liablility portfolio were 50 as of September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020.
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A reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation and a reconciliatioﬁ of the Plan’s assets, the funded
status of the Plan, and amounts recognized in the Health System’s consolidated balance sheets at
September 30, 2021 and 2020, are as follows (in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year s - S 842
Interest cost

Actuarial gain 160
Benefits paid

Plan amendments

Settlements (1,002)

Benefit obligation at end of year - -

Change In plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 4,785
Actual return on plan assets {285)
Employer contributions (3,164)
Benefits paid

Administrative expenses (334)
Settlements (1,002)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year -

Net pension asset (liability) S - $

The accumulated benefit obligation was and SO million as of September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as noncurrent liabilities are
$0 million at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

In addition, Cone Health and ARMC Health Care operate certain voluntary savings and defined
contribution retirement plans. Contribution expense related to the pfans was $42.4 million in 2021 and
$36.8 million in 2020 and is reflected in fringe benefits expense in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations.
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13,

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at September 30, 2021 and
2020 {in thousands of dollars):

2021 2020
Building fund S 1,449 S 1,445
Community outreach 5,187 3,918
Patient support 10,159 7,931
Staff development and education 2,692 2,051
Danar restricted net assets . 519,487 5 15,345

Donor restricted funds are those which have been limited by donors to a specific time period or
purpose. As required by US GAAP, donor restricted net assets are classified and reported based on the
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Funds associated with donor restrictions are

included in assets limited as to use.

CONTINGENCIES

The Health System purchases professional and general liability insurance to cover property and medical
malpractice claims in excess of $4 million. There are known claims and incidents that may result in the
assertion of additional claims, as well as claims from unknown incidents that may be asserted arising
from services provided to patients. The Health System has estimated and recorded accruals for the self-

insurance portion of these arrangements.

The Health System purchases stop loss workers’ compensation insurance to cover North Carolina claims
in excess of $1 million. The Health System purchases insurance coverage for employees working in
states other than North Carolina. The Health System has employed independent actuaries to estimate
the ultimate cost for the self-insurance portion, if any, of the settlement of such claims.

The Health System is self-insured for its employee group health insurance and has estimated and
recorded accruals for the self-insurance portion of these arrangements. In management’s opinion,
these accruals provide adequate reserve for loss contingencies.

The Health System is Invalved in litigation and regulatory investigations arising in the normal course of
business. Management believes that these matters will be resolved without material adverse effect on
the Health System'’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The aggregate amount accrued for these contingencies is approximately $29.7 million and $30.4 million
as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are reported in accrued expenses onh the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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12, NET ASSETS

A summary of the changes in net assets without restriction attributable to Moses H. Cone Memorial
Hospital and Affiliates and the noncontrolling interests for the year ended September 30, 2021, is as
follows (in thousands of dollars):

Moses H, Cone

Memorial
Hospital & Noncontrolling
Total Affiliates Interests
Balance—beginning of year $ 1,912,281 S 1,509,647 S 2,634
Excess of revenues over expenses from
consolidated operations 177,982 169,151 8,831
Change in netunrealized gains and losses on investments (15,770) (15,77C)
Wellsmith paid in capital (14) {134) 120
Close out of joint ventures 5,445 5445
Change in the fairvalue of the floating-to-fixed
swap agreements 16,368 16,368
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (5,660) {5,6560)
Other changes in net assets (834) {834)
Increase in netassets without restriction 177,517 174,226 3,291
Balance—end of year S 2,089,798 5 2,083,873 S 5,925

A summary of the chan'ges in net assets without restriction attributable to Moses H. Cone Memorial
Hospital and Affiliates and the noncontrolling interests for the year ended September 30, 2020, is as
follows (in thousands of dollars):

Moses H, Cone

Memorial
Hospital &  Noncontrolling
Total Affiliates Interests
Balance —heginning of year 51,751,997  $1,758,283 $(6,286)
Excess of revenues over expenses from
consolidated operations 149,610 139,225 10,385
Adoption of new accounting pronouncement unrealized galn
on investments 66,118 66,118
Change in netunrealized gains and losses on investments {44,976) (44,976)
Wellsmith debt to equity conversion 12,802 12,802
Wellsmith paid in capital {12,801) {14,785) 1,984
Close out of joint veniures 7,539 5,405 2,134
Change in the fair value of the floating-to-fixed
swap agreements {12,289) {12,289)
Distributions o noncontrolling interests (5,583) (5,583)
Otherchanges in netassets {136) (136}
Increase in netassets without restriction 160,284 151,364 8,920
Balance—end of year $1,912,281 S 1,909,647 5 2,634
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14,

CNCNC Liability for Unpaid Health Claims and IBNR

A reconciliation of the changes in CNCNC’s unpaid health claims and IBNR recognized in the Health
System'’s consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2021 and 2020, is as follows (in thousands of

dollars):

Balance of liabitity for unpaid health claims and IBNR

at beginning of year
Incurred related to:

Current year

Prior year

Total incurred

Paid related to:
Current year
Prior year

Total paid

Balance of liability for unpald health claims and IBNR

at end of year

2021 2020

S 16,513 S 17,116
161,233 135,883
824 (92)
162,057 135,791
142,383 119,380
17,337 17,014
159,720 136,394

S 18,850 g 16,513

The above rollforward contains 50.1 million and $7.6 million of CNCNC intercompany expenses paid to
THN in relation to their risk-sharing arrangement at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Management believes that the liability for unpaid claims is adequate to cover the ultimate
development of claims. The reserves are continually reviewed to reflect current conditions and claim
trends, and any resulting adjustments are reflected in operating results in the year the revisions are

made.

CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

The Health System grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of whom are local residents and
are insured under third-party payor agreements. The mix of receivables from patients and third-party
payors at September 30, 2021 and 2020, was as follows:

Medicare

Medicare Managed Care
Medicaid

Commercial

Other

Self-Pay

2021 2020

8.2% 11.6 %

22.4 22.8
15.7 5.3
47.8 53.2
3.7 4.8
2.2 2.3
100.0%  100.0 %
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15, FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

Expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall service mission of
Cone Health. Primary program services are health care services and are identified with a specific
program at the time they are incurred and are reported accordingly. However, some of these expenses
require allocation, which is done on the basis of estimates, General and Administration expenses are
allocated based on a percentage of actual costs incurred spent in supporting the aperations. We believe
our allocations are done on a reasonable and consistent basis,

A summary of the functional expenses as of September 30, 2021, is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Total

Healthcare General and Other Operating

Services Administration Entities Expenses

Salaries and wages S 766,360 $163,089 S 29,615 S 959,064
Fringe benefits 225,393 47,966 6,922 280,281
Supplies 402,243 85,601 313 488,157
Other direct expenses 304,237 64,745 230,966 599,948
Interest expense 13,201 2,809 16,010
Depreciation/amortization 100,728 21,436 607 122,771
Total $1,812,162 $385,646 $268,423 52,466,231

A summary of the functional expenses as of September 30, 2020, is as follows (in thousands of dollars):

Total

Healthcare General and Other Operating

Services Administration Entities Expenses

Salaries and wages S 668,465 $150,809 S 33,844 S 853,118
Fringe benefits 204,664 456,173 6,180 257,017
Supplies 360,128 81,249 382 441,759
Other direct expenses 272,506 61,479 183,328 517,313
Interest expense 12,932 2,917 15,849
Depreciation/amortization 118,481 26,730 591 145,802
Total $1,637,176 $369,357 §224,325 52,230,858

® Ok ok ok kK
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CONSOLIDATING SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES
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Attachment B
Five Year Forecast Statement
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT

Board of Trustees

Alamance Extended Care, Inc.
d/b/a The Village at Brookwood

Burlington, North Carolina

Management is responsible for the accompanying projected financial statements of Alamance Extended
Care, Inc. d/b/a The Village at Brookwood (the “Village”), which comprise the projected statements of
financial position as of December 31, 2023, 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027, and the related projected
statements of operations and changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ending, and the
related summary of significant projection assumptions and accounting policies in accordance with the
guidelines for presentation of a financial projection established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA).

We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the
AICPA. We did not examine or review the projected financial statements, nor were we required to perform
any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these
projected financial statements or the assumptions. Furthermore, even if the hypothetical assumptions as
noted in Management’s Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies on page
5 (the “Hypothetical Assumptions”) occurs as projected, the projected results may not be achieved as
there will usually be differences between the projected and actual results, because events and
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

The accompanying projection, and this report, are intended solely for the information and use of
management, the Board of Trustees, and the North Carolina Department of Insurance (pursuant to the
requirements of North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64 and included in the Village's
disclosure statement filing) and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and circumstances occurring after the date of
this report.

Wm% N

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
January 6, 2023




ALAMANCE EXTENDED CARE, INC. D/B/A THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD
PROJECTED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

ASSUMING THE HYPOTHETICAL ASSUMPTIONS ON PAGE 5

YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31,

(000s Omitted)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER SUPPORT
Patient Service Revenue $ 10,851 $ 12,016 $ 13,287 $ 13,803 $ 14,339
Amortization of Entrance Fees 2,515 3,000 3,104 3,213 3,357
Interest Income 130 144 158 185 219
Other Revenue 661 706 735 765 795
Total Revenues, Gains, and Other Support 14,157 15,866 17,284 17,966 18,710
OPERATING EXPENSES
Health Care 2,805 2,917 3,033 3,155 3,281
Resident Services 632 657 684 711 739
Dietary 2,623 2,746 2,882 2,996 3,116
Plant Operations 1,710 1,778 1,849 1,923 2,000
Laundry 24 25 26 27 28
Housekeeping 636 705 797 828 860
General and Administrative 3,595 3,738 3,888 4,043 4,205
Depreciation 2,900 3,038 3,143 3,233 3,344
Interest Expense 1,023 1,071 987 967 945
Total Expenses 15,948 16,675 17,289 17,883 18,518
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (1,791) (809) (5) 83 192
NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Accreted Interest (320) (320) (320) (320) (320)
Total Non-Operating Income (320) (320) (320) (320) (320)
EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUES UNDER EXPENSES
AND DECREASE IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT
DONOR RESTRICTIONS (2,111) (1,129) (325) (237) (128)
Change In Net Assets With Donor Restrictions - - - - -
Decrease in Net Assets (2,111) (1,129) (325) (237) (128)
Net Assets - Beginning of Year 4,368 2,257 1,128 803 566
Net Assets - End of Year $ 2,257 $ 1,128 $ 803 $ 566 $ 438

See Accompanying Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies and
Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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ALAMANCE EXTENDED CARE, INC. D/B/A THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD
PROJECTED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

ASSUMING THE HYPOTHETICAL ASSUMPTIONS ON PAGE 5
YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31,

(000s Omitted)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in Net Assets $ (2,111) $ (1,129) $ (325) $ (237) $ (128)
Adjustments to Reconcile Decrease in Net Assets
to Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Depreciation 2,900 3,038 3,143 3,233 3,344
Amortization of Entrance Fees (2,515) (3,000) (3,104) (3,213) (3,357)
Amortization of Deferred Issuance Costs 31 31 31 31 31
Accreted Interest 320 320 320 320 320
Changes in Current Assets:
Accounts Receivable, Net 70 (27) (24) (10) (12)
Inventories (15) (5) (4) (2) (2)
Other Current Assets 11 (6) (6) (6) (6)
Changes in Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable 31 6 6 6 6
Accrued Expenses 1 15 17 14 15
Accrued Employee Compensation 27 30 32 29 30
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (1,250) (727) 86 165 241
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net Change in Investments 80 126 (444) (656) (807)
Net Change in Assets Limited as to Use (390) (210) (133) (130) (137)
Acquisition of Property and Equipment (2,150) (2,150) (2,150) (2,150) (2,150)
Acquisition of Property and Equipment for Project (3,591) (2,394) - - -
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (6,051) (4,628) (2,727) (2,936) (3,094)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt (238) (489) (511) (530) (551)
Principal Payment on Working Capital Term Loan - (5,000) - - -
Proceeds from Working Capital Term Loan 3,591 1,409 - - -
Change in Due To Parent - 985 - - -
Entrance Fees Received 3,783 3,799 3,893 3,998 4,078
Entrance Fees Refunded (794) (687) (692) (654) (629)
Initial Entrance Fees - 5,383 - - -
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 6,342 5,400 2,690 2,814 2,898
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH
EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH (959) 45 49 43 45
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash- Beginning of
Year 1,947 988 1,033 1,082 1,125
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH-
END OF YEAR $ 988 $ 1,033 $ 1,082 $ 1,125 $ 1,170

See Accompanying Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies and
Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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ALAMANCE EXTENDED CARE, INC. D/B/A THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD
PROJECTED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ASSUMING THE HYPOTHETICAL ASSUMPTIONS ON PAGE 5
AT DECEMBER 31,

(000s Omitted)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 988 $ 1,033 $ 1,082 $ 1,125 § 1,170
Patient Accounts Receivable, Net 231 258 282 292 304
Investments 173 47 491 1,147 1,954
Inventories 38 43 47 49 51
Other Current Assets 132 138 144 150 156
Total Current Assets 1,562 1,519 2,046 2,763 3,635
ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE
Internally Designated for Statutory Operating Reserve 3,314 3,524 3,657 3,787 3,924
OTHER ASSETS
Assets Under Swap Agreement 1,332 1,332 1,332 1,332 1,332
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 49,063 50,569 49,576 48,493 47,299
Total Assets $ 55271 $ 56,944 $ 56,611 $ 56,375 $ 56,190
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt $ 489 $ 511§ 530 $ 551 § 570
Working Capital Term Loan 3,591 - - - -
Accounts Payable 131 137 143 149 155
Accrued Expenses 329 344 361 375 390
Accrued Employee Compensation 659 689 721 750 780
Reservation Deposits 186 186 186 186 186
Accrued Interest 86 86 86 86 86
Current Portion of Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees 1,455 1,455 1,455 1,455 1,455
Total Current Liabilities 6,926 3,408 3,482 3,552 3,622
LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT MATURITIES,
NET OF ISSUANCE COSTS 23,899 23,419 22,920 22,400 21,861
DEFERRED REVENUE AND OTHER LIABILITIES
Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees 8,515 11,190 11,382 11,590 11,779
Refundable Entrance Fees 10,250 13,390 13,615 13,858 14,081
Due to Parent 3,424 4,409 4,409 4,409 4,409
Total Deferred Revenue and Other Liabilities 22,189 28,989 29,406 29,857 30,269
Total Liabilities 53,014 55,816 55,808 55,809 55,752
NET ASSETS
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 2,004 875 550 313 185
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions 253 253 253 253 253
Total Net Assets 2,257 1,128 803 566 438
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $ 55271 $ 56,944 $ 56,611 $ 56,375 $ 56,190

See Accompanying Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies and

Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
4



Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Introduction and Background Information

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial projection presents, to the best of the knowledge and belief of management
of Alamance Extended Care, Inc, Well Spring Services, and Well Spring Management and Development
(collectively, “Management”) the expected financial position, results of operations and changes in net
assets, and cash flows of Alamance Extended Care, Inc. d/b/a The Village at Brookwood (the “Village”
or “AEC”) as of and for each of the five years ending December 31, 2027 (the “Projection Period”). The
Village is a nonstock, nonprofit organization established to develop and operate a life plan community
and provide housing, health care and related services to the elderly. The Village is an affiliate of Well
Spring Services d/b/a the WellsSpring Group. Well Spring Services, Inc. functions as the sole member of
the Village, WellSpring Retirement Community, Inc., and Well Spring Management and Development
are considered related parties to the Village. The accompanying financial projection only includes the
Village and none of the other affiliates.

A projection, although similar to a forecast, is a presentation of prospective financial information that is
subject to one or more hypothetical assumptions. Management has included assumptions that are
considered to be a “Hypothetical Assumption” as defined by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants’ Guide for Prospective Financial Information. A Hypothetical Assumption is defined as
follows: “An assumption used in a financial projection or in a partial presentation of projected information
to present a condition or course of action that is not necessarily expected to occur, but is consistent with
the purpose of the presentation.”

Management’s Hypothetical Assumptions are as follows:

¢ The opening balance sheet for the Projection is consistent with the anticipated opening balance
sheet for the Projection Period.

e The Project, as defined hereinafter is constructed, financed, filled, and operated as noted in the
Projection;

e Variable interest rates for debt instruments occur as projected; and

¢ Management is able to achieve the projected occupancies, operating revenue inflationary rate
increases and operating expense inflationary increases, as described hereinafter.

Accordingly, the projection reflects Management’'s judgment as of January 6, 2023, the date of this
projection, of the expected conditions and its expected course of action. The assumptions disclosed
herein are the assumptions which Management believes are significant to the financial projection. There
will usually be differences between projected and actual results because events and circumstances
frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

This financial projection is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board
of Trustees, and the North Carolina Department of Insurance (pursuant to the requirements of
North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64 and included in the Village’s disclosure
statement filing), and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Introduction and Background Information, Continued

Backqground

Organizational Information

Alamance Extended Care, Inc. d/b/a The Village at Brookwood is a North Carolina not-for-profit
corporation which was founded in 1986. The Village has received a determination letter from the Internal
Revenue Service stating that the corporation is an organization exempt from federal income tax under
Section 501(A) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), as an organization
described in Section 50I(c)(3) of the Code.

Well Spring Services, Inc., (the "Parent") a North Carolina not-for-profit organization located in
Greensboro, is a not-for-profit corporation chartered by the State of North Carolina in 1986 and is the
sole member of the Village, Well Spring Retirement Community, Inc., Well Spring Solutions and Well
Spring Management & Development. The Parent is not liable for any activities of the Village.

In July 2022, Well Spring Services became the sole member of the Village through a member substitution
agreement, “the Member Substitution Agreement” with ARMC and The Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital
(“Cone Health”). The Member Substitution Agreement was entered into January 26, 2022 and the
member substitution was finalized on July 1, 2022.

In July 2020, AEC closed its Edgewood Place Public Skilled Nursing Facility and sold 54 of the 81 bed
licenses, keeping the remaining 27 beds licenses. As of the date of this Projection, Management has not
determined the future use of the Edgewood Place Public Skilled Nursing Facility property nor the
remaining 27 nursing bed licenses, and as such, Management has projected no activity during the
Projection Period. Management does not plan to continue to operate Edgewood Place; therefore,
depreciation was accelerated in 2020 so that all remaining equipment and real property were fully
depreciated, leaving only approximately $517,000 of net book value for land related to Edgewood Place.
Management has projected the net book value of the land assets to remain unchanged during the
Projection Period. Management does not believe these assets for Edgewood Place Public Skilled Nursing
Facility to be impaired, and as such, has not projected any impairment of these assets during the
Projection Period.

The Board of Directors for Alamance Extended Care, Inc. now includes the pre-substitution members
selected, nominated, and approved by the Board of Trustees of ARMC HealthCare, Inc., in addition to
the Board Members of Well Spring Services. The business and affairs of the Village are managed by its
Board of Directors.

Community Information

The Village owns and manages a life plan community ("LPC") situated on approximately 76 acres located
in Burlington, North Carolina called The Village at Brookwood (the "Community"). The Community
consists of 108 independent living apartment units (two of which are offline as guest and marketing suites)
and 45 independent living cottage units (collectively, the “Existing Independent Living Units”); a 24-unit
assisted living facility, which contains 12 traditional assisted living units (the "Traditional Assisted Living
Units") and 12 memory support units (the "Memory Support Units") (collectively, the Traditional Assisted
Living Units and Memory Support Units are referred to as the “Assisted Living Units”); a 24-bed sheltered
nursing unit (the "Nursing Facility" or “Nursing Beds”); a community center; and a wellness center.
Collectively, the Assisted Living Units and Nursing Beds are referred to as the “Health Care Center” or
“Health Care Beds.”

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Introduction and Background Information, Continued

The following table summarizes the type, number, and approximate square footage of the units at the
Community.

Table 1
Unit Configuration and Square Footage

Approximate

Independent Living Type Number of Units Square Feet
Apartments
Azalea 1BR/1BA 13 826
Birch" 1BR/1.5BA 26 1,113
Camellia ® 2BR/2BA 29 1,206
Dogwood 2BR/2BA 20 1,352
Elm 2BR/2BA/Den 20 1,596
Garden Homes
Holly 2BR/2BA 16 1,692
Magnolia 2BR/2BA 23 1,892
Oak 2BR/2BA 6 1,965
Total / Weighted Average 153 1,412

Approximate

Health Care Units Number of Units Square Feet
Assisted Living Units
Traditional Assisted Living Units 12 289-367
Memory Support Units 12 289-367
Total 24
Nursing Beds @
Sheltered Nursing Beds 24 205-297
Total 24
Source: Management
Notes:

(1) One Birch unit is currently being used as a guest suite and is excluded from the table above.

(2) One Camellia unit is currently being used as a marketing unit and is excluded from the table above.

(3) In July 2020, Management closed Edgewood place and sold 54 of the total 81 Edgewood Nursing Beds. The Village
still holds license for 27 beds, but Management has projected the beds to remain offline during the Projection Period
and have been excluded from the table.

Expansion Plans

The Village plans to construct and operate an additional 15 garden homes on the campus (the “New
Garden Home” or the “Project”). The Village plans on drawing from a working capital term loan to fund
the construction until initial entrance fees are received. Construction is projected to commence in April
2023 and construction would approximate 15 months to complete.

The projected unit configuration and sizing for the project units are presented in the following table.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Introduction and Background Information, Continued

Table 2
The Project

Unit Configuration and Square Footage

Approximate

Independent Living Type Number of Units Square Feet
New Garden Homes
Juniper 2BR 7 1,772
Pine 3 BR 8 2,160
Total 15 1,979

Source: Management

The following table summarizes the number of units at the Village before and after completion of the
Project:

Table 3
Unit Configuration Before and After the Project
Number of
Units/Beds Before Number of
the Project is Units/Beds After the
Level of Care Complete Project Additions  Project is Complete
Independent Living Units:
Apartments 108 0 108
Garden Homes 45 45
New Garden Homes 0 15 15
Independent Living Units 153 15 168
Health Care Units/Beds
Assisted Living Units 24 0 24
Nursing Beds 24 0 24
Health Care Units/Beds 48 0 48
Total 201 15 216

Source: Management

Project Timeline

A proposed timeline for the Project, as provided by Management, is summarized in the following table:

Table 4
Project Timeline

Event Date
Begin Construction of New Garden Units April 2023
Construction Complete and Move-Ins Commence July 2024
New Garden Units Achieve 93.3 Percent Occupancy September 2024
Source: Management

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Introduction and Background Information, Continued

Project Sources and Uses of Funds

The following presents Management’s projected sources and uses of funds for the Project.

Table 5
Projected Sources and Uses of Funds
(In Thousands of Dollars)

Sources of Funds

Working Capital Term Note $ 5,000 '
Contribution from Parent 985 ?
Total Sources of Funds $ 5,985

Uses of Funds

Construction and Land Improvements

5,985 3
Total Uses of Funds

5,985

«h|n

Source: Management

Notes to Table 5:

1) Management has assumed that a portion of the Project would be financed through an existing Working Capital Term
Note, with a variable interest rate based on Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus the fee of 1.25 percent.
Management has assumed the SOFR rate to be 3.02 percent during the Projection Period.

2) Management has assumed the Parent will loan $985,000 through a intercompany loan (due to/due from Parent).

3) Construction and land improvements reflects the anticipated costs for constructing the Project.

Management has indicated that the Working Capital Term Note is anticipated to be repaid from initial
entrance fees from the Project, along with a funds borrowed from the Parent.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The Village maintains its accounting and financial records according to the accrual basis of accounting.

Change of Fiscal Year

As a result of the member substitution agreement, the Village will be transitioning to December 31 fiscal
year end date. Fiscal Year 2022 will end on September 30, 2022, followed by a shortened period from
October 1, 2022, to December 31, 2022. Beginning on January 1, 2023, the Village’s subsequent fiscal
years will end on December 31.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of projected financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported as assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in
the projected financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates also affect the reported amount
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Net Assets
The Village classifies its funds for accounting and reporting purposes as follows:

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions — Resources of the Village that are not restricted by donors
or grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from operations
and the investment in property and equipment.

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions — Resources that carry a donor-imposed restriction that
permits the Village to use or expend the donated assets as specified, or is satisfied by the passage
of time or by actions of the Village. Some of these resources may stipulate that donated assets
be maintained in perpetuity, but may permit the Village to use or expend part or all of the income
derived from the donated assets.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Village considers all highly liquid investments, other than those included in assets limited as to use,
with a maturity of three months or less when purchased, to be cash equivalents.

Patient Accounts Receivable

The Village records accounts receivable at the net expected balance. The Village provides an allowance
for uncollectible accounts using management’s judgement. Accounts past due are individually analyzed
for collectability. Accounts receivable that management determines will be uncollectable are written off
upon such determination. It is the Village’s policy to seek collection on all overdue accounts.

Investments

Investments are measured at fair market value based on quoted market values. Investment income or
loss (including realized gains and losses on investments) is included in the excess (deficit) of revenue,
gains and other support over expenses, unless the income is restricted by donor or by law. Management
does not project any unrealized gains or losses on investments during the Projection Period.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. Inventories include medical
and surgical supplies and pharmaceuticals.

Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use are assumed to be carried at fair value and include assets set aside for North
Carolina statutory operating reserves.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost or, if donated, at fair market value on the date of receipt.
Property and equipment are capitalized if it has a cost over $5,000 and an estimated useful life of at least
3 years. Depreciation is recorded over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable assets and
is computed using the straight-line method. The following estimated useful lives are used to calculate
depreciation:

Land Improvements 10 — 15 years
Building and Fixed Equipment 5—40 years
Moveable Equipment 3 — 15 years

The Village periodically reviews its long-lived assets and evaluates such assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees and Refundable Entrance Fees

Entrance fees from the Village’s residency and care agreements, excluding the portion that is estimated
to be refundable to the resident, are recorded as deferred revenue from entrance fees and are
nonrefundable and recognized as income over the estimated life expectancy of each resident. A portion

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

of the entrance fee may be refundable when the residency is terminated. Such refundable amounts are
shown as Refundable Entrance Fees in the accompanying projected statements of financial position and
are not amortized into income.

Obligation to Provide Future Services

The Village annually calculates the present value of the net cost of future services and use of facilities to
be provided to current residents and compares that amount with the balance of deferred revenue from
advance fees. If the present value of the net cost of future services and use of facilities exceeds the
deferred revenue from advance fees, a liability is recorded (obligation to provide future services and use
of facilities) with the corresponding charge to income. Management has not projected any obligation to
provide future services during the Projection Period.

Resident and Health Care Service Revenue

Resident service revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Village
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing resident care. These amounts are due from residents,
third-party payors (including health insurers and government programs), and others and includes variable
consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and
investigations. Generally, the Village bills the residents and third-party payors several days after the
services are performed. Service fees paid by residents for maintenance, meals, and other services are
assessed monthly and are recognized as revenue in the period services are rendered. Revenue is
recognized as performance obligations are satisfied.

Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the Village.
Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based on actual charges incurred
in relation to total expected (or actual) charges. The Village believes that this method provides a faithful
depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the performance obligation based on the inputs
needed to satisfy the obligation. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to residents
in the facilities receiving skilled nursing services or housing residents receiving services in the facilities.
The Village considers daily services provided to residents of the skilled nursing facilities, and monthly
rental for housing services as a separate performance obligation and measures this on a monthly basis,
or upon move-out within the month, whichever is shorter. Nonrefundable entrance fees are considered
to contain a material right associated with access to future services, which is the related performance
obligation. Revenue from nonrefundable entrance fees is recognized ratably in future periods covering a
resident’s life expectancy using a time-based measurement similar to the output method. Revenue for
performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is generally recognized when goods are provided to
residents and customers in a retail setting (for example, gift shop and cafeteria meals) and the Village
does not believe it is required to provide additional goods or services related to that sale.

Because all of its performance obligations have a duration of less than one year, the Village has elected
to apply the optional exemption provided in FASB ASC 606-10-50-14(a) and, therefore, is not required
to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Village determines the transaction price based on standard charges for goods and services provided,
reduced by contractual adjustments provided to third-party payors, discounts provided to uninsured
patients in accordance with the Village’ policy, and/or implicit price concessions provided to residents.
The Village determines its estimates of contractual adjustments based on contractual agreements, its
policy, and historical experience. The Village determines its estimate of implicit price concessions based
on its historical collection experience.

Agreements with third-party payors typically provide for payments at amounts less than the established
charges. A summary of the payment arrangements with major third-party payors follows:

Medicare

The Village’s licensed nursing facility participates in the Medicare program. This federal program
is administered by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS). The nursing facilities
were paid under the Medicare Prospective Payment System (PPS) for residents who are
Medicare Part A eligible and met the coverage guidelines for skilled nursing facility services. The
PPS was a per diem price-based system. CMS finalized the Patient Driven Payment Model
(PDPM) to replace the existing Medicare reimbursement system effective October 1, 2019. Under
PDPM, therapy minutes are removed as the primary basis for payment and instead use the
underlying complexity and clinical needs of a patient as a basis for reimbursement. In addition,
PDPM introduces variance adjustment factors that change reimbursement rates during the
resident’s length of stay. Annual cost reports are required to be submitted to the designated
Medicare Administrative Contractor; however, they do not contain a cost settlement.

Nursing facilities licensed for participation in the Medicare and Medical Assistance programs are
subject to annual licensure renewal. If it is determined that a nursing facility is not in substantial
compliance with the requirements of participation, CMS may impose sanctions and penalties
during the period of noncompliance. Such a payment ban would have a negative impact on the
revenues of the licensed nursing facility.

Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews, or investigations
are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the estimated transaction
price for providing patient care. These settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment
agreement with the payor, correspondence from the payor and the Village’s historical settlement activity,
including an assessment to ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive
adjustment is subsequently resolved. Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as
adjustments become known (that is, new information becomes available), or as years are settled or are
no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations.

Generally, residents who are covered by third-party payors are responsible for related deductibles and
coinsurance, which vary in amount. The Village estimates the transaction price for residents with
deductibles and coinsurance based on historical experience and current market conditions. The initial
estimate of the transaction price is determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual
adjustments, discounts, and implicit price concessions. Subsequent charges to the estimate of the
transaction price are recorded as adjustments to resident services revenue in the period of the change.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Additional revenue recognized due to changes in its estimates of implicit price concessions, discounts,
and contractual adjustments are not projected by Management during the Projection Period. Subsequent
changes that are determined to be the result of an adverse change in the resident’s ability to pay are
recorded as bad debt expense.

The Village has determined that the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by the following factors: payors, service line, method of reimbursement, and timing of when
revenue is recognized.

The Village maintains records, and the board has oversight, to identify and monitor the amount of charges
foregone for services and supplies furnished under its benevolent assistance policy and to identify and
monitor the level of benevolent assistance it provides. These include reduced rates for Medicare,
Medicaid, and other governmental programs.

The Village has estimated the costs of providing assistance under its benevolent assistance policy. In
order to estimate the cost of providing such assistance, management calculated a ratio by comparing the
charges foregone to total operating revenue and applying this ratio to expenses to estimate the costs of
providing benevolent assistance.

Contract Costs

The Village has applied the practical expedient provided by FASB ASC 340-40-25-4 and all incremental
customer contract acquisition costs are expensed as they are incurred as the amortization period of the
asset that the Village otherwise would have recognized is one year or less in duration.

Income Tax Status

The Village is organized as a nonprofit, tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal
Revenue Code, as amended. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes is included in the accompanying
projected statements of operations and changes in net assets.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions and Accounting Policies

Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions

Revenues

Patient Service Revenue

Patient service revenue has been projected based on anticipated occupancy levels, as well as anticipated
rates during the Projection Period.

Independent Living Occupancy

Based on expected marketing efforts and historical occupancy experience, utilization of the Existing
Independent Living Units is projected as noted in the following table for the Projection Period.

Table 6
Projected Existing Independent Living Occupancy

Year Ending December 31, Average Units Available M Average Units Occupied Average Occupancy
2023 153.0 145.5 95.1%
2024 153.0 149.3 97.6%
2025 153.0 149.8 97.9%
2026 153.0 149.8 97.9%
2027 153.0 149.8 97.9%

Source: Management
Note: (1) One Birch unit is currently being used as a guest suite and is excluded from average available units. In addition,
one Camellia unit is currently being used as a marketing suite and is excluded from average available units.

Management has assumed that the number of Existing Independent Living Units to have double
occupancy will average approximately 30.0% for each year in the Projection Period.

Table 7
Projected New Garden Home Occupancy

Year Ending December 31, Average Units Available Average Units Occupied Average Occupancy
2023 0.0 0.0 N/A

2024 7.5 6.0 80.0%

2025 15.0 14.0 93.3%

2026 15.0 14.0 93.3%

2027 15.0 14.0 93.3%

Source: Management

Management has assumed that the number of New Garden Home Units to have double occupancy will
average approximately 73.0% for each year in the Projection Period.

The projected occupancies noted in Table 7 are based on the following move in schedule for the Project’s
units:

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions

Table 8
Project Unit Move-In

Cumulative Occupancy

Fiscal Year 2024 Total Units Monthly Fill Occupancy Percentage
July 15 4.7 4.7 31.3%
August 15 4.7 9.4 62.7%
September 15 4.6 14.0 93.3%
Thereafter 15 14.0 93.3%

Source: Management

Health Care Center Occupancy

Based on expected marketing efforts and historical occupancy experience, utilization of the Health Care
Beds is projected as noted in the following tables during the Projection Period.

Table 9
Projected Assisted Living Occupancy
Year Ending December 31, Average Units Available Average Units Occupied Average Occupancy
2023 24 16.8 70.0%
2024 24 18.0 75.0%
2025 24 19.9 82.9%
2026 24 19.9 82.9%
2027 24 19.9 82.9%

Source: Management

Table 10
Projected Nursing Beds Occupancy
Year Ending December 31, Average Units Available Average Units Occupied Average Occupancy
2023 24 22.8 95.0%
2024 24 22.8 95.0%
2025 24 22.8 95.0%
2026 24 22.8 95.0%
2027 24 22.8 95.0%

Source: Management

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions (Continued)

Table 11
Independent Living Monthly Service Fees - 2023
All Lifecare Fee-for-Service

Independent Living Number of Units Plans Plan
Apartments

Azalea 13 $ 3,130 $ 2,628

Birch 26 3,404 2,901

Camellia 29 3,721 3,217

Dogwood 20 4,038 3,565

Elm 20 4,378 3,908
Garden Homes

Holly 16 4,781 3,942

Magnolia 23 5,002 4,194

Oak 6 5,148 4,341
New Garden Homes

Juniper 7 5,120 4,240

Pine 8 5,510 4,660
Total / Weighted Average 168 $ 4,213 $ 3,600
Second Person Fee Existing Independent Living Units $ 1,522 $ 880
Second Person Fee New Garden Homes $ 1,650 $ 980

Source: Management

Residents under the Lifecare Plans requiring skilled nursing and assisted living services receive 14 free
Health Care Center days per calendar year, and are then required to pay a Lifecare rate if the 14 free
days are used within each calendar year. The Lifecare rate is equivalent to the current weighted average
Lifecare monthly service fee of a single resident of the Community, as well as the charge for two additional
daily meals not provided for in the monthly service fee.

Occupancy of the Assisted Living Units is projected to be from internal transfers from Independent Living
Units. Nursing Bed occupancy is projected to be from internal transfers from both Independent Living
Units and Assisted Living Units. Internal transfers include both temporary and permanent transfers.
Temporary transfers reside in a Health Care Center Bed for a short-term stay and pay an added fee, in
addition to their monthly service fee, according to their Residence and Services Agreement, as well as
the cost of two meals per day. The Independent Living Unit is held while temporary transfers reside in
the Health Care Center. Upon permanent transfer to the Health Care Center, the Independent Living Unit
is released and the resident pays the specified Health Care Center fee, according to their Residence and
Services Agreement.

Residents under the Fee-for-Service contracts requiring skilled nursing and assisted living services pay
the current market monthly rate or per diem rate for care.

The monthly and daily service fees for private pay Fee-For-Service and Lifecare residents in the Health
Care Center have been projected to increase 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually throughout the remainder
of the Projection Period, and Medicare rates are projected to increase 2.0% annually.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions (Continued)

Table 12
Health Care Center Pricing — 2023
Fee-for- Fee-for-
Lifecare Service Service
Level of Care Number of Units Monthly Rates Monthly Rates Per Diem Rates
Traditional Assisted Living Units 12 $4,675 $6,380 $210
Memory Support Units 12 $4,675 $8,256 $272
Sheltered Nursing Beds 24 $4,675 $11,481 $378

Source: Management

Ancillary revenues are projected to average approximately 3.5% of net patient service revenue
throughout the Projection Period.

Resident Mix

Management has projected the following Health Care Center resident mix, by contract and payor type,
for the Projection Period.

Table 13
Health Care Center Resident Mix by Contract and Payor Type
Assisted Living Sheltered Nursing
Year Ending December 31, Life Care  Fee-for-Service| Life Care Medicare Private Pay
2023 50.0% 50.0% 43.0% 9.0% 48.0%
2024 50.0% 50.0% 43.0% 9.0% 48.0%
2024 50.0% 50.0% 43.0% 9.0% 48.0%
2025 50.0% 50.0% 43.0% 9.0% 48.0%
2026 50.0% 50.0% 43.0% 9.0% 48.0%

Source: Management

Amortization of Entrance Fees and Entrance Fees Receipts

The Village currently offers the following two Residence and Services Agreement (the “Residence and
Services Agreements”) options:

* Fee-for-Service Plans:
— Fee-for-Service Standard Plan
« Lifecare Plans:
— Lifecare - Traditional Plan (0% Refundable)

All options require payment of a one-time entrance fee and monthly service fees. Generally, payment of
these fees entitles residents to the use and privileges of the facility for life. The Lifecare Plans entitle the
resident to full services and amenities as defined in the Residence and Services Agreement. Under the
Fee-for-Service Plans, residents who entered into a Residence and Services Agreement after January
1, 2007 pay additional fees for any housekeeping services and meals. Residents who entered into a
Residence and Services Agreement prior to January 1, 2007 receive one meal credit per person for each
day of the month. The Residence and Services Agreements do not entitle the residents to an interest in
the real estate or other property owned by the Village. All residents are fully responsible for payment of
the entrance and monthly service fees, associated with their respective plan.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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A portion of the entrance fee may be refundable when the residency is terminated. Such refundable
amounts are shown as Refundable Entrance Fees in the projected statements of financial position and
are not recognized into income. The nonrefundable portion of entrance fees is reduced each month,
commencing with the date of occupancy, and recognized as revenue over the estimated life expectancy
of residents, and are reflected as Amortization of Entrance Fees on the projected statements of
operations and changes in net assets. The unearned portion is classified as Deferred Revenue from
Entrance Fees in the projected statement of financial position.

Entrance fees generated and refunded are based on turnover of the Independent Living Units, which has
been projected by Management based on historical experience, as shown in the following table.

Table 14
Projected Entrance Fees, Net
Years Ending December 31,
(000s Omitted)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Initial Entrants- Project Independent Living Units 0 15 0 0 0
Independent Living Turnover 16 16 16 16 16
Entrance Fees Received from Initial Residents $ - $ 5383 $ - % - $ -
Entrance Fees from Turnover 3,783 3,799 3,893 3,998 4,078
Entrance Fees Refunded (794) (687) (692) (654) (629)
Total Entrance Fees, Net $ 2,989 $ 8,495 §$ 3,201 $ 3,344 $ 3,449

Source: Management

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Based upon historical experience, Management has projected that approximately 56.0% of the residents
would select the Fee-For-Service Standard Plan and 44.0% would select the Lifecare — Traditional Plan.
Entrance fees are projected to increase 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually throughout the remainder of the
Projection Period.

Management has assumed that the distribution of the Project's new entrants would be approximately
46.7% of the residents would select the Fee-For-Service Standard Plan and 53.3% would select the
Lifecare — Traditional Plan.

The monthly and daily service fee revenues are based on the projected utilization and the fee schedules
in the tables that follow. It is anticipated that the monthly service fees for independent living will be
increased 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually throughout the remainder of the Projection Period.

Table 15
Independent Living Entrance Fees - 2023
Lifecare Fee-for-
Plans Service Plan
Number

Independent Living of Units Traditional Standard
Apartments

Azalea 13 $ 199,900 $ 111,500

Birch 26 245,600 147,000

Camellia 29 251,400 164,200

Dogwood 20 291,700 188,700

Elm 20 291,700 210,200
Garden Homes

Holly 16 330,700 248,800

Magnolia 23 355,600 271,400

Oak 6 370,500 284,500
New Garden Homes

Juniper 7 380,300 286,100

Pine 8 426,100 327,200
Total / Weighted Average 168 $ 295,874 $ 205,724
Second Person Fee Existing Independent Living Units $ 35,700 $ 35,700
Second Person Fee New Garden Homes $ 41,100 $ 24,900

Source: Management

Investment Income

Investment income included in the accompanying projected statements of operations and changes in net
assets is based on an assumed blended rate of return of 0.25% annually during the Projection Period on
short term invested funds, and four percent on investments and the statutory operating reserve.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Significant Projection Assumptions (Continued)

Other Revenue

Other revenue includes income from additional resident meals and snacks, guest meals, guest apartment
rentals, respite care revenue, barber and beauty fees, private duty nursing services, and other
miscellaneous revenue. Other revenue based on historical experience and Management has projected
at an average of 6.1% of net patient service revenue annually during the Projection Period, according to
Management.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Operating Expenses

Management has presented departmental expenses based on their function. Each projected
departmental expense includes salaries and benefits as well as other costs.

Salaries and Benefits

Staffing of the Village is based on the Village’s existing staffing levels and the experience of Management
giving effect to the level of services offered at the Village. The Village is estimated to employ full-time
equivalent (“FTE”) employees throughout the Projection Period as noted below in Table 16. An FTE is
based on 2,080 hours. Average salary and wage rates are based on current rates paid and are projected
to increase approximately 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection Period.
Management projected additional FTEs as a result of the Project in 2024 and 2025.

The costs of employees’ fringe benefits are assumed to approximate an average of 35.0% of salaries
and wages and primarily include FICA, medical and dental insurance, long-term disability, life insurance,
worker's compensation, and retirement benefits.

The below table presents projected FTEs by department during the Projection Period.

Table 16
Projected FTEs
Years Ending December 31,

Department: 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Health Care 39.4 39.4 39.4 39.4 39.4
Resident Senices 15.2 15.2 15.2 15.2 15.2
Dietary 36.1 36.4 36.6 36.6 36.6
Plant Operations 7.4 74 7.4 7.4 7.4
Housekeeping & Laundry 11.9 12.4 12.9 12.9 12.9
General Administrative 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Total 118.0 118.8 119.5 119.5 119.5

Source: Management

Health Care

Non-salary related Health Care Center costs are projected based upon Management’s estimate of the
costs of health care supplies, purchased services, consultants, and other miscellaneous costs associated
with providing health care services. These costs are anticipated to increase an average of approximately
5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection Period.

See Independent Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Resident Services

Non-salary related resident service costs are projected based upon Management’s estimate of providing
resident service programs, security, activities supplies, and other miscellaneous costs associated with
resident services. Management assumes that certain of these costs would vary incrementally due to the
completion of the Project. These costs are anticipated to increase an average of approximately 5.0% in
2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection Period.

Dietary

Non-salary related dietary costs are projected based upon Management’'s estimate of the costs of
providing food services to residents of the Village including raw food, dietary supplies, and other
miscellaneous costs associated with providing dietary services. Management assumes that certain of
these costs would vary incrementally due to the completion of the Project. These costs are anticipated to
increase an average of approximately 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection
Period and also to give effect to the impact of the Project.

Plant Operations

Non-salary related plant operations costs are projected based upon Management’s estimate of the costs
of utilities, service contracts, repairs, general maintenance, supplies, and other miscellaneous costs
associated with providing plant operations services. Management assumes that certain of these costs
would vary incrementally due to the completion of the Project. These costs are anticipated to increase
an average of approximately 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection Period
and also to give effect to the impact of the Project.

Laundry

Non-salary related laundry costs are projected based upon Management’'s estimate of the costs of
service contracts, laundry supplies, and other miscellaneous costs associated with providing laundry
services. Management assumes that certain of these costs would vary incrementally due to the
completion of the Project. These costs are anticipated to increase an average of approximately 5.0% in
2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection Period.

Housekeeping

Non-salary related housekeeping costs are projected based upon Management’s estimate of the costs
of service contracts, housekeeping supplies, and other miscellaneous costs associated with providing
housekeeping services. Management assumes that certain of these costs would vary incrementally due
to the completion of the Project. These costs are anticipated to increase an average of approximately
5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually during remainder of the Projection Period and also to give effect to the
impact of the Project.

General and Administrative

Non-salary related general and administrative costs are projected based upon Management’s estimate
of the costs of professional fees, Management Fees, insurance, supplies, and other miscellaneous costs.
These costs are anticipated to increase an average of approximately 5.0% in 2024 and 4.0% annually
during remainder of the Projection Period and also to give effect to the impact of the Project.
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Assets Limited as to Use

Under regulations of the North Carolina Department of Insurance, the Village is required to maintain an
operating reserve based on projected operating expenses. The operating reserve is based on a certain
percentage of operating costs that depends on the independent living and assisted living occupancy. If
occupancy is 90 percent or greater, the reserve percentage is 25 percent; otherwise, it is 50 percent of
operating costs.

Table 17
Statutory Operating Reserve
As of December 31,
(000s Omitted)
As of December 31,

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Total Operating Expenses $ 15,948 $ 16,675 $ 17,289 $ 17,883 $ 18,518
Include:
Principal Payments 238 489 511 530 551
Exclude:
Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs (31) (31) (31) (31) (31)
Depreciation (2,900) (3,038) (3,143) (3,233) (3,344)
Total Operating Costs $ 13,255 $ 14,095 $ 14626 $ 15,149 $ 15,694
Operating Reserve Percentage (" 25% 25% 25% 25% 25%
Operating Reserve at December 31, $ 3,314 § 3,524 $ 3,657 $ 3,787 $ 3,924

Source: Management
Notes:
(1) Management's projected year-end occupancy percentages:
Available Units:

Independent Living Existing 153 153 153 153 153
New Garden Units - 15 15 15 15
Assisted Living 24 24 24 24 24
Total Available Units 177 192 192 192 192
Occupied Units:
Independent Living Existing 146 149 149 149 149
New Garden Units - 14 14 14 14
Assisted Living 17 18 20 20 20
Total Occupied Units 163 181 183 183 183
Occupancy at December 31, 92.1% 94.3% 95.3% 95.3% 95.3%

Source: Management

Assets Under SWAP Agreement
Management has not projected any underlying changes in the value of the SWAP agreement during the

Projection Period.
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Property and Equipment and Depreciation Expense

Management estimates that the Village will incur routine capital additions during the Projection Period
that will be capitalized as property and equipment. Estimated provisions for depreciation during the
Projection Period were computed on the straight-line method using an average 7-year life for capital
equipment additions.

The following table reflects the major categories of property and equipment throughout the Projection
Period.

Table 18
Projected Property and Equipment
Years Ending December 31,
(000s Omitted)

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
Land and Land Improvements $ 7373 $ 7373 $ 7,373 $ 7373 $ 7,373
Building & Fixed Equipment 42,283 46,827 48,977 51,127 53,277
Movable Equipment 2,307 2,307 2,307 2,307 2,307
51,963 56,507 58,657 60,807 62,957
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (2,900) (5,938) (9,081) (12,314) (15,658)
Property and Equipment, Net $ 49,063 $ 50569 $ 49576 $ 48,493 $ 47,299

Source: Management

Long-Term Debt and Interest Expense

In conjunction with the Member Substitution Agreement effective July 1, 2022, the Village joined an
obligated group with Well Spring Retirement Community, Inc. and borrowed bank debt as follows:

e $25,000,000 in long term debt, interest only for 1 year followed by a 29-year amortization. The
debt is variable based on SOFR and has a 15-year maturity.

o $15,000,000 of the debt is fixed at 3.78% with an Interest Rate Swap agreement.
o $10,000,000 of the debt is variable rate based on SOFR.

e $5,000,000 in working capital term loan (the “Working Capital Term Note”), interest only for 1 year
followed by a 29-year amortization. The debt is variable based on SOFR and has a 15-year
maturity. This debt can be drawn down at the Village’s option for three years. Interest is only
payable on the principal that has been drawn. The Working Capital Term Note is anticipated to
be used to fund the construction of the Project and is anticipated to be repaid from initial entrance
fees received from the Project’s independent living units.
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The following table presents projected principal payments, exclusive of the Working Capital Term Note.

Table 19
Projected Principal Payments
Years Ending December 31,
(000s Omitted)

Bank Debt
2023 $ 236
2024 487
2025 508
2026 528
2027 549
2028 568
2029 592
2030 615
2031 639
2032 662
Thereafter 19,616
Total $ 25,000

Source: Management

Due to Parent
Management has projected loans from the Parent, a related party, to fund working capital shortfalls, as
well as funding of the initial operating reserve required by the North Carolina Department of Insurance.

Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees

Deferred revenue reflects the portion of entrance fees that are to be earned into income through
amortization of entrance fees. The deferred revenue from entrance fees acquired through the Member
Substitution Agreement are projected at their estimated fair value. The fair value of those refundable
deposits are accreted to face value using the effective interest method over the estimated life expectancy
of the residents at acquisition. At the date of acquisition, management has assumed an unamortized
discount of approximately $990,000. Management has projected the accreted interest upon amortization
of these agreements on the projected statement of operations and changes in net assets.

Refundable Entrance Fees
Refundable entrance fees represent the portion of entrance fees that are refundable.

Accreted Interest

Accreted interest is forecasted based upon the assumed terms of the Member Substitution Agreement
during the Projection Period.
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Current Assets and Current Liabilities

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents balances for the Projection Period are assumed to reflect net cash flows
during the Projection Period.

Patient Accounts Receivable, Net
Patient accounts receivable, net of allowance for uncollectible accounts are projected at historical levels
which approximate 5 days of operating revenue (excluding investment income).

Investments
Investments are projected based on the anticipated cash flows of the Projected Statements of Cash
Flows.

Inventories
Inventories have been projected based on historical levels which approximate 1 day of operating expense
(excluding depreciation).

Other Current Assets
Other current assets have been projected based on historical levels which approximate 1 day of operating
expenses (excluding depreciation).

Working Capital Term Loan

Represents the amounts utilized to fund the construction of the Project. Management has reflected the
debt as current due to the anticipation that it would be repaid from entrance fees associated with the
Project’s independent living units.

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable have been projected based on historical levels which approximate 3 days of operating
expenses (excluding depreciation).

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses have been projected based on historical levels which approximate 7 days of operating
expenses (excluding depreciation).

Accrued Employee Compensation
Accrued expenses have been projected based on historical levels which approximate 20 days of
operating expenses (excluding depreciation).

Current Portion of Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees
The current portion of deferred revenue from entrance fees has been projected based on the historical
experience of the Village.
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Risks and Uncertainties

During March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the spread of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-
19) a worldwide pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic is having significant effects on global markets,
supply chains, businesses, and communities. Specific to the Village, COVID-19 may impact various parts
of its 2023 operations and financial results including but not limited to additional costs for emergency
preparedness, disease control and containment, potential shortages of healthcare personnel, or loss of
revenue due to reductions in certain revenue streams. Management believes the Village is taking
appropriate actions to mitigate the negative impact. However, the full impact of COVID-19 is unknown
and cannot be reasonably estimated as of the date of this Projection. Management has projected that its
projected occupancies and access to labor would not be materially adversely impacted by COVID-19.

Future Event

Based on the success of the Project, a second phase of 6 additional garden units may be considered by
Management. Such phase has not been reflected in Management’s projection due to the uncertainty of
the timing for such addition.

Related Party Transactions
As previously described, the Village is an affiliate of the Parent, who also is the sole member of Well
Spring Management and Development. Management anticipates the following related party activity
during the Projection Period:
o Activity in the due to Parent related to the initial funding of the North Carolina Statutory Operating
Reserve, as well as for a portion of fund related to the construction of the Project; and
e Allocation of costs related to the management of the Village from Well Spring Management and
Development.
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Wel I'Spring

Alamance Extended Care, Inc. Alamance Extended Care, Inc.
Balance Sheet
As of November 30, 2022

Unaudited
Year Ending Period Ending YTD Change
12/31/2021 11/30/2022
Actual Actual Summary
Assets
Current Assets
Cash & Equivalents 10,037,638 2,679,373 (7,358,264)
Investments 0 311,962 311,961
Accounts Receivable (3,014,720) 1,380,699 4,395,418
Other Current Assets 102,543 166,164 63,623
Total Current Assets 7,125,461 4,538,198 (2,587,262)
Assets Limited to Use
Investments - Limited to Use
Operating Reserves 2,924,000 3,314,000 390,000
Total Investments - Limited to Use 2,924,000 3,314,000 390,000
Total Assets Limited to Use 2,924,000 3,314,000 390,000
Non Current Assets
Net Fixed Assets 52,111,224 43,226,821 (8,884,404)
Other Assets 0 1,332,282 1,332,282
Total Non Current Assets 52,111,224 44,559,103 (7,552,122)
Total Assets 62,160,685 52,411,301 (9,749,384)
Equity & Liabilities
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable 2,339,211 5,580,470 3,241,260
Accrued Expenses 745,633 709,459 (36,175)
Other Current Liability 930 0 (930)
Total Current Liabilities 3,085,774 6,289,929 3,204,155
Non Current Liabilities
Refundable Resident Liabilities 15,256,816 4,353,228 (10,903,588)
Non Refundable Entrance Fees 1,985,520 16,352,580 14,367,060
Long Term Debt (net) 0 24,392,302 24,392,301
Other Liabilities 76,100 0 (76,100)
Total Non Current Liabilities 17,318,436 45,098,110 27,779,673
Total Liabilities 20,404,210 51,388,039 30,983,828
Equity
Unrestricted Net Assets 41,515,442 4,046,916 (37,468,525)
Temp Restricted Net Assets 241,033 330,513 89,480
Total Equity 41,756,475 4,377,429 (37,379,045)
Total Equity & Liabilities 62,160,685 55,765,468 (6,395,217)

Confidential - For Management Use Only

Created on: 02/08/2023, 10:18 AM EST
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Alamance Extended Care, Inc. Alamance Extended Care, Inc.

Summarized Income Statement by Department

As of November 30, 2022

Unaudited
01/01/2022
Month Ending Through
11/30/2022 11/30/2022
Actual MTD Actual YTD
Operating Revenue

MSF-Residential Living 560,752 5,906,624
MSF-Assisted Living 100,922 1,127,601
MSF-Skilled Nursing/Rehab 208,060 2,130,115
Service Rev & Other Rev 162,460 831,277
Total Operating Revenue 1,032,194 9,995,617

Operating Expenses By Department
Assisted Living 52,226 579,194
Memory Care (318) 90
Skilled Nursing/Rehab 134,085 1,526,294
HC Administration 83,098 538,976
Dining Services 188,085 1,750,162
Environmental 49,979 551,811
Maintenance 97,188 1,432,420
Security 20,594 246,214
Community Relations 22,764 308,926
Marketing 43,013 488,518
Administration 205,359 1,925,464
Community Benefit 781 780
Utilities 40,234 541,151
Insurance 25,324 120,738
Taxes 6,875 73,667
Total Operating Expenses By Dept 969,287 10,084,405
Total Operating Net Income By Dept 62,907 (88,788)

NonOperating Income

Confidential - For Management Use Only
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Alamance Extended Care, Inc. Alamance Extended Care, Inc.
Summarized Income Statement by Department
As of November 30, 2022

Unaudited

01/01/2022

Month Ending Through

11/30/2022 11/30/2022

Actual MTD Actual YTD

Earned Entrance Fees (481,086) 2,377,327

Unrestricted Contributions 0 22,175

Investment Earnings 274 2,875

Unrealized Gain/Loss on Investment 0 1,332,282

Total NonOperating Income (480,812) 3,734,659
NonOperating Expenses

Transfers

Transfers - WS Services 0 (3,500,000)

Transfers - Cone Health 0 40,849,053

Total Transfers 0 37,349,053

Interest Expense 88,554 404,877

Benevolence Assistance 2,568 2,568

Depreciation Expense 241,669 3,197,718

Amortization Expense 32,036 160,181

Total NonOperating Expenses 364,827 41,114,397

Total Net Income/(Loss) By Department (782,732) (37,468,526)

Temp Restricted Net Asset Activity 27,148 89,480
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LIFE CARE
RESIDENCE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT
The Village at Brookwood

This Life Care Residence and Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made this
day of , , by and between Alamance Extended Care,
Inc., db.a. THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD, (“The Village” or ‘“Provider”)
and (“Resident”, if more than one person
enters into the agreement, the word “Resident” shall apply to them collectively unless otherwise
stated).

Whereas, the Provider is a non-profit 501(c)(3) corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary
of The Well Spring Group, chartered by the State of North Carolina, and is organized to establish
and operate a retirement community; and

Whereas, the Provider operates The Village at Brookwood, a continuing care retirement
community located on Brookwood Avenue in Burlington, North Carolina, consisting of apartment
residences, garden home residences, a community center with common areas and amenities,
wellness center and a licensed health care center providing assisted living, skilled nursing care,
and memory care; and

Whereas, the Resident desires to enter into this Agreement with The Village, and has made
the following choices regarding residence and accompanying fees:

Residence Number:

Residence Type:
(hereinafter referred to as “Residence”)

Resident Entrance Fee:

Co-Resident Entrance Fee:

Entrance Fee Option:

Resident Monthly Fee:

Co-Resident Monthly Fee:
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Now, therefore, the Resident and the Provider agree as follows:

I. RESIDENCE, COMMON AREAS, AMENITIES, PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

A.

Residence. Except as set forth in this Agreement, the Resident has the right to occupy,
use, and enjoy the Residence and services of The Village during the term of this
Agreement.

Furnishings in the Residence. The Village provides flooring, appliances and other
furnishings per current standards as described in The Village’s current literature. The
Resident will be responsible for furnishing the Residence. All furniture and electrical
and other appliances provided by the Resident shall be subject to The Village’s
approval in order to keep the Residence safe and sanitary.

Options and Custom Features in the Residence. The Resident may select certain
options and custom features for the Residence as described in The Village’s literature
for an additional charge. Any such options and custom features selected and paid for
by the Resident will become the property of The Village. The value of any such
improvements will be considered in computing refunds if such options or custom
features involve structural changes to the Residence or substantially increase livable
square footage in the Residence.

Common Areas and Amenities. The Village maintains common areas and amenities
for the use and benefit of all residents.

Parking. The Village provides parking areas for the Resident's personal vehicle and
limited parking for guests.

Storage. Limited storage space of one (1) unit per apartment is provided by The
Village for apartment residents and shall be in addition to the space in each apartment.
Garden homes have storage rooms adjacent to the carport and/or garage.

Services and Programs.

1. Utilities. The Village furnishes heating, air conditioning, electricity, water, sewer
service, trash removal, basic cable TV and secure WIFI access. The Resident is
responsible for the charges for telephone service and expanded cable television
service. The Village shall not be responsible for any periods of disruption regarding
these utilities.

2. Dining Services. The Village will provide nutritionally balanced meals per
published dining hours. The Resident’s monthly service fee will include a meal
plan, which the Resident may choose in accordance with The Village dining
services procedures. The cost of additional meals taken by the Resident will be
billed on a monthly basis.
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3. Special Diets. When authorized by the Village’s medical and dietary personnel,
meals accommodating special diets may be provided. The Provider may make
additional charges for special diets.

4. Tray Service. When authorized by The Village, meal delivery may be provided
to you in your Residence. The Village may make additional charges for meals
delivered to the Residence per current scheduled fees.

5. Housekeeping Services. The Village provides weekly housekeeping services.
Additional housekeeping may be scheduled at the request and expense of the
Resident.

6. Laundry. The Village provides washers and dryers in the Residence.

7. Grounds-keeping. The Village furnishes basic grounds-keeping services
including lawn, tree, and shrubbery care. The Resident may plant and maintain
certain areas designated for such purpose by The Village.

8. Maintenance and Repairs. The Village maintains and repairs its own
improvements, furnishings, appliances, and equipment. The Resident will be
responsible for the cost of repairing damage to property of The Village caused by
the Resident or any guests of the Resident, ordinary wear and tear excepted.

9. Transportation. The Village provides local transportation for medical
appointments for residents on a regularly scheduled basis. An additional charge
may be made for transportation for special, personal, or group trips.

10. Security. The Village is a gated community providing twenty-four (24) hour
staffing to include evening and nighttime security patrol. Emergency call devices
are provided, and smoke detectors will be located in each Residence. Security
cameras may be located in parking areas and at building entrances or other common
areas.

11. Life Enrichment. The Village provides planned and scheduled social, recreational,
spiritual, educational and cultural activities; arts and crafts classes; and other special
activities. Some activities may require an additional charge.

12. Wellness Programs. The Village provides a variety of exercise programs,
including aquatic classes, exercise equipment and aerobics as a part of an overall
Wellness Program.

13. Health Care Services:

a. Health Care Center. The Health Care Center consists of licensed Assisted
Living, Memory Care, and Skilled Nursing accommodations.

(1) Assisted Living Services. The Assisted Living section of the Provider is
licensed by North Carolina as an Adult Care Home, where assistance with
daily living activities may include: bathing, dressing, administration of
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medication, bed making, three (3) meals per day, housekeeping,
transportation, activities, and personal laundry service.

(2) Memory Care. The Village provides, in a separate Assisted Living section
of the facility licensed by North Carolina as an Adult Care Home,
specialized services for memory support. Assistance with daily living
activities tailored to the different needs of the residents may include:
bathing, dressing, administration of medication, bed making, three (3) meals
per day, housekeeping, transportation, specialized activities, and personal
laundry service.

(3) Skilled Nursing Services. The Village provides nursing care in its licensed
nursing center as may be deemed necessary by the Medical Director and/or
their staff. The Resident agrees that nursing care provided by The Village
shall be limited to care in keeping with licensure requirements. Services
may include three (3) meals per day, housekeeping, assistance with daily
living activities, and nursing services as ordered by the appropriate
physician.

(4) Staffing. The Health Care Center is staffed by licensed and certified
nursing staff twenty-four (24) hours per day and meets all North Carolina
licensing requirements.

b. Clinic Services:

(1) A health clinic, staffed with a licensed nurse, is available on site during
scheduled hours for resident use.

(2) Additional periodic services may be provided through the Clinic as deemed
necessary by The Village. The cost of such services shall be the
responsibility of the Resident.

c. Medical Director. The overall coordination and supervision of health care
services by The Village is provided by a Medical Director who is a physician
licensed by the State of North Carolina and selected by Provider.

d. Physician Services. The Resident is responsible for the cost of all physician
services. Residents are free to choose their personal physicians; however, The
Village recommends that the Resident have at least one physician on record that
has been approved for admitting privileges by the Alamance Regional Medical
Center Medical Staff.
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I1. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

A. Entrance Fee Refund. The Resident agrees to pay to The Village an Entrance Fee as
a condition of becoming a Resident. Refunds will be handled as described in Section

VI below.
Entrance Fee Amortization Schedule
Refund
Standard The Entrance Fee (less an initial 6% nonrefundable

fee) will be amortized at 2% per month for 47 months
after which time the Entrance Fee is fully amortized.
Any refund due to the Resident will be paid (as
described in Section VI below).

A. Terms of Payment of the Balance of the Entrance Fee. The balance of the total
Entrance Fee for the Entrance Fee Option selected by the Resident will be due and
payable by the mutually agreed upon date of occupancy.

B. Monthly Fee. In addition to the Entrance Fee, the Resident agrees to pay a Monthly
Fee during occupancy which shall be payable upon receipt of invoice each month. The
first month’s Monthly Fee is due and payable by the date of occupancy and will be
prorated based on the day of the month.

C. Adjustments in the Monthly Fee. The Monthly Fee provides for the facilities,
programs, and services described in this Agreement and is intended to meet the cost of
the expenses associated with the operation and management of The Village. The
Village shall have the authority and discretion to adjust the Monthly Fee during the
term of this Agreement to reflect increases and changes in costs of providing the
facilities, programs, and services described herein consistent with operating on a sound
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financial basis and maintaining the quality of services provided to residents. At least a
thirty (30) day notice will be given to the Resident before any adjustment in fees or
charges.

. Away Allowance. Residents away from The Village for fourteen (14) consecutive days

or more, and who make arrangements in advance with The Village (excluding
hospitalizations), will be credited with a current published dining services credit.

. Monthly Statements. The Village will furnish the Resident with a monthly statement

showing the total amount of fees and other charges owed by the Resident which shall
be due and payable upon receipt of invoice each month. The Village may charge
interest at a rate of one and one-half Percent (1'2%) per month on any unpaid balance
owed by the Resident Thirty (30) Days after the monthly statement is furnished.

F. Fees and Charges for Health Care Services.

1. Life Care Benefit. Should the Resident qualify for services in the Health Care
Center, it is understood that at the time of transfer the Resident will be charged a
monthly fee known as the Life Care Benefit. The Life Care Benefit will apply to
Assisted Living, Assisted Living Memory Care and Skilled Nursing
accommodations.

2. Additional Charges for Ancillary Services. Charges in addition to the monthly
fee may be made for ancillary services provided at The Village. Examples of such
additional ancillary charges include, but are not limited to: the cost of prescription
and non-prescription medications; surgical, podiatric, dental, optical services;
physical examinations; physician services; laboratory tests; physical therapy,
occupational therapy, rehabilitative treatments; wheelchairs; other medical
equipment and supplies; and any other medical services beyond those available in
The Village. Such services are contracted and may not be regularly available. Also,
any professional services (medical or otherwise) contracted by the Resident or on
behalf of the Resident shall be billed directly to the Resident or their assigned third

party.

3. Illness Away From the Village. The Resident agrees to assume all financial
responsibility for hospital, medical and nursing care during any illness or accident
occurring while away from The Village and to see that, upon return, full medical
information is supplied to The Village for the Resident’s medical records file.

4. Life Care Respite Benefit. Fourteen (14) days of qualified respite care are
available to Life Care Residents on an annual basis. This benefit applies to skilled
nursing only.

ADMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES

The admission requirements for residence at The Village are non-discriminatory; The
Village is open to individuals of all races, color, gender, religious beliefs, sexual orientation
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and national origin. A prospective resident will become qualified for admission to The
Village upon satisfaction of the following provisions:

A. Age. Generally, admission is restricted to persons 62 years of age or older. If one
member of the residential party is 62, the co-resident may be 55 years of age or older.

B. Residence and Services Agreement. Upon notification of acceptance by Provider,
the Resident shall enter into this Agreement.

C. Representations. The Resident affirms that the representations made in the required
Application for Residency as well as the Reservation Agreement that was previously
executed by the parties (which representations include a confidential personal and
health history and a financial disclosure), are true and correct and may be relied upon
by the Provider as a basis for entering into this Agreement.

D. Direct Admission to Health Care Center. Upon admission, if it is determined by
Provider that Resident is unable to live independently in the residence, such resident
may be offered direct admission to the Health Care Center. Such Resident shall pay
monthly fees equal to the current Fee for Service per diem rate (as described in The
Village’s current literature) in the Health Care Center (for the required level of care,
Assisted Living, Skilled Care or Memory Care). Residents directly admitted to the
Health Care Center shall complete the Amendment to Residence and Services
Agreement for Direct Admission to Health Care and documents as required by the
Provider and North Carolina licensure statutes. In the event a Resident that qualifies
for direct admission into the Health Care Center has a Co-Resident that does not qualify
for such direct admission, the Co-Resident shall continue to be governed by the terms
of this Agreement as a single occupant of the Residence.

IV. TERMS OF OCCUPANCY

A. Rights of Resident. The Resident has the right to occupy, use, and enjoy the
Residence, common areas, amenities, programs, and services of The Village during the
term of this Agreement. It is understood that this Agreement does not transfer or grant
any interest in the real or personal property owned by the Provider other than the rights
and privileges as described in this Agreement.

Occupancy (and the obligations of the Provider for care of the Resident) shall be
defined as beginning when the Resident has paid the Entrance Fee in full and has paid
the first month’s Monthly Fee.

B. Policies and Procedures. The Resident will abide by The Village’s policies and
procedures and such amendments, modifications, and changes of the policies and
procedures as may hereafter be adopted by the Provider.

C. Changes in the Residence, Services, or Fees. Provider has the right to change the
Residence, the services offered, or the fees charged to meet requirements of, or changes
to any applicable statute, law, or regulation. The Residence may not be used in any
manner in violation of any zoning ordinances or other governmental law or regulation.

The Village at Brookwood Page 7 of 16 February 6, 2023



Life Care Residence & Services Agreement

D. Visitors. The Resident shall be free to invite guests to the Residence for daily and
overnight visits. Guest rooms may be available from time to time at a reasonable rate
for overnight stays by your guests. The Village reserves the right to make rules
regarding visits and guest behavior and may limit or terminate a visit at any time for
reasons it deems appropriate. Two (2) weeks is the maximum continuous stay for
guests unless prior approval from the Executive Director is obtained. Except for short-
term guests, no person other than the Resident or a Co-Resident, if any, may reside in
the Residence without prior approval of The Village.

E. Occupancy by Two Residents. In the event that two Residents occupy a Residence
under the terms of this Agreement, upon the permanent transfer to the Health Care
Center or the death of one Resident, or in the event of the termination of this Agreement
with respect to one of the Residents, the Agreement shall continue in effect as to the
remaining or surviving Resident who shall have the option to retain the same
Residence. Should the remaining or surviving Resident wish to move to another
residence, the policies of The Village governing said residence transfer will prevail.

F. Addition of a Co-Resident or Marriage. If a Resident marries a person who is also
a Resident, the two Residents may occupy the Residence of either Resident and shall
surrender the Residence not to be occupied by them. Such married Residents will pay
the Monthly Fee for double occupancy associated with the Residence occupied by
them. In the event that a Resident shall marry a person who is not a Resident of The
Village, the spouse may become a Resident if such spouse meets all the current
requirements for admission to The Village, enters into a current version of the Life Care
Residence and Services Agreement with Provider, and pays the current single person
Entrance Fee for the smallest one bedroom apartment at The Village. The Resident and
spouse shall pay the Monthly Fee for double occupancy associated with the Residence
occupied by them. If the Resident's spouse does not meet the requirements of The
Village for admission as a resident, the Resident may terminate this Agreement in the
same manner as provided in Section VI.B. hereof with respect to a voluntary
termination.

G. Loss or Damage of Property. Provider shall not be responsible for the loss or damage
of any property belonging to the Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire
or any other cause. Resident shall provide any desired insurance protection covering
any such personal loss. Provider shall insure all property (except personal property)
within all residences and common areas belonging to The Village.

H. Health Insurance and Assignments. If not already enrolled, the Resident shall apply
for and secure, before taking occupancy, coverage under Medicare Parts A and B and
any other hospital or medical insurance benefit program which supplements Medicare
or other comparable insurance accepted by Provider. The Resident shall provide
Provider with evidence of such coverage or of an acceptable substitute insurance plan
and shall pay all premiums.
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The Resident shall authorize, as necessary, any provider of hospital, medical, and

health services to receive reimbursement under the programs designated in this Section
IV. H.

If the Resident is or becomes entitled to medical care and/or reimbursement from
governmental agencies or insurance policies, application shall be made for such care
and benefits, and the Resident shall assign all insurance proceeds receivable to Provider
to the extent necessary to reimburse Provider for all health care expenditures made by
Provider on behalf of the Resident.

I. Right of Entry. Resident hereby authorizes employees or agents of Provider to enter
the Residence for reasonable purposes, including without limitation the following:
housekeeping, repairs, maintenance, inspection, fire drills, and in the event of
emergency. Provider shall when feasible use reasonable efforts to enter at scheduled
times or upon prior notice to Resident. Resident shall afford Provider’s employees or
agents access to all areas of the Residence when requested to ensure that the Residence
is maintained in good repair in accordance with this Agreement and to ensure the health
and safety of Resident and other Residents.

J. Residents’ Association. Residents of The Village are encouraged to participate in the
Residents’ Association Committees. The organization elects representatives, officers,
and other positions to engage in concerted activities set forth by the Residents’
Association.

K. Tobacco Free Campus. The Village at Brookwood is a Tobacco Free Campus.
Smoking and tobacco use is prohibited for residents, staff and visitors.

V. TRANSFERS OR CHANGES IN LEVELS OF CARE

A. Voluntary Transfer between Independent Residences. The Resident may transfer
from one independent Residence to another. The Resident shall comply with The
Village’s current Resident Transfer Advantage Program for selection of such
Residence. There may be a refurbishment fee (for the Residence being vacated) charged
for such a transfer.

1. Transfer of Resident to a Larger Residence. If the Resident elects to transfer to
a larger Residence, an additional Entrance Fee (according to the Entrance Fee
Refund Option selected at the original Date of Occupancy) equal to the difference
between the Entrance Fee for the smaller Residence and the Entrance Fee for the
larger Residence will be due to The Village. The Resident will also pay the Monthly
Service Fee associated with the larger Residence.

2. Transfer of Resident to a Smaller Residence. The Resident may elect to transfer
to a smaller Residence and pay the current monthly service fee for that Residence.
The transfer to a smaller Residence shall not result in any entrance fee refund.

B. Transfer to the Health Care Center. The Resident agrees that Provider shall have
authority to determine that the Resident be transferred from one level of care to another
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level of care within The Village. Such determination shall be based on the professional
opinion of the Medical Director and shall be made after reasonable efforts to consult
with the Resident or the Resident’s chosen and legal representative.

. Transfer to Hospital or Other Facility. If it is determined by Provider that the

Resident needs care beyond that which can be provided by The Village; the Resident
may be transferred to a hospital, center, or institution equipped to give such care and
such care will be at the expense of the Resident. Such transfer of the Resident will be
made only after consultation to the extent possible with the Resident or the Resident’s
chosen and legal representative.

. Surrender of Residence. If a determination is made by Provider that any transfer

described in Section V.B. or V.C. is likely to be permanent in nature, the Resident
agrees to surrender the Residence upon such transfer. The Provider shall continue
charging the monthly fees until such time that the Residence is vacated. If Provider
subsequently determines that the Resident can resume occupancy in a Residence or
accommodation comparable to that occupied by the Resident prior to such transfer, the
Resident shall have priority to such residence as soon as it becomes available.

TERMINATION AND REFUND PROVISIONS

A. Termination by Resident Prior to Occupancy. This Agreement may be terminated

by the Resident for any reason prior to occupancy by giving written notice to Provider.
In the event of such termination, the Resident shall receive a refund of the 10% Deposit
paid by the Resident, less any expenses incurred by The Village and less a
nonrefundable fee equal to 2% of the total amount of the selected Entrance Fee option.

If the Resident dies before occupying the Residence, or if, on account of illness, injury,
or incapacity, the Resident would be precluded from occupying the Residence under
the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically canceled. The
nonrefundable fee (equal to 2% of the total amount of the selected Entrance Fee option)
will not be charged, however, if such termination is because of death of a Resident, or
because the Resident's physical, mental or financial condition makes the Resident
ineligible for entrance to The Village.

Any such refund shall be paid by The Village within sixty (60) days following receipt
of notification of such termination. Provider requires that such notification be in
writing.

. Voluntary Termination after Occupancy. At any time after occupancy, the Resident

may terminate this Agreement by giving Provider thirty (30) days written notice of such
termination. Such notice effectively releases the Residence to The Village. Any refunds
of the Entrance Fee due to the Resident shall be calculated based upon the Entrance
Fee option chosen by the Resident and as described in Section II.A. Any refund due the
Resident under this paragraph will be made at such time as such Resident's Residence
shall have been reserved by a prospective resident and such prospective resident shall
have paid to The Village the full Entrance Fee, or within one
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(1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs. All refunds may be
reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original condition and by any
outstanding charges due from Resident.

. Termination upon Death. In the event of death of the Resident at any time after

occupancy, this Agreement shall terminate and the refund of the Entrance Fee paid by
the Resident shall be calculated based upon the Entrance Fee option chosen by the
Resident and as described in Section II.A. Any refund due to the Resident’s estate will
be made at such time as such Resident's Residence shall have been reserved by a
prospective resident and such prospective resident shall have paid to The Village the
full Entrance Fee, or within one (1) year from the date of termination, whichever first
occurs. All refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original
condition and by any outstanding charges due from Resident.

. Termination by Provider. Provider may terminate this Agreement at any time if there

has been a material misrepresentation or omission made by the Resident in the
Resident’s Application for Admission, Personal Health History, or Confidential
Financial Statement; if the Resident fails to make payment to Provider of any fees and
charges due The Village within sixty (60) days of the date when due; or if the Resident
does not abide by the rules and regulations adopted by Provider or breaches any of the
terms and conditions of this Agreement. Any refunds of the Entrance Fee due to the
Resident shall be calculated based upon the Entrance Fee option chosen by the Resident
and as described in Section II.A. Any refund due the Resident under this paragraph will
be made at such time as such Resident's Residence shall have been reserved by a
prospective resident and such prospective resident shall have paid to The Village the
full Entrance Fee, or within one (1) year from the date of termination, whichever first
occurs. All refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original
condition and by any outstanding charges due from Resident.

. Condition of Residence. At termination of this Agreement, the Resident shall vacate

the Residence and shall be liable to The Village for any cost incurred in restoring the
Residence to good condition except for normal wear and tear. The Provider shall
continue charging the monthly fees until such time that the Residence is vacated. Any
refunds due the Resident upon termination may be credited against the cost of returning
the Residence to its original condition.

RIGHT OF RESCISSION

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by the
Resident giving written notice of such rescission to The Village within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of this Agreement or the receipt of the Disclosure
Statement that meets the requirements of Section 58-64-25, et.seq. of the North Carolina
General Statutes. In the event of such rescission, the Resident shall receive a refund of the
Entrance Fee paid by the Resident, less 2%. The Resident shall not be required to move
into The Village before the expiration of such thirty (30) day period. Any such refund shall
be paid by The Village within sixty (60) days following receipt of written notice of
rescission pursuant to this paragraph.
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VIII. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Provider declares that it is the intent of The Village to permit a Resident to continue to
reside at The Village if the Resident is no longer capable of paying the prevailing fees and
charges of The Village as a result of financial reversals occurring after occupancy, provided
such reversals, in Provider’s judgment, are not the result of willful or unreasonable
dissipation of the Resident's assets. In the event of such circumstances, Provider will give
careful consideration to subsidizing the fees and charges payable by the Resident so long
as such subsidy can be made without impairing the ability of Provider to operate on a sound
financial basis. Any determination by Provider with regard to the granting of financial
assistance shall be within the sole discretion of Provider.

IX. GENERAL

A. Relationships between Residents and Staff Members. Employees of The Village are
supervised solely by The Village’s management staff, and not by residents. Employees
and their families may not accept gratuities, bequests, or payment of any kind from
residents. Any complaints about employees or requests for special assistance must be
made to the appropriate supervisor or to the Executive Director or his/her designee. The
Resident acknowledges and agrees that the Resident or the Resident’s family will not
hire The Village’s employees or solicit such employees to resign their employment at
The Village in order to work for the Resident or the Resident’s family. The Resident
also acknowledges and agrees that, unless consented to by The Village, the Resident
will not hire any former Village employee until three (3) months has elapsed from the
date of termination of the person’s employment at The Village.

B. Assignment. The rights and privileges of the Resident under this Agreement to the
Residence, common areas, and amenities, and services, and programs of The Village
are personal to the Resident and may not be transferred or assigned by the Resident or
otherwise.

C. Management of The Village at Brookwood. The absolute rights of management are
reserved by Provider, its Board of Directors, and its administration as delegated by said
Board of Directors. The Village retains all authority regarding acceptance of Residents,
adjustment of fees, financial assistance, and all other aspects of the management of The
Village. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of admission
of any other Resident.

D. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Provider
and the Resident. Provider shall not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements,
representations, or promises made by any person representing or assuming to represent
Provider, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set forth in this
Agreement.

E. Successors and Assigns. Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of The Village and the heirs,
executors, administrators, and assigns of the Resident.
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F. Power of Attorney, Will, Living Will, and Health Care Power of Attorney. The
Resident agrees to execute a power of attorney designating some competent person as
attorney-in-fact. The Resident is also encouraged to execute a will, Living Will and
Health Care Power of Attorney. The Resident shall provide The Village with copies of
Power of Attorney, Living Will, and Health Care Power of Attorney, as well as the
location of the Will, prior to occupancy.

G. Transfer of Property. The Resident agrees not to make any gift or other transfer of
property for less than adequate consideration for the purpose of evading the Resident's
obligations under this Agreement or if such gift or transfer would render such Resident
unable to meet such obligations.

H. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of North
Carolina.

I. Disclosure Statement. The Resident acknowledges that a current copy of the
Disclosure Statement for The Village at Brookwood has been received.

J. Third Party Injuries and Claims. Provider is not required to provide any medical,
surgical, nursing or other care for the Resident when the Resident is injured as a result
of the fault or negligence of a third party or parties. The Resident shall promptly notify
Provider of any such injury. In the event that Provider provides such care as can be
furnished by its employees and facilities, the Resident hereby assigns to Provider any
compensation that the Resident may recover from such third party or parties to the
extent necessary to reimburse Provider for the cost of such care furnished by Provider.
The Resident or his legal representative shall have the duty to pursue diligently any and
all proper claims for compensation due from a third party or parties for injury to the
Resident and to cooperate with Provider in collecting such compensation and
reimbursing Provider for the cost of all such care provided the Resident.

K. Affiliations of the Provider. The Village at Brookwood is not affiliated with any
religious or charitable provider other than its owner, The Well Spring Group. All
financial and contractual obligations of The Village at Brookwood will be the sole
responsibility of The Village; the owner will not be responsible for any of these
obligations.

L. Notice Provisions. Any notices, consents, or other communications to The Village
hereunder (collectively "notices") shall be in writing and addressed as follows:

Executive Director

The Village at Brookwood

1860 Brookwood Avenue
Burlington, North Carolina 27215

The address of the Resident for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing
after the signature of the Resident below.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Provider has executed this Agreement and Resident
has read and understands this Agreement and has executed this Agreement as of the
day and year above written.

Witness Resident
Witness Co-Resident
Date

Address (Prior to Occupancy)

City, State, Zip Code

Telephone

THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD

Signature (Executive Director)

Date
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EXHIBIT A

TARGET OCCUPANCY DATE:

FEE SCHEDULE:

RESIDENCE NUMBER:
RESIDENCE TYPE:

ENTRANCE FEE FOR:
() Resident

() Co-Resident

TOTAL ENTRANCE FEE:

Life Care Residence & Services Agreement

Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees are based on the
type of Residence you occupy and the number of
persons residing in the Residence. The Residence
you have selected, and the applicable fees are stated
below:

CREDIT FOR FRIENDS ADVANTAGE
PROGRAM (FAP) OR WAIT LIST: (

CREDIT FOR PARTIAL PAYMENTS OF
THE ENTRANCE FEE RECEIVED: (

ENTRANCE FEE BALANCE DUE AND
PAYABLE:

MONTHLY FEE FOR:
() Resident

() Co-Resident

TOTAL MONTHLY FEE:
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ADDRESSES FOR REQUIRED NOTICE:

To The Village:
The Village at Brookwood
Attention: Executive Director
1860 Brookwood Avenue
Burlington, NC 27215

To You Prior to Occupancy:

Name:

Life Care Residence & Services Agreement

Address:

City, State, Zip Code:

To You Following Occupancy:

Name:

Address:

City, State, Zip Code:

Your signature below certifies that you have read, understand and accept this Exhibit A.

Applicant:

Co-Applicant:

Date:

The Village at Brookwood

Page 16 of 16

February 6, 2023



Attachment E
Residence and Services Agreement
Fee for Service



FEE FOR SERVICE
RESIDENCE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT
The Village at Brookwood

This Fee for Service Residence and Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made this

day of , , by and between Alamance Extended Care,
Inc., d.b.a. THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD, (“The Village” or “Provider”) and
(“Resident”, if
more than one person enters into the agreement, the word “Resident” shall apply to them
collectively unless otherwise stated).

Whereas, the Provider is a non-profit 501(c)(3) corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of The Well Spring Group, chartered by the State of North Carolina, and is organized to establish
and operate a retirement community; and

Whereas, the Provider operates The Village at Brookwood, a continuing care retirement
community located on Brookwood Avenue in Burlington, North Carolina, consisting of apartment
residences, garden home residences, a community center with common areas and amenities,
wellness center and a licensed health care center providing assisted living, skilled nursing care,
and memory care; and

Whereas, the Resident desires to enter into this Agreement with The Village, and has made
the following choices regarding residence and accompanying fees:

Residence Number:

Residence Type:
(hereinafter referred to as “Residence”)

Resident Entrance Fee:

Co-Resident Entrance Fee:

Resident Monthly Fee:

Co-Resident Monthly Fee:
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Now, therefore, the Resident and the Provider agree as follows:

I. RESIDENCE, COMMON AREAS, AMENITIES, PROGRAMS AND SERVICES

A.

Residence. Except as set forth in this Agreement, the Resident has the right to occupy,
use, and enjoy the Residence and services of The Village during the term of this
Agreement.

Furnishings in the Residence. The Village provides flooring, appliances and other
furnishings per current standards as described in The Village’s current literature. The
Resident will be responsible for furnishing the Residence. All furniture and electrical
and other appliances provided by the Resident shall be subject to The Village’s
approval in order to keep the Residence safe and sanitary.

Options and Custom Features in the Residence. The Resident may select certain
options and custom features for the Residence as described in The Village’s literature
for an additional charge. Any such options and custom features selected and paid for
by the Resident will become the property of The Village. The value of any such
improvements will be considered in computing refunds if such options or custom
features involve structural changes to the Residence or substantially increase livable
square footage in the Residence.

Common Areas and Amenities. The Village maintains common areas and amenities
for the use and benefit of all residents.

Parking. The Village provides parking areas for the Resident's personal vehicle and
limited parking for guests.

Storage. Limited storage space of one (1) unit per apartment is provided by The
Village for apartment residents and shall be in addition to the space in each apartment.
Garden homes have storage rooms adjacent to the carport and/or garage.

Services and Programs.

1. Utilities. The Village furnishes heating, air conditioning, electricity, water, sewer
service, trash removal, basic cable TV and secure WIFI access. The Resident is
responsible for the charges for telephone service and expanded cable television
service. The Village shall not be responsible for any periods of disruption regarding
these utilities.

2. Dining Services. The Village will provide nutritionally balanced meals per
published dining hours. The Resident’s monthly service fee will include a meal
plan, which the Resident may choose in accordance with The Village dining
services procedures. The cost of additional meals taken by the Resident will be
billed on a monthly basis.
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Fee for Service Residence & Services Agreement

3. Special Diets. When authorized by the Provider’s medical and dietary personnel,
meals accommodating special diets may be provided. The Provider may make
additional charges for special diets.

4. Tray Service. When authorized by The Village, meal delivery may be provided to
you in your Residence. The Village may make additional charges for meals
delivered to the Residence per current scheduled fees.

5. Housekeeping Services. The Village provides housekeeping services every other
week. Additional housekeeping may be scheduled at the request and expense of the
Resident.

6. Laundry. The Village provides washers and dryers in the Residence.

7. Grounds-keeping. The Village furnishes basic grounds-keeping services
including lawn, tree, and shrubbery care. The Resident may plant and maintain
certain areas designated for such purpose by The Village.

8. Maintenance and Repairs. The Village maintains and repairs its own
improvements, furnishings, appliances, and equipment. The Resident will be
responsible for the cost of repairing damage to property of The Village caused by
the Resident or any guests of the Resident, ordinary wear and tear excepted.

9. Transportation. The Village may provide transportation services for residents. An
additional charge may be made for transportation for special, personal, or group
trips.

10. Security. The Village is a gated community providing twenty-four (24) hour
staffing to include evening and nighttime security patrol. Emergency call devices
are provided and smoke detectors will be located in each Residence. Security
cameras may be located in parking areas and at building entrances or other common
areas.

11. Life Enrichment. The Village provides planned and scheduled social,
recreational, spiritual, educational and cultural activities; arts and crafts classes; and
other special activities. Some activities may require an additional charge.

12. Wellness Programs. The Village provides a variety of exercise programs,
including aquatic classes, exercise equipment and aerobics as a part of an overall
Wellness Program.

13. Health Care Services:

a. Health Care Center. The Health Care Center consists of licensed Assisted
Living, Memory Care, and Skilled Nursing accommodations.

(1) Assisted Living Services. The Assisted Living section of the Provider is
licensed by North Carolina as an Adult Care Home, where assistance with
daily living activities may include: bathing, dressing, administration of
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medication, bed making, three (3) meals per day, housekeeping,
transportation, activities, and personal laundry service.

(2) Memory Care. The Village provides, in a separate Assisted Living section
of the facility licensed by North Carolina as an Adult Care Home,
specialized services for memory support. Assistance with daily living
activities tailored to the different needs of the residents may include:
bathing, dressing, administration of medication, bed making, three (3) meals
per day, housekeeping, transportation, specialized activities, and personal
laundry service.

(3) Skilled Nursing Services. The Village provides nursing care in its licensed
nursing center as may be deemed necessary by the Medical Director and/or
their staff. The Resident agrees that nursing care provided by The Village
shall be limited to care in keeping with licensure requirements. Services
may include three (3) meals per day, housekeeping, assistance with daily
living activities, and nursing services as ordered by the appropriate
physician.

(4) Staffing. The Health Care Center is staffed by licensed and certified
nursing staff twenty-four (24) hours per day and meets all North Carolina
licensing requirements.

b. Clinic Services:

(1) A health clinic, staffed with a licensed nurse, is available on site during
scheduled hours for resident use.

(2) Additional periodic services may be provided through the health clinic as
deemed necessary by The Village. The cost of such services shall be the
responsibility of the Resident.

c. Medical Director. The overall coordination and supervision of health care
services by The Village is provided by a Medical Director who is a physician
licensed by the State of North Carolina and selected by Provider.

d. Physician Services. The Resident is responsible for the cost of all physician
services. Residents are free to choose their personal physicians; however, The
Village recommends that the Resident have at least one physician on record that
has been approved for admitting privileges by the Alamance Regional Medical
Center Medical Staff.
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I1. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

A. Entrance Fee Refund. The Resident agrees to pay to The Village an Entrance Fee as
a condition of becoming a Resident. Refunds will be handled as described in Section

VI below.
Entrance Fee Amortization Schedule
Refund
Standard The Entrance Fee (less an initial 6% nonrefundable

fee) will be amortized at 2% per month for 47 months
after which time the Entrance Fee is fully amortized.
Any refund due to the Resident will be paid (as
described in Section VI below).

B. Terms of Payment of the Balance of the Entrance Fee. The balance of the total
Entrance Fee will be due and payable by the mutually agreed upon date of occupancy.

C. Monthly Fee. In addition to the Entrance Fee, the Resident agrees to pay a Monthly
Fee during occupancy which shall be payable upon receipt of invoice each month. The
first month’s Monthly Fee is due and payable by the date of occupancy and will be
prorated based on the day of the month.

D. Adjustments in the Monthly Fee. The Monthly Fee provides for the facilities,
programs, and services described in this Agreement and is intended to meet the cost of
the expenses associated with the operation and management of The Village. The
Village shall have the authority and discretion to adjust the Monthly Fee during the
term of this Agreement to reflect increases and changes in costs of providing the
facilities, programs, and services described herein consistent with operating on a sound
financial basis and maintaining the quality of services provided to residents. At least a
thirty (30) day notice will be given to the Resident before any adjustment in fees or
charges.

E. Monthly Statements. The Village will furnish the Resident with a monthly statement
showing the total amount of fees and other charges owed by the Resident which shall
be due and payable upon receipt of invoice each month. The Village may charge
interest at a rate of one and one-half Percent (1'42%) per month on any unpaid balance
owed by the Resident Thirty (30) Days after the monthly statement is furnished.

F. Fees and Charges for Health Care Services.

Should the Resident need and qualify for the services of the Health Care Center, it is
understood that the Resident will be charged the published “per diem rate” for those
services. The Village will file Medicare and third party insurance when deemed to be
a covered benefit.

1. Additional Charges for Ancillary Services. Charges in addition to the monthly
fee may be made for ancillary services provided at The Village. Examples of such
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Fee for Service Residence & Services Agreement

additional ancillary charges include, but are not limited to: the cost of prescription
and non-prescription medications; surgical, podiatric, dental, optical services;
physical examinations; physician services; laboratory tests; physical therapy,
occupational therapy, rehabilitative treatments; wheelchairs; other medical
equipment and supplies; and any other medical services beyond those available in
The Village. Such services are contracted and may not be regularly available. Also,
any professional services (medical or otherwise) contracted by the Resident or on
behalf of the Resident shall be billed directly to the Resident or their assigned third

party.

2. Illness Away From the Village. The Resident agrees to assume all financial
responsibility for hospital, medical and nursing care during any illness or accident
occurring while away from The Village and to see that, upon return, full medical
information is supplied to The Village for the Resident’s medical records file.

ADMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES

The admission requirements for residence at The Village are non-discriminatory; The
Village is open to individuals of all races, color, gender, religious beliefs, sexual orientation
and national origin. A prospective resident will become qualified for admission to The
Village upon satisfaction of the following provisions:

A. Age. Generally, admission is restricted to persons 62 years of age or older. If one

member of the residential party is 62, the co-resident may be 55 years of age or older.

. Residence and Services Agreement. Upon notification of acceptance by Provider,

the Resident shall enter into this Agreement.

. Representations. The Resident affirms that the representations made in the required

Application for Residency as well as the Reservation Agreement that was previously
executed by the parties (which representations include a confidential personal and
health history and a financial disclosure), are true and correct and may be relied upon
by the Provider as a basis for entering into this Agreement.

. Direct Admission to Health Care Center. Upon admission, if it is determined by

Provider that Resident is unable to live independently in the Residence, the Resident
may be offered direct admission to the Health Care Center. Such Resident shall pay
monthly fees equal to the current Fee for Service per diem rate (as described in The
Village’s current literature) in the Health Care Center (for the required level of care,
Assisted Living, Skilled Care or Memory Care). Residents directly admitted to the
Health Care Center shall complete the Amendment to Residence and Services
Agreement for Direct Admission to Health Care and documents as required by the
Provider and North Carolina licensure statutes. In the event a Resident that qualifies
for direct admission into the Health Care Center has a Co-Resident that does not qualify
for such direct admission, the Co-Resident shall continue to be governed by the terms
of this Agreement as a single occupant of the Residence.
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Iv. TERMS OF OCCUPANCY

A.

Rights of Resident. The Resident has the right to occupy, use, and enjoy the
Residence, common areas, amenities, programs, and services of The Village during the
term of this Agreement. It is understood that this Agreement does not transfer or grant
any interest in the real or personal property owned by the Provider other than the rights
and privileges as described in this Agreement.

Occupancy (and the obligations of the Provider for care of the Resident) shall be
defined as beginning when the Resident has paid the Entrance Fee in full and has paid
the first month’s Monthly Fee.

Policies and Procedures. The Resident will abide by The Village’s policies and
procedures and such amendments, modifications, and changes of the policies and
procedures as may hereafter be adopted by the Provider.

Changes in_the Residence, Services, or Fees. Provider has the right to change the
Residence, the services offered, or the fees charged to meet requirements of, or changes
to any applicable statute, law, or regulation. The Residence may not be used in any
manner in violation of any zoning ordinances or other governmental law or regulation.

Visitors. The Resident shall be free to invite guests to the Residence for daily and
overnight visits. Guest rooms may be available from time to time at a reasonable rate
for overnight stays by your guests. The Village reserves the right to make rules
regarding visits and guest behavior and may limit or terminate a visit at any time for
reasons it deems appropriate. Two (2) weeks is the maximum continuous stay for
guests unless prior approval from the Executive Director is obtained. Except for short-
term guests, no person other than the Resident or a Co-Resident, if any, may reside in
the Residence without prior approval of The Village.

Occupancy by Two Residents. In the event that two Residents occupy a Residence
under the terms of this Agreement, upon the permanent transfer to the Health Care
Center or the death of one Resident, or in the event of the termination of this Agreement
with respect to one of the Residents, the Agreement shall continue in effect as to the
remaining or surviving Resident who shall have the option to retain the same
Residence. Should the remaining or surviving Resident wish to move to another
residence, the policies of The Village governing said residence transfer will prevail.

Addition of a Co-Resident or Marriage. If a Resident marries a person who is also
a Resident, the two Residents may occupy the Residence of either Resident and shall
surrender the Residence not to be occupied by them. Such married Residents will pay
the Monthly Fee for double occupancy associated with the Residence occupied by
them. In the event that a Resident shall marry a person who is not a Resident of The
Village, the spouse may become a Resident if such spouse meets all the current
requirements for admission to The Village, enters into a current version of the Fee for
Service Residence and Services Agreement with Provider, and pays the current single
person Entrance Fee for the smallest one bedroom apartment at The Village. The
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Resident and spouse shall pay the Monthly Fee for double occupancy associated with
the Residence occupied by them. If the Resident's spouse does not meet the
requirements of The Village for admission as a resident, the Resident may terminate
this Agreement in the same manner as provided in Section VI.B. hereof with respect to
a voluntary termination.

G. Loss or Damage of Property. Provider shall not be responsible for the loss or damage
of any property belonging to the Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire
or any other cause. Resident shall provide any desired insurance protection covering
any such personal loss. Provider shall insure all property (except personal property)
within all residences and common areas belonging to The Village.

H. Health Insurance and Assignments. If not already enrolled, the Resident shall apply
for and secure, before taking occupancy, coverage under Medicare Parts A and B and
any other hospital or medical insurance benefit program which supplements Medicare
or other comparable insurance accepted by Provider. The Resident shall provide
Provider with evidence of such coverage or of an acceptable substitute insurance plan,
and shall pay all premiums.

The Resident shall authorize, as necessary, any provider of hospital, medical, and
health services to receive reimbursement under the programs designated in this Section
IV.H.

If the Resident is or becomes entitled to medical care and/or reimbursement from
governmental agencies or insurance policies, application shall be made for such care
and benefits, and the Resident shall assign all insurance proceeds receivable to Provider
to the extent necessary to reimburse Provider for all health care expenditures made by
Provider on behalf of the Resident.

I. Right of Entry. Resident hereby authorizes employees or agents of Provider to enter
the Residence for reasonable purposes, including without limitation the following:
housekeeping, repairs, maintenance, inspection, fire drills, and in the event of
emergency. Provider shall when feasible use reasonable efforts to enter at scheduled
times or upon prior notice to Resident. Resident shall afford Provider’s employees or
agents access to all areas of the Residence when requested to ensure that the Residence
is maintained in good repair in accordance with this Agreement and to ensure the health
and safety of Resident and other Residents.

J. Residents’ Association. Residents of The Village are encouraged to participate in the
Residents’ Association Committees. The organization elects representatives, officers,
and other positions to engage in concerted activities set forth by the Residents’
Association.

K. Tobacco Free Campus. The Village at Brookwood is a Tobacco Free Campus.
Smoking and tobacco use is prohibited for residents, staff and visitors.
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TRANSFERS OR CHANGES IN LEVELS OF CARE

A.

Voluntary Transfer between Independent Residences. The Resident may transfer
from one independent Residence to another. The Resident shall comply with The
Village’s current Resident Transfer Advantage Program for selection of such
Residence. There may be a refurbishment fee (for the Residence being vacated) charged
for such a transfer.

1. Transfer of Resident to a Larger Residence. If the Resident elects to transfer to
a larger Residence, an additional Entrance Fee (according to the Entrance Fee at
the original Date of Occupancy) equal to the difference between the Entrance Fee
for the smaller Residence and the Entrance Fee for the larger Residence will be due
to The Village. The Resident will also pay the Monthly Service Fee associated with
the larger Residence.

2. Transfer of Resident to a Smaller Residence. The Resident may elect to transfer
to a smaller Residence, and pay the current monthly service fee for that Residence.
The transfer to a smaller Residence shall not result in any entrance fee refund.

Transfer to the Health Care Center. The Resident agrees that Provider shall have
authority to determine that the Resident be transferred from one level of care to another
level of care within The Village. Such determination shall be based on the professional
opinion of the Medical Director, and shall be made after reasonable efforts to consult
with the Resident or the Resident’s chosen and legal representative.

Transfer to Hospital or Other Facility. If it is determined by Provider that the
Resident needs care beyond that which can be provided by The Village, the Resident
may be transferred to a hospital, center, or institution equipped to give such care and
such care will be at the expense of the Resident. Such transfer of the Resident will be
made only after consultation to the extent possible with the Resident or the Resident’s
chosen and legal representative.

Surrender of Residence. If a determination is made by Provider that any transfer
described in Section V.B. or V.C. is likely to be permanent in nature, the Resident
agrees to surrender the Residence upon such transfer. The Provider shall continue
charging the monthly fees until such time that the Residence is vacated. If Provider
subsequently determines that the Resident can resume occupancy in a Residence or
accommodation comparable to that occupied by the Resident prior to such transfer, the
Resident shall have priority to such residence as soon as it becomes available.

TERMINATION AND REFUND PROVISIONS

A.

Termination by Resident Prior to Occupancy. This Agreement may be terminated
by the Resident for any reason prior to occupancy by giving written notice to Provider.
In the event of such termination, the Resident shall receive a refund of the 10% Deposit
paid by the Resident, less any expenses incurred by The Village and less a
nonrefundable fee equal to 2% of the total amount of the Entrance Fee.
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If the Resident dies before occupying the Residence, or if, on account of illness, injury,
or incapacity, the Resident would be precluded from occupying the Residence under
the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically canceled. The
nonrefundable fee (equal to 2% of the total amount of the Entrance Fee) will not be
charged, however, if such termination is because of death of a Resident, or because the
Resident's physical, mental or financial condition makes the Resident ineligible for
entrance to The Village.

Any such refund shall be paid by The Village within sixty (60) days following receipt
of notification of such termination. Provider requires that such notification be in
writing.

B. Voluntary Termination after Occupancy. Atany time after occupancy, the Resident
may terminate this Agreement by giving Provider thirty (30) days written notice of such
termination. Such notice effectively releases the Residence to The Village. Any refunds
of the Entrance Fee due to the Resident shall be calculated as described in Section I1.A.
Any refund due the Resident under this paragraph will be made at such time as such
Resident's Residence shall have been reserved by a prospective resident and such
prospective resident shall have paid to The Village the full Entrance Fee, or within one
(1) year from the date of termination, whichever first occurs. All refunds may be
reduced by the cost of returning the Residence to its original condition and by any
outstanding charges due from Resident.

C. Termination upon Death. In the event of death of the Resident at any time after
occupancy, this Agreement shall terminate and the refund of the Entrance Fee paid by
the Resident shall be calculated as described in Section II.A. Any refund due to the
Resident’s estate will be made at such time as such Resident's Residence shall have
been reserved by a prospective resident and such prospective resident shall have paid
to The Village the full Entrance Fee, or within one (1) year from the date of termination,
whichever first occurs. All refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the
Residence to its original condition and by any outstanding charges due from Resident.

D. Termination by Provider. Provider may terminate this Agreement at any time if there
has been a material misrepresentation or omission made by the Resident in the
Resident’s Application for Admission, Personal Health History, or Confidential
Financial Statement; if the Resident fails to make payment to Provider of any fees and
charges due The Village within sixty (60) days of the date when due; or if the Resident
does not abide by the rules and regulations adopted by Provider or breaches any of the
terms and conditions of this Agreement. Any refunds of the Entrance Fee due to the
Resident shall be calculated as described in Section I.A. Any refund due the Resident
under this paragraph will be made at such time as such Resident's Residence shall have
been reserved by a prospective resident and such prospective resident shall have paid
to The Village the full Entrance Fee, or within one (1) year from the date of termination,
whichever first occurs. All refunds may be reduced by the cost of returning the
Residence to its original condition and by any outstanding charges due from Resident.
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VIII.
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E. Condition of Residence. At termination of this Agreement, the Resident shall vacate
the Residence and shall be liable to The Village for any cost incurred in restoring the
Residence to good condition except for normal wear and tear. The Provider shall
continue charging the monthly fees until such time that the Residence is vacated. Any
refunds due the Resident upon termination may be credited against the cost of returning
the Residence to its original condition.

RIGHT OF RESCISSION

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by the
Resident giving written notice of such rescission to The Village within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of this Agreement or the receipt of the Disclosure
Statement that meets the requirements of Section 58-64-25, et.seq. of the North Carolina
General Statutes. In the event of such rescission, the Resident shall receive a refund of the
Entrance Fee paid by the Resident, less 2%. The Resident shall not be required to move
into The Village before the expiration of such thirty (30) day period. Any such refund shall
be paid by The Village within sixty (60) days following receipt of written notice of
rescission pursuant to this paragraph.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Provider declares that it is the intent of The Village to permit a Resident to continue to
reside at The Village if the Resident is no longer capable of paying the prevailing fees and
charges of The Village as a result of financial reversals occurring after occupancy, provided
such reversals, in Provider’s judgment, are not the result of willful or unreasonable
dissipation of the Resident's assets. In the event of such circumstances, Provider will give
careful consideration to subsidizing the fees and charges payable by the Resident so long
as such subsidy can be made without impairing the ability of Provider to operate on a sound
financial basis. Any determination by Provider with regard to the granting of financial
assistance shall be within the sole discretion of Provider.

GENERAL

A. Relationships between Residents and Staff Members. Employees of The Village are
supervised solely by The Village’s management staff, and not by residents. Employees
and their families may not accept gratuities, bequests, or payment of any kind from
residents. Any complaints about employees or requests for special assistance must be
made to the appropriate supervisor or to the Executive Director or his/her designee.
The Resident acknowledges and agrees that the Resident or the Resident’s family will
not hire The Village’s employees or solicit such employees to resign their employment
at The Village in order to work for the Resident or the Resident’s family. The Resident
also acknowledges and agrees that, unless consented to by The Village, the Resident
will not hire any former Village employee until three (3) months has elapsed from the
date of termination of the person’s employment at The Village.

B. Assignment. The rights and privileges of the Resident under this Agreement to the
Residence, common areas, and amenities, and services, and programs of The Village
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are personal to the Resident and may not be transferred or assigned by the Resident or
otherwise.

C. Management of The Village at Brookwood. The absolute rights of management are
reserved by Provider, its Board of Directors, and its administration as delegated by said
Board of Directors. The Village retains all authority regarding acceptance of Residents,
adjustment of fees, financial assistance, and all other aspects of the management of The
Village. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of admission
of any other Resident.

D. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Provider
and the Resident. Provider shall not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements,
representations, or promises made by any person representing or assuming to represent
Provider, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set forth in this
Agreement.

E. Successors and Assigns. Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of The Village and the heirs,
executors, administrators, and assigns of the Resident.

F. Power of Attorney, Will, Living Will, and Health Care Power of Attorney. The
Resident agrees to execute a power of attorney designating some competent person as
attorney-in-fact. The Resident is also encouraged to execute a will, Living Will and
Health Care Power of Attorney. The Resident shall provide The Village with copies of
Power of Attorney, Living Will, and Health Care Power of Attorney, as well as the
location of the Will, prior to occupancy.

G. Transfer of Property. The Resident agrees not to make any gift or other transfer of
property for less than adequate consideration for the purpose of evading the Resident's
obligations under this Agreement or if such gift or transfer would render such Resident
unable to meet such obligations.

H. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of North
Carolina.

I. Disclosure Statement. The Resident acknowledges that a current copy of the
Disclosure Statement for The Village at Brookwood has been received.

J. Third Party Injuries and Claims. Provider is not required to provide any medical,
surgical, nursing or other care for the Resident when the Resident is injured as a result
of the fault or negligence of a third party or parties. The Resident shall promptly notify
Provider of any such injury. In the event that Provider provides such care as can be
furnished by its employees and facilities, the Resident hereby assigns to Provider any
compensation that the Resident may recover from such third party or parties to the
extent necessary to reimburse Provider for the cost of such care furnished by Provider.
The Resident or his legal representative shall have the duty to pursue diligently any and
all proper claims for compensation due from a third party or parties for injury to the
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Resident and to cooperate with Provider in collecting such compensation and
reimbursing Provider for the cost of all such care provided the Resident.

K. Affiliations of the Provider. The Village at Brookwood is not affiliated with any
religious or charitable provider other than its owner, The Well Spring Group. All
financial and contractual obligations of The Village at Brookwood will be the sole
responsibility of The Village; the owner will not be responsible for any of these
obligations.

L. Notice Provisions. Any notices, consents, or other communications to The Village
hereunder (collectively "notices") shall be in writing and addressed as follows:

Executive Director

The Village at Brookwood

1860 Brookwood Avenue
Burlington, North Carolina 27215

The address of the Resident for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing
after the signature of the Resident below.
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Fee for Service Residence & Services Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, The Provider has executed this Agreement and Resident has
read and understands this Agreement and has executed this Agreement and the Ten Percent
(10%) Deposit has been paid as of the day and year above written.

Witness Resident
Witness Co-Resident
Date

Address (Prior to Occupancy)

City, State, Zip Code

Telephone

THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD

Signature (Executive Director)

Date
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Fee for Service Residence & Services Agreement

EXHIBIT A

TARGET OCCUPANCY DATE:

FEE SCHEDULE: Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees are based on the
type of Residence you occupy and the number of
persons residing in the Residence. The Residence
you have selected and the applicable fees are stated
below:

RESIDENCE NUMBER:

RESIDENCE TYPE:

ENTRANCE FEE FOR:
() Resident

() Co-Resident

TOTAL ENTRANCE FEE:

CREDIT FOR FRIENDS ADVANTAGE
PROGRAM (FAP) OR WAIT LIST: ( )

CREDIT FOR PARTIAL PAYMENTS OF
THE ENTRANCE FEE RECEIVED: ( )

ENTRANCE FEE BALANCE DUE AND
PAYABLE:

MONTHLY FEE FOR:
() Resident

() Co-Resident

TOTAL MONTHLY FEE:
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ADDRESSES FOR REQUIRED NOTICE:

To The Village:
The Village at Brookwood
Attention: Executive Director
1860 Brookwood Avenue
Burlington, NC 27215

To You Prior to Occupancy:

Name:

Fee for Service Residence & Services Agreement

Address:

City, State, Zip Code:

To You Following Occupancy:

Name:

Address:

City, State, Zip Code:

Your signature below certifies that you have read, understand and accept this Exhibit A.

Applicant:

Co-Applicant:

Date:

The Village at Brookwood

Page 16 of 16
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RESERVATION AGREEMENT
The Village at Brookwood

The undersigned applicant(s) ("you") hereby tender(s) this Reservation Agreement (“Agreement”),
together with payment of Reservation Fee (described below) to The Village at Brookwood, ("The
Village") for the purpose of reserving an Independent Living Residence at The Village at
Brookwood, in Burlington, North Carolina ("The Village").

The terms of this Agreement between you and The Village are as follows:
TERM

This Agreement becomes effective when signed by both you and The Village, and The Village
receives your Reservation Fee. This Agreement terminates when you sign a Residence and
Services Agreement with The Village, unless it is terminated earlier by you or by The Village in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

THE RESERVED RESIDENCE

You have reserved the Independent Living Residence identified on the attached Exhibit A (the
"Reserved Residence"). A site plan showing the location of the Reserved Residence together with
a floor plan of the Reserved Residence are attached. This Reservation Agreement gives you first
priority to enter into a Residence and Services Agreement for the Reserved Residence before the
Residence is made available to other applicants for independent living residences in The Village.

The Village has made every effort to accurately describe its plans for the Reserved Residence and
The Village in the informational materials and Disclosure Statement furnished to you. The
Reserved Residence and The Village may vary somewhat from the information furnished to you.
The Village will furnish you with a Disclosure Statement as required by North Carolina law.

FEES
The Reservation Fee and Entrance Fee for the Reserved Residence shall be payable as follows:

e The Reservation Fee shall equal ten percent (10%) of the Entrance Fee (less the One
Thousand Dollar ($1,200.00) FAP fee, if applicable) as set forth in Exhibit A. It shall be
paid upon execution of this Reservation Agreement and will be credited to the total
Entrance Fee. The Entrance Fee for your Reserved Residence for the Refund Option
selected shall not be increased above the Entrance Fee set forth on Exhibit A.

e The balance of the Entrance Fee and first month’s Monthly Fee shall be due and payable
at or before your Target Occupancy Date (as described on Exhibit A).

e Checks for all fees should be made payable to The Village at Brookwood.

The Village at Brookwood 1 February 6, 2023



Reservation Agreement

ACCEPTANCE TO THE VILLAGE

To begin the process of obtaining residency at The Village, you must select an available Residence
and submit an Application for Residency, provided by The Village, which includes a confidential
personal and health history and a financial disclosure, this signed Reservation Agreement, and the
Reservation Fee (which shall equal ten percent (10%) of the selected Entrance Fee option set forth
on Exhibit A). All confidential documents will be kept on file at The Village. You agree to provide
The Village with true and complete responses to all information requested by The Village.

Your Application for Residency will be reviewed by The Village. The Village requires an onsite
health assessment to be conducted by our healthcare team within thirty (30) days of this
Agreement. You shall also submit a report of a physical examination, completed on a medical
form provided by The Village, by a physician of your choice and returned to The Village no more
than sixty (60) days prior to occupancy. The form shall include a statement by the physician that
the you are in good health and are capable of independent living (able to provide self-care in
activities of daily living). You shall be responsible for the cost of such physical examinations. If
your health as disclosed by such physical examination differs materially from that disclosed in
your Application for Residency, The Village shall have the right to decline your admission to the
Residence and may offer occupancy in the Health Care Center. If additional information is
required, you or your physician will be contacted, and The Village may contact and request
information from other physicians and health care providers who have provided you with
treatment.

Once The Village has received the additional information from your physician, The Village will
evaluate your eligibility for residency at The Village in accordance with its residency criteria. For
residency at The Village, applicants must be at least sixty-two (62) years of age, in the case of Co-
applicants, the Co-applicant must be at least fifty-five (55) years of age, able to live independently,
and possess adequate resources to meet present and future financial obligations to The Village for
the Reserved Residence selected.

Your race, color, gender, religious beliefs, sexual orientation, or national origin will not have any
bearing upon whether you are accepted into The Village.

If you are approved for residency at The Village, an acceptance letter will be sent welcoming you.
You agree to execute the then current version of the Residence and Services Agreement within
seven (7) calendar days after The Village notifies you that you have been accepted for residency
at The Village.

You agree that if you are accepted for residency by The Village and decide to sign a Residence
and Services Agreement, you will commence occupancy on a mutually agreed upon date. This
date shall not be more than ninety (90) calendar days after you sign the Residence and Services
Agreement. The Village will use its best efforts to establish an occupancy date that is acceptable
to you. The balance of the Entrance Fee and first month’s Monthly Fee shall be due and payable
at or before your Target Occupancy Date.
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Reservation Agreement

TERMINATION AND REFUNDS

This Agreement will terminate upon any of the following occurrences:

(a) you fail to pay the Reservation Fee;

(b) you die, or if your Co-applicant dies, before the Residence and Services Agreement
becomes effective;

(c) you submit to The Village written notice of termination of Agreement for any reason;

(d) you are not accepted by The Village;

(e) you fail to sign a Residence and Services Agreement in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement;

(f) you experience changes in your financial status prior to occupancy at The Village that
causes you to fail to meet The Village's financial qualifications for admission;

(g) you experience changes in your health status that prevent you from being able to live in
independent living.

The Reservation Fee, less any fees charged by The Village, will be credited to the balance of the
Entrance Fee when payment of that balance is due.

If you or The Village terminate this Agreement for a reason other than your signing a Residence
and Services Agreement, The Village shall have the right to reassign the Reserved Residence, and
you will have no further rights to that Reserved Residence except that a surviving Co-applicant
shall be given the opportunity to enter into a new Reservation Agreement for the Reserved
Residence based on single occupancy or on joint occupancy with another Co-applicant before the
Reserved Residence is offered to others. In case of termination of this Agreement for reasons set
forthina., b.,d., f., and g. above, The Village will return all Reservation Fees, less any fees charged
by The Village, to you or your legal representative. Should this Agreement be terminated for the
reasons set forth in c. or e. above, in addition to any fees charged by The Village, The Village
reserves the right to withhold an administrative charge of two percent (2%) of your total Entrance
Fee amount, from any refunds owed to you to the extent permitted by law.

Any refund due to you will be made within sixty (60) days after the termination of this Agreement
(unless this Agreement is terminated as a result of you and The Village entering into a residence
and Services Agreement in which no refund is due hereunder).

MISCELLANEOUS

Your rights under this Agreement may not be transferred to any other person. When a reservation
is made by Co-applicants, the word "you" shall be deemed to include both of you.

This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of North Carolina, and specifically by
the North Carolina law governing continuing care facilities, Chapter 58, Article 64 of the General
Statutes of North Carolina.

Notices shall be given in writing and shall be given to The Village or to you at the addresses set
forth in Exhibit A, or at such address as The Village and you shall specify in writing to each other.

The Village at Brookwood 3 February 6, 2023



Reservation Agreement

By signing this Agreement, you certify that you understand and agree to its terms.

By signing this Agreement, you acknowledge that you received a current copy of The Village

Disclosure Statement dated , 20
Applicant's Signature Date
Co-Applicant's Signature Date

THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD

Authorized Representative Date
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Reservation Agreement

EXHIBIT A

TARGET OCCUPANCY DATE:

FEE SCHEDULE: Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees are based on the
type of Residence you occupy and the number of
persons residing in the Residence. The Residence
you have selected and the applicable fees are stated
below:

RESIDENCE NUMBER:

RESIDENCE TYPE:

ENTRANCE FEE FOR:
() Resident

() Co-Resident

TOTAL ENTRANCE FEE:

CREDIT FOR FRIENDS ADVANTAGE
PROGRAM (FAP) OR WAIT LIST: ( )

CREDIT FOR PARTIAL PAYMENTS OF
THE ENTRANCE FEE RECEIVED: ( )

ENTRANCE FEE BALANCE DUE AND
PAYABLE:

MONTHLY FEE FOR:
() Resident

() Co-Resident

TOTAL MONTHLY FEE:

REFUND OPTION SELECTED:
() Life Care — Standard, Declining Refund

() Life Care — Fifty Percent (50%) Refund
() Life Care — Ninety Percent (90%) Refund
() Fee For Service — Standard, Declining Refund
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ADDRESSES FOR REQUIRED NOTICE:

To The Village:
The Village at Brookwood
Attention: Executive Director
1860 Brookwood Avenue
Burlington, NC 27215

To You Prior to Occupancy:

Name:

Reservation Agreement

Address:

City, State, Zip Code:

To You Following Occupancy:

Name:

Address:

City, State, Zip Code:

Your signature below certifies that you have read, understand and accept this Exhibit A.

Applicant:

Co-Applicant:

Date:

The Village at Brookwood

February 6, 2023
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ACTUARIAL COMPILATION REPORT
FOR

THE VILLAGE AT BROOKWOOD
AS OF SEPTEMBER 20, 2020

prepared
March 6, 2021

1604 Hilltop West Exacutive Ctr., Suite 311
Virginia Beach, Virginia 23451-8132
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MANAGING CONSULTANTS
AY Powell, ASA, MAAA
Moally Shaw, ASA, MAAA
Michael Hopper, CPA

David Shaw, FSA, EA, MAAA

March 6, 2021

Mr. Steve Fleming

_ President/CEQ

The Well Spring Group
4100 Well Spring Drive
Greensboro, NC 27410

Dear Mr. Fleming:

We have prepared a compilation of actuarial tables and projections for The Village at Brookwood
based on census data as of September 30, 2020, i_ngcmal unaudited financial statements as of
September 30, 2020, and the fiscal year 2021 operating budget and capital budgets, all of which were
provided by you, Enclosed are several tables that show the results of this compilation. It is our opinion
that the financial condition of The Village at Brookwood is in satisfactory actuarial balance as defined
by Actuarial Standards of Practice No. 3 and The Village at Brookwood has earned the AVP
exemplary recognition seal,

A.V. Powell & Associates’ actuarial compilation report inctudes the following items:

e A projection of future population flows and independent living turnover
» An actuarial valuation of reserves held on behalf of current residents
e An actuarial pricing analysis of fees charged to new entrants

» A cash flow projection of {uture cash sources and uses

These projections, evaluated together, provide a reasonable basis for determining whether the CCRC
contracts are priced adequately. Due to the long-term nature of CCRC contracts, and uncertainties
regarding health care and refund guarantees, sound financial management requires integration of
actuarial methods into CCRC financial projections.

By applying actuarial techniques, management can quantify a policy to minimize intergenerational
subsidies. This means that the fee structure is expected to be self-supporting for each generation of
residents. Contracts are priced, and evaluated, with a goal of matching the annual increase in monthly
and entry fees to the rate of increase in the CCRC’s expenses. The internal inflation rate includes
increasing costs related to adding programs and services as well as normal expense inflation. An

Providing actuarial and financial projections o organizations serving senior populations
1804 Hilliog YWest Shoouing Caaer Suite 31 ¢ Virgnua Heach VA 23515172
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Mr. Steve Fleming
March 6, 2021
Page 2

adequately priced fee structure will automatically result in the accumulation of funds to cover the

future shortfall between fees and deferred liabilities.

Eopulation Projection

The population projection {refer to Table 2.1) shows expected independent living turnover and health
center utitization by contractholders for the next 20 years.

The population projection indicates that independent living turnover is expected to average about 15
units per year. The actuarial projection indicates that turnover is likely to range from about 9 units per
year to 21 units per year due to random fluctuation in experience.

The population projection shows that The Village at Brookwood has sufficient health center (assisted
living and nursing care) capacity to meet expected contractholder needs. This projection does not
include any direct admits to assisted living or nursing care in the starting census, nor does it assume
any future direct admits into these care levels. The health care utilization only reflects residents who
originated in independent living. Assisted living utilization is projected to remain level at 17 to 20
beds per year throughout the 20-year projection period. Nursing care utilization is projected to
increase to 23 beds per year by the end of the 20-year projection period.

These projections are based on the September 30, 2020, census (refer to Table 0,1.1) and increasing
occupancy from 146 independent living units as of September 30, 2020, to 149 units as of September
30,2021, and level thereafter. The average age of the current census is 85 years (refer to Table 0.1.2)
and the assumed weighted average entry age is 80 years (refer to Table 1.4). The life expectancy for
the typical female entrant is 10.1 years (refer to Table 1.3); this value is based on actuarial decrement
assumptions that were developed from an analysis of The Village at Brookwood experience.

Our health care utilization projections are consistent with the historical practices at The Village at
Brookwood and other similar CCRCs around the country. Health care utilization can be influenced
by several factors, including management’s philosophy regarding aging-in-place, the number and mix
of health care beds, and the availability of home care services and private duty nurses. Therefore, if
transfer policies change in the future, actual utilization could be different than projected.

v
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Mr. Steve Fleming
March 6, 2021
Page 3

Actuarial Valuation

The purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine whether The Village at Brookwood has
adequate reserves to fund its contractual obligation to residents as of the valuation date (refer to Table
4.1). The actuarial valuation provides an early warning of deficiencies in pricing policies, far in
advance of a financial crisis.

The funded status of The Village at Brookwood is 136.3%. The funded status as of September 30,
2019, was 140.8%. The funded status decreased due to operating expenses inereasing at amuch higher
percentage (16%) over 2019 operating budget and monthly fees increasing as only 3%. The funded
status represents the portion of liabilities (future expenses) covered by assets (future monthly fees and
reserves). A funded status of 100% means the liability is fully funded. A funded status of 105% to
110% is desirable to assure an appropriate surplus. For CCRCs reviewed by A.V.Powell &
Associates the median funded status is 106.0%. The funded status for The Village at Brookwood
places it in the top quartile (2bave the 75™ percentile) of CCRCs in our database. -

The funded status is based on the original cost of fixed assets and may be revalued if new entrant fees
generate a surplus, [f an alternative fixed asset value and corresponding liabilities are used, then the
funded status may be higher. The revaluation is discussed in the “Evaluation of ASOP#3 Conditions™.

Actuarial reserves should be sufficient to offset the difference between future revenues and future
expenses. Actuarial reserves consist of liquid assets, such as cash and investments, and non-liquid
asscts, such as land and physical plant minus specific liabilities and the actuarial present value of long-
term debt. Reserves total $70.1 million as of September 30, 2020 (refer to Table 4.4).

Another statistic related to the actuarial valuation is the liquid reserve ratio (LRR). The LRR measures
the degree by which actuarial labilities are covered by liquid assets. It is neither necessary not
desirable that a CCRC show a 100% LRR. Often, the LRR will be lower in the earlier operating years
of a CCRC., 1t is expected to increase over time as the physical plant ages. The median LRR for
CCRCs reviewed by AVPis 51.7%. The LRR for The Village at Brookwood is 28.1%, which places
it in the bottom quartile (below the 25% percentile) of CCRCs in our database.
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New Entrant Pricing

The new entrant pricing analysis (refer to Table 5.1 — 5.4) indicates whether the entrance fee and
monthly fees charged to new entrants are expected to cover the cost of care associated with the
contract. This analysis provides information about whether fees for specific contract options cover

the expected contractual obligations.

The pricing analysis results in deficits for all contract types that are currently offered by The Village
at Brookwood, as shown in the following table.

New Contract
Confract | Sutplus Distribution
Standard Lifecare (13%) | 25%
Fee-for-Service 2017 " (5.8%) 70%
50% Refundable Lifecare | (1.2%) 0%
90% Refundable Lifecare | (0.8%) 5%

The median surplus for CCRCs reviewed by AVP is 11.7%. The weighted average deficit of (4.7%)
for contract offered by The Village at Brookwood is in the bottom quartile (below the 25% percentile)
of CCRCs in our database.

The actuarial surplus for singles and couples for all contracts (both nonrefundable and refundable)
shows that couples generate lower surpluses than singles within each unit type, which indicates that
second person fees do not cover the additional costs associated with another person in the unit. The
actuarial analysis also shows that larger units subsidize smaller units since their actuarial surplus is
higher. This result is common within the CCRC industry.

We recommend that future monthly fee increases be no less than budgeted expense increases to ensurc
that the combination of monthly fees and eniry fees are sufficient to cover future costs. Moreover,
this condition is necessary to validate the implicit assumption underlying the actuarial valuation that
fees for new entrants are adequate to cover their share of costs. If fees are not increased to match
internal expense inflation, it is -[iksly that the funded status of The Village at Brookwood will decline

in future actuarial valuations.

{
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Cash Flow Projection

The 20-year cash flow projection (refer to Tables 6.1 and 4.5) indicates whether positive cash and
investment balances will be maintained and debt covenants will be met. Reserves must increase at an
average annual rate at least equal to the inflation rate in order to maintain the balance between
increasing liabilities and revenues.

The cash flow projection for The Village at Brookwood shows increasing cash and investment
balances for all years. The median 10-year reserve accumulation factor for CCRCs reviewed by AVP
is 2.20. The 10-year reserve accumulation factor for The Village at Brookwood is 3.19, placing it in
the third quartile (between the Soth and 75t percentiles) of CCRCs in. our database.

This analysis integrates the population projection with financial information. Bach projection year
includes the projected independent living turnover and new entrance fees, projected population
movements and likely health care utilization by contractholders, and the appropriate revenues
assoctated with the projected living status.

The cash flow projection is based on the assumption that 25% of new entrants will select the standard
lifecare contract, and 70% will select the fee-for-service 2017 contract, and 5% will select the 90%

refund lifecare contract.

Evaluation of ASOP#3 Conditions

In the Actuarial Standards of Practice No. 3 (“ASOP#3”), the American Academy of Actuaries
defines three conditions to determine whether or not a CCRC is in satisfactory actuarial balance
(“SAB”). Condition 1 is adequate reserves for current residents and requires an actuarial
calculation that determines whether or not the CCRC will be able to meet its long-t¢rm contractual
obligations to residents. Condition 2 is adequate fee structure for a cohort of new entrants and
requires an actuarial calculation to determine whether or not the combination of the entry fee plus
future monthly fees will cover the operating and capital costs of care and pay refunds, ifany, to a
typical group of entrants. Condition 3 is positive projected cash and investment balances and uses
an actuarially-based resident census projection by level of care to determine whether or not future
cash balances will be increasing and if bond covenants will be met, if applicable.
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In addition to testing for these three conditions, the actuary should review the assumptions used in
their calculations in regard to reasonableness, both individually and in aggregate, with
consideration given to the level of surplus available for adverse fluctuations in experience and
explicit or implicit contingency margins for uncertainty in the actuarial assumptions,

Our experience during the past 30 years shows that approximately 50-to-60% of our actuarial
studies generated results where clients pass Conditions 1 and 2 using actuarial book values for
fixed assets whereas other investment assets are reflected at current, or averaged, market values.
For the other 40-t0-50% of clients, most fail Condition 1 adequate reserves but pass Condition 2
adequate fees and a few (less than 5% of total) pass Condition 1 adequate reserves but fail
Condition 2. In these latter two cases, if the results show that a positive actuarial surplus exists for
either the new entrant cohort fee structure or reserves for current residents, then it is appropriate
and necessary for the actuary to combine the individual results of Conditions [ and 2 to make an
evaluation that determines if this surplus associated with the passed condition is sufficient to fund
the deficit associated with the failed condition and therefore support the finding/opinion that the
CCRC is in satisfactory actuarial balance. We refer to the resulting value as the “unified funded
status” and it is calculated by replacing the actuarial book value of fixed assets with the actuarial
appraisal value of fixed assets and the corresponding actuarial depreciation.

For those cases where either Condition 1 or 2 are not met based on actuarial book values of fixed
assets and their corresponding actuarial depreciation expenses, the unified funded status is used as
an alternative solution to determine whether or not a community is in satisfactory actuarial balance.
If the unified funded status exceeds 100% by a sufficient amount that the actuary deems is
appropriate for adequate surplus, then the community meets Condition 1. [t should be noted that
the unified funded status implicitly confirms that the new entrant cohort pricing is 0% so that
Condition 2 is satisfied. In cases where Condition 1 and 2 are met based on actuarial book value
of fixed assets, the unified funded status will also show the community to be in satisfactory
actuarial balance. However, unilied funded status has explanatory value for all communities. Use
of this metric allows the actuary to provide consistent opinions regarding satisfactory actuarial
balance among various CCRCs as well as for the same CCRCs over time.

Using ASOP#3 and techniques previously described, AV Powell & Associates has established
four categories of findings for our clients’ comprehensive actuarial study results:
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(1) *“Not in satisfactory actuarial balance” for CCRCs who fail one or more of the three
ASOP#3 conditions since their unified funded status is less than 100% or their cash
balances are projected to be negative;

(2) “In satisfactory actuarial balance with qualifications about surplus and contingency
margins” for CCRCs who pass all three ASOP#3 conditions since their unified funded
status is greater than or equal to 100%, bui their unified funded status does not generate
sufficient margins for surplus and contingencies in accordance with AVP internal

" guidelines; .

(3) “In satisfactory actuarial balance” for CCRCs who pass all three ASOP#3 conditions since
their unified funded status is greater than or equal to 100%, and their unified funded status
does generate sufficient margins for surplus and contingencies; and

(4) “In satisfactory actuarial balance with AVP seal” for a limited number of CCRCs, typically
less than 50% annually, who pass all three ASOP#3 conditions since their unified funded
status is greater than or equal to 100%, and their unified funded status does generate
sufficient margins for surplus and contingencies and exceeds the AVP benchmarks for the
current year. Designation of this status is documented by the inclusion of the AVP
exemplary recognition seal in the actuarial repert opinion statement.

CCRCs must have positive and increasing cash balances to be categorized in satisfactory actuarial
balance (categories two through four).

Table 4.3 shows a unified funded status of 130.9% based on an actuarial appraisal value for fixed
assets plus deferred costs of $48.8 million versus the actuarial book value for fixed assets plus
deferred costs of $59.2 million (the corresponding GAAP book value for fixed assets plus deferred
costs is $51.1 million). This places The Village at Brookwood in the AVP actuarial opinion
Category 4. The median unified funded status for CCRCs reviewed by AVP is 114.3%. The unified
funded status for The Village at Brookwood places it in the top quartile (above the 75" percentile)
of CCRCs in our database.

Adtuarial Opinlon

It is our opinion that the financial condition of The Village at Brookwood is in
satisfactory actuarial balance as defined by ASOP#3 and The Village at Brookwood
has earned the AVP exemplary recognition seal, provided that future experience
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substantially follows the underlying assumptions that are contained in this actuarial report.
However, it should be noted that the new entrant pricing reflects and overall negative and
as new residents move into the community the funded status and cash flows will decline
over time,

The key assumptions are:

a) increases in monthly fees will match assumed increases in operating expenses:

b) all residents are able to pay the fees charged without significant subsidies for financial aid;

¢) the ditference between interest earnings/discount rate and revenue/expense inflation (“real
rate-of-return™) is 2.0%;

d) average occupancy in independent living will increase from 146 units occupied (95.4%) as
of September 30, 2020, to 149 units occupied (97.4%) as of September 30, 2021, and level
thereafter. Assisted living and nursing care are assumed to remain constant at current rates;

€} capital expenditures are adequate to maintain the market position of the community; and

f) projected accumulated cash balances are all available for the exclusive benefit of
contractholders and all cash outflows have been reflected in the report to the best of our
knowledge.

AVP believes that the assumptions and projections in this report form a reasonable basis for
evaluating the long-term financial condition of The Village at Brookwood. We also believe that
the methods employed in developing these caloulations are consistent with sound actuarial
principles and practices, Provision has been made for all actuarial liabilitics and related statement
items that ought to be recognized, except no assessment has been made of potential liabilities for
residents’ inability to pay their fees.

In order to monitor the appropriate level of fees required to maintain the long-term financial
solvency of The Village at Brookwood, we recommend that actuarial studies be conducted
regularly. It should be noted that any number of variations from the underlying assumptions may
occur and such variations could have a material impact on the projections and observations contained

herein,

This report is submitted only for use by the management of The Village at Brookwood. Any other
distribution or reference to the report is expressly prohibited.

K GC%‘}'EE. LLG
{4 AL N RAUADORYE S




Mr. Steve Fleming
March 6, 2021
Page ¢

The undersigned credentialed actuary is a member of the American Academy of Actuaries and
meets the Qualification Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the actuarial

opinion contained herein.
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MICHAEL K. HOPPER, CPA ALWYN V. POWELL, ASA, MAAA
FOR: A.V.POWELL & ASSOCIATES LLC




	Final 8.2.22 Disclosure Foreword 2022
	Attachment A-Title Page-Fin. Statements
	MC Audited Financial Statements
	Attachment B-Title Page-5 yr. Forecast
	Copy of 5 year forecast
	Attachment C-Title Page Un-Audited Fin. Statement
	scanned unaudited
	Attachment D-Title Page-LC RS Agreement
	RS Agreement LC 2020
	Attachment E-Title Page-FFS RS Agreement
	RS Agreement FFS 2020
	Attachment F-Title Page-Reservation Agreement
	Reservation Agreement 2019
	Attachment G-Summary of Most Recent Actuarial Report
	Summary of Most Recent Actuarial Report



